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Located on the south coast of 
England, the Trust provides hospital 
services for people with acute health 
problems. It is the local hospital 
for 650,000 people who live in 
Southampton, the New Forest, 
Eastleigh and the Test Valley and is 
relied upon by residents of the Isle of 
Wight for some services.

As the major university hospital 
on the south coast, UHS provides 
the full range of tertiary medical 
and surgical specialties, with the 
exception of transplantation, renal 
services and burns, to more than 
three million people in central 
southern England and the 
Channel Islands.
UHS is a centre of excellence for 
training the doctors and nurses of 
the future and developing treatments 
for tomorrow’s patients. Its role in 

research and education, developed in 
active partnership with the University 
of Southampton distinguish it as a 
hospital that works at the leading 
edge of healthcare developments in 
the NHS and internationally. 

We are a nationally leading 
hospital for research into cancer, 
respiratory disease, nutrition, cardio-
vascular disease, bone and joint 
conditions and complex immune 
system problems.

More than 9,000 people work at 
the Trust making it one of the area’s 
largest employers. With an annual 
budget of almost £600 million 
it plays a significant role in the 
economic prosperity of the region.

Our turnover in 2012/13 was 
£581 million. 

Southampton 
General Hospital

Princess Anne 
Hospital

Countess 
Mountbatten 
House

New Forest 
Birth Centre

University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust (UHS) was formed on 1 
October 2011 when Southampton University 
Hospitals NHS Trust was licensed as a 
foundation trust by the regulator Monitor.
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This has been another important 
year for the Trust as we continue to 
build a world class centre of clinical 
and academic excellence 
in Southampton. 

We are immensely proud that our 
services continue to develop a 
national and international reputation 
for their quality and the outcomes 
they deliver for patients.

High quality care for 
every patient
We want every patient to receive 
care that is safe, effective and 
provided by compassionate staff.

Our ambition to be a world class 
hospital relies on our ability to deliver 
this for every patient, every time so 
we are delighted to be able to report 
on another year of outstanding 
achievement in the area of quality 
improvement. 

We continue to be recognised 
nationally as a high performing 
hospital for infection prevention and 
a number of other measures and 
indicators of patient safety. For a full 
review of the quality of care we have 
delivered this year as well as the 
challenges we face please take the 
time to read our Quality Account for 
2012/13 on page 29. 

Better care through research
Our commitment to research is as 
strong as ever and this benefits our 
patients directly as we improve our 
treatments based on new evidence 
and as they enrol in our extensive 
range of trials as part of their care. 

We encourage and promote this 
in all our specialties as we put 
research and innovation at the heart 
of our business.
 
In 2012 we were proud to win the 
Health Service Journal progressive 
research culture award and in 
2013/14 we have ambitious plans 
to build on our capacity and 
capability to support our emerging 
reputation as a major contributor to 
the national vision for research and 
development in the NHS.

The new NHS
The Trust has been preparing for a 
major change in the NHS landscape 
this year with NHS England and 
its regional offices being put in 
place from 1 April 2013. Clinical 
commissioning groups are rapidly 
developing their role as system-
designers for primary and secondary 
care in their local areas.

The changes introduced mean that 
more than half of our income in 
2013/14 will come directly from 
the specialist commissioners at the 
Wessex Area Team of NHS England. 
We expect that the shift towards 
national and regional commissioning 
and the introduction of minimum 
standards for specialist services will 
drive further centralisation into major 
regional hubs such as ours. 

Demand for urgent care
This year we have met further 
growth in demand for the hospital’s 
emergency services coming primarily 
from our local area. The hospital 
has been on “black alert” for bed 

shortages, our most extreme level of 
alert, an unprecedented number of 
times over the winter of 2012/13. 

The rise in demand puts pressure on 
our resources because we also make 
commitments to patients whose 
treatment has been planned for 
and booked in advance. To address 
this challenge during 2012/13 we 
invested approximately £7 million in 
building more capacity to open more 
than 50 additional beds. 

During 2013/14 we will need to 
increase our efforts even further 
with an additional £8 million being 
invested in opening more than 
80 extra beds. At the same time 
we are working with our health 
and social care partners to enable 
patients to be cared for in the right 
settings and reduce the pressures 
on hospital beds.

Quick access to services
The NHS Constitution gives patients 
the right to receive their care in 
good time and they can expect to 
be treated within 18 weeks of their 
referral to hospital for planned care.  

During 2012/13 we met our 18-
week target for the vast majority of 
our patients. However, the number 
of patients who have already waited 
18 weeks and whose care has still 
not been booked is above the target 
we set. We are tackling this as a 
matter of urgency to return to a 
healthier position with respect to the 
size of our waiting lists. 

Our wait times in the Emergency 
Department have been a challenge 

The road to excellence
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this year, and although 94.3 per 
cent of patients were either 
treated and sent home or 
admitted to the hospital within 
four hours we missed the national 
target to achieve this for 95 per 
cent of patients. We have asked 
for and received support from a 
national NHS team with expertise 
in this area and are working across 
the health system with a range of 
partners on a extensive range of 
actions designed to improve 
the position. 

We are proud to have met all of 
our targets for providing rapid 
access to hospital services for 
patients with cancer. This is a major 
achievement delivered by superbly 
dedicated staff working with these 
patients and is something to 
really celebrate.

Balanced finances
This year we delivered a surplus of 
£6.5 million which is a significant 
achievement given the pressures 
the hospital has been under. It was 
crucial that we delivered this in 
order to invest in our services during 
2013/14 and the years to come. 

You can read more about our 
financial position and see our 
full accounts on page 117 of this 
document. 

Your hospitals
As a relatively new foundation 
trust we are starting to reap the 
benefits of greater local involvement 
through our Council of Governors 
and you can read more about the 
work they have done on page 91. 
We have also benefitted from some 

of the freedoms foundation trusts 
are granted and are developing 
our commercial relationships with 
a number of partners in some 
key areas. This will be essential in 
allowing us to invest further and 
faster in the improvements we want 
to make for our patients.

Finally, we would want to thank 
Southampton Hospital Charity for 
investing more than £2 million 
pounds in enhancing our services 
this year. Other charities have also 
generously supported our work 
and you can read more about their 
tireless efforts to raise much needed 
funds on page 20.

We hope you find this annual report 
informative and look forward to 
continuing on the road to excellence 
in 2013/14.

Mark Hackett, 
Chief Executive
29 May 2013 

John Trewby, 
Chair
29 May 2013 
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Our values

Patients first 

Working together

Fresh thinking  

Our vision, values and objectives

In 2007 we launched our 2020Vision which set out the future strategic 
direction of the Trust. The vision states our aim:

We continue to work towards this vision based around our strategic 
objectives which are:

The NHS Constitution guides us in our relationship with our staff and 
patients and the manner in which we engage them. Much of the work 
we undertake to listen to views and improves services supports the 
delivery of the Constitution.

We have also worked to define our own values which act as a guide to 
the kinds of behaviours we aspire to adopt in every aspect of our work.

Using our strong vision, values and objectives we are creating the 
leadership we need to be a world class clinical academic centre by 2020.
 

To be a world-class centre of clinical and academic achievement, 
where staff work together to ensure patients receive the highest 
standards of care and the best people want to come to learn, 
work and research.

Trusted on 
quality 

we aim to be trusted by staff, 
patients and the public to 
provide high quality services

Delivering for 
taxpayers

we aim to provide the services 
that commissioners want and 
that taxpayers understand and 
can afford

Excellence in 
healthcare

we aim to develop better 
treatment for patients and 
train the healthcare 
professionals of the future
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Substantial changes have been 
made to the way that the general 
surgery is provided at Southampton 
General Hospital over the past year. 
Investment in this area has delivered:

• A new purpose-built 36 bed 
day surgery unit opened in 
September 2012.

• A new Acute Surgery Unit for 
emergency patients – 

 September 2012
• Opening of the South Coast 

Oesophago-gastric unit – 
November 2012

Day of surgery unit
This new £2.9 million unit opened at 
the end of September, ahead of time, 
and under budget, and has been a 
huge success for patients and staff 
alike. Patients are admitted to this 
unit for day-case surgery at UHS, and 
we are using this facility to develop 
several pathways for ultra-short-stay 
surgery. Patients who are having major 
surgery are also admitted to this unit 
on the day of their surgery, and then 
move from theatres to their post 
operative ward. Nurses in this area 
have expertise in the immediate pre- 

and post-operative management of 
patients and provide an environment 
which is very reassuring and safe as 
well as attractive. The furnishings 
are colour coordinated to help flow 
through the unit and we have had a 
lot of positive feedback from patients 
about the quality of care as well as the 
quality of the environment.

Acute surgery unit 
A new 9-bedded unit opened this 
year to receive our emergency general 
surgery patients. We recognise that 
we need to focus expertise on these 
patients and believe they should have 
rapid access to a specialist consultant 
team. Our newly developed specialist 
acute surgery team formed of three 
consultant surgeons, allows review of 
emergency surgery admissions several 
times a day by the consultant. The 
consultant also directly hands over 
from the evening to the night staff, 
enabling continuity of management 
plans. We are one of the first 
hospitals in the UK to have developed 
a separate consultant team to 
manage emergency surgery patients. 

The unit is staffed by nurses and 

health care assistants with specialist 
knowledge and commitment to 
emergency patients, which offers 
reassurance to patients and relatives 
at a worrying time. We have also 
developed daily acute surgery 
clinics which allows us to avoid 
admission to hospital where it is not 
immediately clinically necessary, but 
to keep patients under close review 
with the ability to admit if their 
condition changes. This development 
has allowed other surgical specialists 
more time to care for their patients 
having major cancer surgery and has 
released time for additional specialist 
ward rounds through the weekends 
ensuring daily senior review of our 
surgical inpatients. 

The south coast 
oesophago-gastric unit 
This unit opened on F7 and provides 
the full range of services for patients 
with upper gastrointestinal cancer, 
complex benign conditions and 
those with upper GI emergencies 
(including tertiary referrals). The unit 
has had an exciting year including 
the following achievements: 
• Appointment of a dedicated 

The year in review
The re-organisation of general surgical care
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oesophagogastric dietician
• Completion of a comprehensive 

endoscopic service for the 
diagnosis and treatment of cancer, 
including:
•  Radiofrequency ablation (HALO) 

for Barrett’s oesophagus
• Endoscopic mucosal resection 

for early cancer
• Endoscopic ultrasound for 

cancer staging
• Development of an enhanced 

recovery after oesophageal and 
gastric surgery pathway – EROS
• Standardising pathways of care 

has been shown to reduce 
length of stay, the frequency 
and severity of complications, 
and in-hospital mortality.

• Appointment of Mr Tim 
Underwood as MRC clinician 
scientist, senior lecturer and 
honorary consultant surgeon. The 
research portfolio has developed 
rapidly and highlights include:
• Scientific collaborations with 

researchers in Cambridge, 
London, Adelaide, Melbourne, 
Shanghai and Beijing

• Several peer-reviewed 
publications, including the 
first comparative analysis of 
two-stage minimally invasive 
oesophagectomy versus open 
surgery for cancer in Diseases of 
the Oesophagus.

• Surgical scientific leadership and 
contribution of  approximately 

50% of biological samples to 
the Cancer Research UK funded 
International Cancer Genome 
Consortium project to sequence 
the oesophageal cancer genome. 
This is a world-leading project 
that will define the genetic 
landscape of oesophageal cancer 
and will determine the future 
direction of treatment for this 
disease.  A publication is under 
revision for the New England 
Journal of Medicine.

• Participation by invitation in 
the first China/UK Lung and 
Oesophageal cancer symposium 
hosted by the Chinese Academy 
of Sciences in Beijing in 
December 2012. 

Developing Southampton Children’s Hospital

Between September and December 
2012 we held a series of events to 
promote and discuss our vision for 
Southampton Children’s Hospital 
with groups inside and outside the 
NHS who have an interest in our 
proposals.

The clinical director of the 
Children’s Hospital visited overview 
and scrutiny committees in 
Southampton, Portsmouth and 
Hampshire and a series of briefings 
were held for young people, our 
members and staff.

The Hospital is needed to meet a 
growing demand for the Trust’s 
specialist paediatric services and a  
will transform the environment thst 
children are treated in. 
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The joint collaboration between 
UHS and Oxford University Hospitals 
NHS Trust to develop a South of 
England children’s services network 
continues to progress very well. 
The network currently includes 
cardiac, neurosciences and critical 
care services for children and a 
network board whose membership 
includes senior clinicians and 
managers from both Trusts has 
been formally constituted to 
oversee this exciting development.

Networks are an effective way of 
developing long term solutions and 
ensuring increased standards of 
care and governance by providing a 
collaborative rather than competitive 
foundation. The partnership will also 
provide increased opportunities for 
research into future treatments and 
clinical developments.

Cardiac - A national Safe and 
Sustainable review of paediatric 
services suggested that the number 
of centres undertaking children’s 
heart surgery should be reduced 

from 11 to a smaller number of 
larger specialist centres, each 
carrying out at least 300 operations 
per year in order to ensure quality of 
care. Our partnership in cardiac has 
enabled the number of operations 
carried out in Southampton to 
increase while utilising team 
members and resources across the 
regional network. Patients benefit 
by receiving their care in a specialist 
centre, receiving a multi-disciplinary 
team approach.

Critical Care - The paediatric 
intensive care units in Southampton 
and Oxford have worked together 
to launch a single retrieval service 
for Thames Valley and central 
southern Engand. The service takes 
medical and nursing staff from 
intensive care by ambulance to 
collect children in smaller hospitals 
and bring them back to an intensive 
care unit either in Southampton  
or Oxford. Southampton and 
Oxford Retrieval Team (SORT) was 
implemented in September 2012 
and has enabled the network to 

provide a 24/7 retrieval service 
across a large geographical region. 

Neurosciences - The partnership is 
working collaboratively to provide 
a safe and sustainable paediatric 
neurosciences service which will 
deliver a robust pathway for 
patients with complex conditions 
requiring expert multi-disciplinary 
professional skills. The service will 
enable a balance between the need 
for convenient treatment locations 
for patients and their families, and 
the need for specialist high quality 
surgery. One of the key elements 
to improving this service is that 
there is 24/7 advice and support 
to all children with an urgent 
neurosurgical condition from 
a children’s neurosurgeon.

We believe that forging this 
collaborative partnership will 
provide robust specialist services 
for children, allow continuing 
development and ensure a safe 
and sustainable environment for 
future generations.

Children’s Hospital Partners
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April 2 2012 saw the launch of UHS 
as the major trauma centre for the 
Wessex Trauma Network. Major 
trauma describes the multiple injuries 
that might be seen following a road 
traffic accident, a fall from height, 
riding accidents or less commonly 
following shootings or stabbings. It 
is the commonest cause of death for 
people under 40 years and roughly 
10 per cent of cases involve children. 
There are now 26 major trauma 
centres in England with 17 being 
designated for the care of both adults 
and children. UHS is one of those 
17 centres and covers a catchment 
population of roughly three million, 
from Dorchester in the west to 
Worthing in the east and including 
the Isle of Wight and the Channel 
Islands. The catchment population for 
children is larger as our neighbouring 
trauma centre in Brighton is 
designated for adults only.

Designation of UHS as an MTC along 
with the opening of the new helipad 
has seen an increase in the numbers 
of seriously ill patients being brought 
to Southampton. Over 1000 trauma 
cases have been seen in the first 
year with roughly 60 per cent having 
serious, life-threatening injuries. 
Concentrating such cases in centres 
that can provide all the care required 
24 hours a day, 365 days a year 
should result in better, more timely 
care and improve outcomes. UHS has 
consistently had more survivors of 
major trauma than would have been 
predicted.

The developments required before 
becoming a MTC and over the 
last year have led to significant 
advancements; these are already 
cascading to many other groups of 
patients. We have forged stronger 
links to colleagues in the ambulance 
services and in other hospitals that 

have resulted in better care for patients 
and more timely transfers both in and 
out of UHS. The coordination of care 
from the moment patients arrive at 
UHS has improved. There has been far 
greater senior involvement in the care 
of the sickest patients. The timeliness 
of investigations and definitive 
treatment has improved and there are 
cases that would probably not have 
survived their injuries a few years ago, 
or if they had done so they would not 
have such a good functional outcome.

There are still challenges to face; 
to ensure that the MTC does not 
displace other necessary clinical 
activity, to ensure that patients get 
world class rehabilitation enabling 
them to return to the best possible 
quality of life and also to ensure that 
staff are supported and our care 
is sustainable. The first 12 months 
has been an astounding tribute to 
everyone involved.

Major Trauma Centre
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Trauma Anaesthesia 
The anaesthetic department has had 
two major trauma anaesthetic fellows 
in post since August 2012. They 
have finished their specialist training 
programme and are both highly 
skilled and experienced. They attend 
all major trauma calls between 8am 
and 6pm from Monday to Friday.

There is also a resident consultant 
anaesthetist on site until at least 
9pm to reinforce the immediate 
response to major trauma calls.
 
Consultant Anaesthetists and one of 
the major trauma anaesthetic fellows 
also work regularly on the Hampshire 
and Isle of Wight Air Ambulance 
helicopter providing skilled critical 
care to severely injured and ill 
patients before they reach hospital.
 
Since September 2012 the 

anaesthetic department has hosted 
fortnightly major trauma morbidity 
and mortality meetings when recent 
major trauma cases are reviewed 
in detail by multidisciplinary 
professionals in order to critically 
review whether care can be 
improved. The presentations are 
published on the hospital intranet to 
ensure learning points are publicised 
as widely as possible. 
 
The Trust has funded new state 
of the art videolaryngoscopes  for 
anaesthetists to intubate trauma 
patients with difficult airways as well 
as top of the range rapid infusion 
devices that administer warmed 
fluid and blood products at high 
flow rates to patients in shock. 
The anaesthetic fellows have also 
redesigned the equipment trolleys 
and drug bags in the emergency 
department which has significantly 

improved the way in which 
emergency care can be given to 
patients with major trauma.
 
We have implemented trauma 
teaching programmes for all 
anaesthetists and have been actively 
involved in teaching on various 
trauma courses around the Trust. 
A comprehensive suite of major 
trauma guidelines is in the final 
process of being edited and will be 
published imminently.
 
Anaesthetists have been responsible 
for significant improvements in the 
TARN (trauma audit research network) 
performance criteria in managing 
trauma patients. They have been 
ably assisted by a specialist group 
of operating department assistants 
who have been active in training 
their colleagues and improving their 
emergency care to trauma patients.

Pain Relief in fractured hips, and 
shoulder surgery
We have recently started putting in 
a fascia iliaca catheter (a catheter is 
a small plastic tube through which 
we can infuse local anaesthetic) into 
some of our fractured hip patients. 

This relatively painless and extremely 
safe procedure can significantly 
decrease the pain both before they 
go to theatre and once they have 
had their operation. Dedicated 
consultant regional anaesthetist time 
has increased the number of patients 
able to be offered this pain relief. 

We have also started putting 
catheters around the interscalene 
nerves (nerves in the neck that 
supply the shoulder) so that patients 
having certain shoulder operations 
can benefit from longer lasting 

excellent pain relief. 
These catheters are attached to 
specially designed disposable pumps 
which the patients will be able to 
go home with, so providing them 
with excellent pain relief for the first 
few days after shoulder surgery.  

Dealing with dementia
In September, the Trust embarked 
on a pioneering project to improve 
care and treatment for dementia 
sufferers when they are admitted to 
hospital with a medical condition.
 
This included the development of 
a 28-bed ‘dementia-friendly’ ward 
with brightly coloured doors and 
symbols to help patients remember 
which bays they are staying in and 
plain flooring to help prevent falls.
It also involved the introduction of 

the UK’s first hospital-based Admiral 
nurse specialist, Jeni Bell, to shadow 
clinical staff and oversee a training 
programme to enable them to 
better understand patients’ body 
language and how to handle those 
who do not interact verbally.
 
Until the creation of the role, 
mental health nurses who specialise 
in dementia care, known as Admiral 
nurses, were based solely in 
community nursing teams.
 
Within eight months, Ms Bell has 
trained more than 250 clinical staff 
in dementia skills and awareness 
and launched weekly carers’ cafes 
to allow family members and 
care workers to meet and share 
experiences. She has now been joined 
by Adam Smith, the UK’s second 
hospital-based Admiral nurse.

Some highlights of our clinical services
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Clinical Haematology Team
Clinical Haematology includes 
Haematological Oncology, Blood 
and Marrow Transplantation (BMT), 
Haemostasis & Thrombosis, General 
Haematology and Transfusion. 
The Clinical Haematology Team 
provide a tertiary service to patients 
in Hampshire, Dorset, Channel Islands 
and parts of Wiltshire and West 
Sussex as well as a local service to 
UHS and primary care in Southampton 
and South West Hampshire. 2012 was 
the busiest year yet in BMT with 119 
transplants performed, 71 autologous 
and 48 allogeneic. 

Survival rates remain amongst the 
best in the country.

We have introduced home 
administration of intravenous 
chemotherapy and implemented 
home delivery of oral chemotherapy 
drugs with considerable financial 
savings to the PCT whilst enabling 
telephone clinics to be introduced for 
oral chemotherapy, improving patient 
experience and reducing cost. 

We have had a major expansion in 

Haematological Oncology clinical 
trials with clinical trial recruitment 
almost doubling during 2012 and 
the successful addition of commercial 
clinical trials to the portfolio, thereby 
improving access to the newest 
agents. 

In General Haematology we have 
undertaken the ARTAG pilot to avoid 
unnecessary face to face consultations 
and reduced Length of Stay by 
switching inpatient to day case 
treatments where possible. 

During 2013 we will be opening our 
new purpose build Haematology Day 
Care Unit.

Urology Team
Urology is a team of 9 consultants 
providing a consultant delivered 
service with the consultant of the 
week ensuring continuity of care for 7 
days at a time.

Our patients have the best 5 year 
survival in England at 99.6% (2001-
5 figures, source NCIN Urological 
Cancer Hub (http://www.ncin.org.

uk/profiles/cn_profiles/atlas.html) for 
testicular cancer
 
The national Retroperitoneal lymph 
node dissection audit was developed 
and written by Southampton team. 
19 surgeons in 17 UK centres have 
entered 170 cases and we feel 
we have the most comprehensive 
national study ever performed 
for this operation. The report will 
be published by BAUS Section of 
Oncology.
 
We have developed laparoscopic 
renal (kidney keyhole surgery) surgery 
over the last 5 years. Laparoscopic 
nephrectomy, partial nephrectomy 
and adrenalectomy is now the routine. 
With the interventional radiology  
team, the Southampton team have 
the third largest series in the world of 
percutaneous renal cryoablation for 
small tumours.

This means that over 75% of kidney 
tumours are treated by minimally 
invasive methods in Southampton 
despite also being the regional unit 
for the largest tumours invading the 
major blood vessel. 
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The Southampton urology 
department has a comprehensive 
regional tertiary Andrology and 
genito-urethral surgery service. 
This provides a service for the 
management of urethral strictures, 
male incontinence, male infertility, 
erectile dysfunction and Peyronie’s 
disease for Hampshire, Dorset and 
neighbouring areas. 

There are close links and 
cooperative working between the 
unit and the penile cancer centre 
at St George’s, as well as the Plastic 
surgery unit at Salisbury and 
Wessex Fertility Unit. We are the 
only centre on the south coast 
offering micro dissection-TESE 
surgical sperm retrieval for poor 
prognosis male infertility. 

Over 100 new patients per year 
with Peyronie’s disease are seen, 
as well as men with severe erectile 
dysfunction requiring penile 
prostheses. The centre is in the top 
10 for numbers of urethroplasty 
and Peyronie’s disease surgery 
in the UK, and is a pilot site for 
the upcoming national HTA trial 
‘OPEN’ - comparing urethroplasty to 
urethrotomy for urethral strictures.  

A new CTKUB pathway for renal 
colic has shortened the length of 
stay by 0.5 day for patients with 
kidney stones. The stone free rate 
post ureteroscopy is 94% with over 
70% performed as a day case.

The Southampton team have been 
at the forefront of the enhanced 
recovery process for bladder 
cystectomy and consistently are 
among the best in the UK. We have 
been invited to the Royal College of 
Surgeons to present our results and 
pathways to the national meeting. 
Our average length of stay has fallen 
from 14 days to 10days and the 
patient experience has also improved.

We have performed the first 
prostate embolisation for benign 
prostatic hypertrophy in the UK 
and we are undertaking a pilot 
international study into this non 
invasive technique for men with an 
enlarged prostate.

Hepatobiliary and 
pancreatic surgery
In Southampton we provide the 
regional service (Hampshire, Dorset, 
Isle of Wight and Channel Islands) for 
patients with hepatobiliary disease. 

The majority of our time is 
dedicated to treating cancer of the 
pancreas and liver and we perform 
approximately 250 operations per 
year. We work very closely with 
a team of medical hepatologists, 
pancreatologists, oncologists 
and radiologists to provide 
comprehensive, multidisciplinary 
care that is tailored to the needs of 
each particular patient. 

We take a national lead on 
performing laparoscopic liver surgery 
and educate surgeons from Britain 
and Europe in the latest techniques. 
We are also at the forefront of 
enhanced recovery programmes 
after major pancreatic surgery and 
have already seen a drop in the 
length of postoperative stay. 
Because this team works in a busy, 
academic environment, we have a 
great depth of experience in this field 
and we our proud of our track record 
in managing difficult surgical cases. 
We also have a team dedicated to 
the management of neuroendocrine 
(carcinoid) tumours, which receives 
referrals from all over the UK.

Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery
The Oral and Maxillofacial unit 
continues to develop and expand 
services to the local and regional 

population. Agreement has been 
reached with our partners in 
Salisbury District hospital to increase 
the centralisation of head and neck 
cancer surgery, whilst at the same 
time this cooperation will improve 
the access of Southampton area 
patients to specialist reconstruction 
following major cancer surgery.

The sentinel node Melanoma service 
for Head and Neck patients is now 
well established and leads the way 
locally in the provision of this aspect 
of care, providing support to local 
colleagues in the region and the 
Channel Islands.

Head and Neck laser cancer 
surgery has been routine for 
many years and has recently been 
expanded utilising the Steiner 
preservative techniques introduced 
to Southampton by our ENT 
colleagues. This is suggestive of 
promising early results of reduced 
post-operative pain and early 
discharge following surgery.

A Facial nerve reanimation team has 
been set up to offer patients hope 
of improved facial form and function 
following previous trauma or surgery 
to remove brain and salivary tumours.
The trust has supported our vision 
with the recent appointment of  
new consultant and staff grade 
surgeons and a specialist theatre 
assistant practitioner. Business 
cases have been developed and 
submitted for further additions to 
the consultant surgical staff and 
also the long awaited appointment 
of a Restorative Dental consultant 
to further improve oral and facial 
rehabilitation after major trauma 
and cancer surgery.

Cardiac Anaesthesia 
and Intensive Care
The cardiac anaesthetic team 
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provide approximately 2000 
anaesthetics each year for a wide 
range of paediatric and adult 
cardiac surgical procedures. 

When assessed by the Safe and 
Sustainable Review, our paediatric 
service scored second highest in 
the country. 

Our adult cardiac surgical outcomes 
as assessed by the SCTS Database 
gave us a risk adjusted mortality 
rate of 1.76%, which is the best 
outcome of all cardiac centres in
the UK.  

We are constantly striving to 
improve quality of care, with 
recent innovations including the 
introduction of cerebral oximetry 
monitoring and the trial of a clinical 
information system. Our cardiac 
intensivist led 16-bedded cardiac 
ICU has been assessed by the 
National Cardiac Benchmarking 
Collaborative and they highlighted 
among other things our efficient 
use of resources, our high quality, 
our low re- admission rate within 
48 hours (1.4%) and that we had 
no new MRSA bacteraemias 
in > 4 years.  

We contribute to several multi-
centre research trials (ERICCA, 
ABLE, REPLACE) and have one of 
the highest recruitment of patients 
into them.

The team of neuroanaesthetists 
play a vital role in providing care 
for patients requiring elective and 
emergency neurosurgery.  Our 
catchment population is close to 3 
million covering Hampshire, Dorset, 
Isle of Wight and the Channel 
Islands. In addition we continue to 
support areas out of region when 
clinical urgency is a priority, but 
local capacity is a problem. 

Recent advances supported by 
neuroanaesthesia include:

• Titrating ‘conscious sedation’ 
to allow awake craniotomy 
with intra-operative testing for 
eloquent brain surgery.  This is a 
specific technique with excellent 
patient satisfaction results.  

• Completing the first day-case 
awake craniotomy in the UK 

• Undertaking the largest day case 
brain tumour practice in UK

• Working with our interventional 
radiology colleagues to facilitate 
time critical intra-arterial 
thrombectomy under general 
anaesthesia for acute stroke.  

• Providing safe anaesthesia for 
decompressive craniectomy 
in trauma and inflammatory 
neurological disease in patients 
with critically raised intracranial 
pressure

• Supporting recent advances in 
endoscopic pituitary and skull 
base surgery

• Implanting spinal cord stimulators 
for chronic pain and baclofen 
pumps for spasticity following 
trauma or associated neurological 
disease

• Provision of general anaesthesia 
that allows neurological 
monitoring and thus 
preservation of the facial nerve in 
schwannoma surgery

• Provision of target controlled 
intravenous anaesthesia that 
facilitates sensory and motor 
evoked potential monitoring for 
intramedullary spinal cord surgery.

Neurosciences Intensive 
Care unit
The neuro ICU is one of the largest 
of the 25 neuro ICUs in England. 
It has 13 critical care beds that 
are used flexibly to admit all 
appropriate neurological, 

neurosurgical, and spinal cord injury 
patients. Since UHS was designated 
a major trauma centre, there has 
been an increase in the number 
and speed of admission of complex 
trauma patients. 

At the same time, there has been 
an increase in the number of 
patients admitted with stroke due 
to the availability of thrombolysis, 
clot retrieval and the ability to 
perform decompressive craniectomy 
on appropriate patients. 

The requirement to treat an 
increasing number and variety of 
neurological conditions with plasma 
exchange has seen a tripling in the 
cases managed in the last year. 

There has been increasing 
recognition that decompressive 
craniectomy can be used as a life 
saving procedure for patients with 
some forms of inflammation or 
infection of the brain (e.g. Acute 
Disseminated Encephalomyelitis and 
subdural empyema). Two such cases 
have recently been performed with 
successful outcome.

At the same time, neuro ICU 
continues to recruit patients 
successfully into several national 
research trials, remaining the third 
highest centre for the RESCUEicp 
trial, and presents regular audits 
both locally and nationally. 
The unit retains exemplar status 
for infection control and has an 
effective multidisciplinary approach 
to the management of spinal cord 
injury. The neuro ICU employs 
medical technicians that have been 
trained to a high level to perform 
complex procedures safely and 
support the efficient running of 
the unit. 



University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2012/13

19

The trust has continued to invest 
in a strategy for information 
technology and working towards 
a paperless environment. Many of 
our clinics are now run in a paper-
light way without casenotes, and 
we have introduced self-check-in 
for patients in outpatients alongside 
this. Within the electronic patient 
record programme the year saw the 
full roll out of electronic prescribing 
in all adult areas. Paediatrics and 
maternity are scheduled for the 
coming year as their specialist 
requirements are dealt with. 

Doctors now have access to a 
complete patient list management 
and patient handover platform 
called the doctor’s worklist. This is a 
step towards clinical documentation 
being collected electronically in 
the future, as well as access to all 
data about a patient within a single 
sign-in. 

During 2012 we have also 
introduced a patient on line 
programme called My health record 
that uses the Microsoft HealthVault 
platform. We intend to grow 

this throughout 2013/14 from 
small patient groups into general 
hospital access functions such as 
outpatients. 

Through the year UHS will introduce 
a new digital imaging system that 
is capable of exchanging X-Rays 
across sites that we connect 
with. We also will look to invest 
in new technology for scanning 
documents, increasing the paper 
light working, and better IT for 
intensive care areas, subject to 
business case approval.

Developments in information technology
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This year the Trust was able to 
begin work on a brand new 
purpose built day unit for 
haematology patients thanks to 
the success of Southampton 
Hospital Charity’s Red and White 
appeal. This is the first time the 
charity has raised capital on this 
scale and marks an important 
moment in its development.

The Trust is immensely grateful to 
the Teenage Cancer Trust which 
has raised £1.8 million to allow a 
teenage cancer ward to be built 
in Southampton General Hospital 
transforming the experience of our 
young patients undergoing 
cancer treatment.

A house for the families of children 
receiving hospital treatment is being 
built on the site of Southampton 
General Hospital thanks to the 
support of Ronald McDonald House 
Charities. The house will be a lifeline 
for hundreds of families every year 
some of whom travel extensive 
distances with their children to 
receive treatment in Southampton.

Building on your gift 
a new blood cancer unit from voluntary donations

£1.5 million was raised over 
four years thanks to the 
generous efforts of volunteers 
including the chairman of the 
appeal Richard Brazier.

Due to open 

autumn 2013

£6.1 million 
capital investment plus £500,000 
running costs generously donated 
by the charity

A huge thank you to our donors 
and volunteers!

Building work begins on the new haematology day centre
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In 2012 our progress in placing 
research at the heart of all we do 
was recognised when UHS took the 
Health Service Journal progressive 
research culture award 2012. This 
award complimented a second 
successive PharmaTimes research 
site of the year award for our NIHR 
Wellcome Trust Clinical Research 
Facility teams, underscoring 
Southampton’s continued 
emergence as a leading clinical 
academic centre.

Supporting this progression we 
introduced new research categories 
within the trust’s Hospital Heroes 
annual staff awards, a dedicated 
clinical research website and 
programmes of public engagement 
with clinical research, fostering 
awareness and involvement 
amongst trust staff, our patients 
and communities.

Strengthened work 
with industry
Over 2012 we developed our 
commercial and partnership 
research activities with the 
pharmaceutical and medical 
technology sectors. 

Strategic partnering with key 
companies has enabled us to align 
our strengths with commercial 
partners’ drug development 
programmes, develop a hub and 
spoke model for regional studies 
and secure co-investment in 
facilities and staff.

Major new tools for research
Supporting our research and 
collaboration with industry, we 
initiated construction and fit-
out of a new quality-assured 
microbiological, genetic and 

immunological research analysis 
facility; the Wessex Investigational 
Science Hub (WISH). Providing 
comprehensive analysis of samples 
for research studies, WISH services 
will enable rich and complex 
understanding of disease biology 
and treatment effects, and is due to 
open in the second half of 2013.

Fighting cancer on many fronts
An anonymous donation of 
£10m to our strategic partners 
the University of Southampton 
to further clinical research into 
immune-based cancer therapy 
underscored our joint leadership in 
this field. 

New ways of administering 
immunotherapeutics brought real 
benefit to Southampton patients, 
replacing six-hour infusions with 

The leading edge – 
our research and innovation
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a five minute injection, whilst 
new cancer vaccines developed 
in Southampton began trials in 
prostate, breast and bowel cancer. 
Revolutionary approaches in 
targeting radio- and chemotherapy 
only to affected areas also entered 
Southampton clinics in 2012, 
including embedding of radioactive 
pellets in prostate cancer, 
temporary isolation and bathing 
the liver in chemotherapeutic 
drugs, and use of 3D imaging to 
pinpoint radiotherapy. 

Setting UK standards in 
nutritional care
The NIHR Southampton 
Biomedical Research Centre 
continues our national leadership 
in defining and implementing best 
nutritional practice.

Prof Marinos Elia chaired 
development and publication of 
National Institute for Health and 
Clinical Excellence (NICE) quality 
standards in nutritional support, 
which provide standardised 
professional guidance for clinicians 
and primary care in diagnosing and 
addressing malnutrition. 

Building on long running 
development of malnutrition 
diagnosis standards and tools by Prof 
Elia and the centre, this work stands 
alongside the work of consultant 
Dr Alison Leaf in improving life 
chances and development for pre-
term babies through establishment 
of national standards for neonatal 
nutritional care.

Helping children fight 
influenza and allergies
Trial of a new four-strain flu vaccine 
and further pioneering work in 
understanding and managing 
allergic respiratory disease were 
amongst the last year’s respiratory 
research highlights. 

Led by Dr Saul Faust, director of 
our NIHR Wellcome Trust Clinical 
Research Facility, Southampton 
successfully trialled a new four-part 
vaccine offering broader protection 
for children, ahead of initiation of 
the national influenza vaccination 
programme for children in 2014. 

Prof Hasan Arshad’s long-term 
work on allergies with Hampshire 
families yielded several new insights, 

including mother-to-daughter and 
father-to-son links in inherited 
allergy risk and new evidence on the 
effectiveness of controlling dust mite 
exposure in the first year of life.

Better joint replacement 
technologies
The Southampton Orthopaedics 
Centre for Arthroplasty and Revision 
Surgery launched to industry in 
2012, drawing together our leading 
joint replacement and revision 
service with the University of 
Southampton’s national bearing and 
corrosion research centre. 

Led by consultant surgeon Jeremy 
Latham, SOCARS provides a 
comprehensive revision and long-
term follow-up service, linking 
clinical measures with detailed 
analysis of joint retrievals to 
understand and address failures in 
partnership with industry.
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The Trust has a fully integrated 
training and development 
department that supports all staff 
groups at the Trust. During 2012/13 
the team were focussed on a series 
of work streams based on the 
objectives listed below.

Embracing innovative, yet 
realistic, approaches to maximise 
the benefits of education and 
information technology
This year we created a virtual 
learning environment to support the 
delivery of training outside of the 
traditional classroom-based model.

Embedding education priorities 
in service development
This year we completed a training 
needs analysis for all staff groups 
across the Trust linked to clinical 
service priorities. We have also 
started work to identify training 
priorities during the appraisal 
process and have begun to establish 
a mechanism for building training 
needs into business cases for new 
service developments.

A new coaching and mentoring 
strategy, Purposeful Conversations, 
identifies how we will develop 
greater capability in both of these 

Training and development

The Clinical 
Academy

Our academy provides leadership 
and management training for 
clinical staff who work on a 
specific project they want to 
deliver as part of their training.

This year a project to minimise 
ambulances queuing at the 
Emergency Department was 
delivered successfully by an 
Academy participant.
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training methodologies. Our strategy 
includes integrating coaching 
sessions with other types of training. 

More than 30 new mentors 
were trained in 2012-13, and a 
consultation process has started 
to identify ways to increase the 
contribution of our trained coaches 
and develop their capabilities further.  
All of the training we deliver is 
reviewed for its impact on the 
quality of clinical services and an 
annual impact report is now being 
produced to demonstrate this. 

Developing an education and 
workforce strategy
During 2012/13 advanced nurse 
practitioners and associate 
practitioners have been introduced 
across a number of specialities 
linked to a reduction in medical 
posts and improvements in patient 
care. To support this a matron 
was appointed to work across the 
organisation identifying priorities 
for advanced nurse practitioners, 
developing their educational 
pathway and allocating funds which 
were awarded to the Trust by the 
regional NHS in 2011/12. More than 
thirty nursing staff have concluded 
or have been accelerated on their 
advanced nurse practitioner MSc 
pathway and are now providing 
a service to patients along side 
medical staff. Their advanced skills 
include becoming fully accredited 
independent nurse prescribers. 

In January 2012, a cohort of 17 
band 2 – 4 staff commenced on 
the Foundation Degree in Health 
and Social Care which has been 
jointly developed by UHSFT and 
Southampton Solent University. 
There has been a great deal of 
interest in the Foundation Degree 
and it has expanded to cover 

most of the surrounding health 
care organisations. To support 
the ongoing development of the 
programme and the candidates, 
an impact evaluation has been 
developed which has been 
forwarded to managers at the start, 
middle and end of the programme. 
This will demonstrate the impact 
of the programme from a clinical 
practice perspective.

Building profitable and 
productive partnerships 
promoting the UHS educational 
brand for excellence
This year we have seen an increase 
in the amount of sub-contracting 
we undertake with external 
education providers including 
Skills for Health and Southampton 
City College. In the area of 
apprenticeships this enables us 
to access national funding which 
means we can offer more courses 
to staff without increasing costs 
to the Trust.

During 2012/13 we have shown 
that we can reduce the cost of 
some further- and higher-education 
courses through collaborative 
commissioning with other 
healthcare providers. For example, 
Southern Health NHS FT runs a 
study skills course ‘Bridge the Gap’ 
which helps to prepare staff to 
move from apprenticeship, NVQ 
and QCF programmes onto higher 
education courses. This is now 
being available to our staff and can 
be paid for using the NHS r
egional funding.

We continue to develop links with 
other training providers including 
higher- and further-education 
organisations and we now work 
with Eastleigh College to deliver 
numeracy and literacy training for 

our staff. These skills are not a 
requirement in the apprenticeship 
programmes we offer but we know 
there is a need for some of our 
staff to improve in this area. Our 
agreement with Eastleigh College  
is to deliver training in both a 
classroom setting and on a one-to-
one basis on site at UHS. Eastleigh 
College is also delivering a new call 
centre apprenticeship course for the 
Patient Services Centre.

Assuring education quality 
and value for money / cost 
effectiveness 
Continually evaluating the 
effectiveness of our training 
and development has been a 
major focus and this year we 
have developed our methods for 
achieving this. 

Our course evaluation process is 
now far more robust in assessing 
the impact of a training intervention 
on patient care. We are asking all 
course participants and their line 
managers to assess the effectiveness 
of our training and this enables us 
to give our courses a red, amber or 
green rating which we can use to 
identify improvement priorities for 
the training we provide. 

Peer-based observation of training 
has also been introduced allowing 
our training providers to learn from 
and advice their colleagues in a 
wide variety of training settings.   
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Our people strategy launched in 2011 
aims to make us a great place to 
work where patients are at the heart 
of what we do. We believe that our 
staff are our biggest asset and will 
help us in achieving this aspiration. 

The strategy sets out four strategic 
objectives to create a vision for our 
future workforce:

• Increase levels of employee well-
being and engagement

• Building a high performing culture
• Maximise cost savings and 

efficiencies
• Create an employer brand where 

UHS is recognised as a great 
place to work

Accountability for improving 
staff experience and achieving 
our objectives is through the 
performance management 
framework, including metrics from 
the staff attitude survey to capture 
feedback and drive improvement in 
staff experience at work.

Engaging and 
involving our staff

Staff partnership forums
Staff partnership forums are held at 
both divisional and Trust level where 
managers, staff and trade union 
representatives discuss the local 
impact of Trust-wide initiatives, local 
developments, resources, service 
changes and more.

Trust-wide staff 
partnership forum 
The Trust-wide staff partnership 

forum meets on the first Wednesday 
of each month. HR and the Joint 
Staff Side Committee run the forum, 
with the director of HR, deputy 
directors of HR, lead stewards and 
Joint Staff Side chairman alternating 
as chair of the meeting. 

The meetings cover a wide range 
of topics, from waste collections to 
the management of the Trust. The 
forum is attended by the divisional 
HR business partners, care group 
managers, one of the executive 
directors and communications. 

As well as updates from 
Communications, Finance, Health 
and Safety and Estates and facilities 
there is also consultation on issues 
raised through the Joint Staff Side 
Committee. 

There are also several sub-groups 
that meet, including policy, 
pandemic flu, Agenda for Change 
and workplace learning. 

Divisional Staff 
Partnership Forums
The Divisional Staff Partnership 
Forums are led by the Divisional 
Director of Operations, and are 
supported by the divisional team. 

The groups meet at least bi-monthly 
and include an update on the 
division’s performance, changes to 
the service and financial position, 
as well as feeding back information 
from core brief, any health and 
safety issues and relevant HR 
information. It is also a chance for 
the division to hear feedback from 
staff on the issues that affect them 
and their teams. 

Working in partnership with our 
Trade Unions and Professional 
Organisations 

UHS, Trade Unions and Professional 
Organisations share a commitment 
to working in partnership to 
ensure that our common long-term 
objective is ensuring the success 
of the Trust for the benefit of 
our patients, employees and the 
community we serve.
Two main committees exist for the 
purpose of communication and 
information exchange between 
management side and trade 
unions. The Local Consultation and 
Negotiation Committee (LCNC) 
represents the medical workforce 
and the Staff Partnership Forum 
(SPF) represents all other staff 
groups. Both groups meet monthly.

Health and well-being forum
The Health and well-being working 
group meets each month to 
develop services that are crucial 
to staff health and well-being and 
makes sure that the Trust is doing 
everything that it should to support 
this. This includes: 

• assessing the main risks to health 
and well-being faced by staff 

• providing the right kind of health 
and well-being services for staff 
and making sure staff have equal 
access to them 

• helping managers to see the 
connection between good staff 
health and well-being and top-
quality clinical outcomes 

• ensuring that managers are 
implementing national guidance 
on promoting good health 

• monitoring how health and well-

Our people
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being is covered in management 
training 

• providing help for managers to 
support staff with mental health 
problems 

• ensuring that staff health and 
well-being is always considered 
as part of governance and quality 
monitoring. 

Staff Survey 2012
The Mid Staffordshire NHS 
Foundation Trust Public Inquiry 
illustrated how the culture of the 
NHS and in every Trust is critical 
to being able to deliver safe and 
compassionate care. One of Trust 
values, Patients First, mirrors the 
Government’s response “Patients 
First and Foremost.” The national 
staff survey takes a temperature 
test on how well we are performing 
culturally and also will link with the 
new Family and Friends Test.

The national staff survey takes place 
annually and the results enable 
us to compare our performance 
with that of other NHS Trusts. The 
Department of Health, the CQC 
and other external stakeholders use 
our staff survey results to monitor 
our performance. The survey results 
are important because they enable 
us to focus on the areas where our 

staff report there are issues and by 
doing this we can improve overall 
staff engagement and experience.

Divisions are responsible for briefing 
staff and a combination of Trust-
wide and local action plans are 
developed to deliver improvements. 
Trust-wide the Staff Partnership 
Forum, LCNC and Staff Experience 
group of the Members Council are 
consulted on the results.

57 per cent of surveys were 
returned, a response rate which is 
in the highest 20 per cent of acute 
Trusts .
An overall score is awarded to each 
organisation for staff engagement. 
This year’s staff engagement score 
for UHS is above average. 
This is the same level as the 2010 
and 2011 staff survey and an 
excellent result. 

The Trust is ranked above average 
or in the top 20 per cent of acute 
Trusts nationally for; 
• receiving job-relevant training, 

learning or development in last 
12 months, 

• staff being appraised in the last 
12 months, 

• Staff able to contribute towards 
improvements at work

• Staff believing the Trust provides 

equal opportunities for career 
progression or promotion

We need to improve where the 
Trust is ranked in the poorest 20% 
of acute Trusts nationally for; 
• Staff feeling satisfied with the 

quality of work and patient care 
they are able to deliver 

• work pressure felt by staff,
• Staff saying hand washing 

materials are always available 
• staff working extra hours
• Staff motivation at work

A Trust wide action plan is currently 
being prepared. The action plan will 
aim for us to be in the top 20% of 
NHS Employers. We will  focus on 
improving the five areas where the 
Trust is ranked below average or 
in the lowest 20% of acute Trusts 
nationally. 

During 2011/12 there was a 
significantly higher score (than 
either the previous or following 
year) for the percentage of staff 
feeling satisfied with the quality of 
patient care they are able to deliver. 
It is not clear why this was the case 
but it reflects a swing in the score 
for this question nationally and we 
have remained broady comparable 
with other Trusts for this question 
during 2012/13.



27

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2012/13

Objective Key Performance 
Indicators

2009/10 
Baseline

2010/11
Actual

2011/12
Actual

2012/13
Actual

2013/14
National 
Results Acute 
Average 

Increase levels of 
employee well-being 
and engagement 

Staff Attitude Survey 
result for Staff 
Engagement score

Average Above 
Average

Above 
Average

Above 
Average

Top 20%

Staff Attitude Survey 
% of completed 
questionnaires sent

55% 54% 61% 57% Top 20%

Building a high 
performing culture 

Staff appraised 
with PDP in last 12 
months

62% 69% 65% 74% 71%

% receiving job 
relevant training, 
learning or 
development in the 
last 12 months

81% 76% 78% 85% Top 20%

Create an employer 
brand where UHSFT 
is recognised as a 
great place to work

% proud to work 
here 

44% 50% 53% 57% From local 
survey

% of staff happy for 
us to provide care to 
a relative or friend – 
Friends & Family Test 
q12d

62% 68% 67% 67% 60%

% of staff who 
would recommend 
the Trust as a place 
to work

54% 59% 56% 64% 55%

% feeling satisfied 
with the quality and 
patient care they are 
able to deliver 

72% 73% 89% 71% 73%

KPIs within the Trust’s People Strategy



28

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2012/13

Equality and diversity
The Trust recognises that equality 
is about treating individuals fairly, 
promoting equality and eliminating 
all forms of discrimination and 
harassment. 

We understand that diversity is 
about recognising and valuing 
differences for the benefit of 
relationships between the Trust, 
patients, staff, volunteers and the 
public. It is about treating everyone 
with dignity and respect. 

UHS values equality and is committed 
to tackling and eradicating 
discrimination in the widest sense. 
We operate a zero tolerance 
approach to all forms of harassment, 
discrimination and intimidation.

As a public sector organisation we 
are required to meet the Public 
Sector Equality Duty and show our 
compliance with the Equality Act 
(2010). We do this through the 
implementation of the Equality 
Delivery System (EDS).

In January 2013 we undertook 
our first annual review of our self 
assessment and grading against the 
EDS goals and objectives. Although 
the overall grading had not changed 
since January 2012, significant 
progress had been made towards 
achieving our objectives. We are 
continuing to work in partnership 
with our stakeholders and local 
interest groups in order to gather 
feed back on our services to help us 

undertake our EDS assessments.    
The grading review and objectives 
are published on the Trust web site 
and can be accessed via the equality 
and diversity pages.

Governance for equality 
and diversity
We recognise that responsibility 
for ensuring an all inclusive 
culture begins at the top of the 
organisation with the Trust Board 
holding corporate accountability 
for ensuring the appropriate 
governance of equality and diversity 
within the Trust. 

We have recently agreed a new 
governance structure for equality 
and diversity which we believe, 
through the creation of an executive 
equality committee, will provide a 
strategic oversight on the equality 
agenda and provide improved 
assurance to Trust Board on 
progress against our EDS objectives.

BME Conference 2012
In September 2012 we held our 
2nd annual equality conference 
for black and minority ethnic 
staff. This included presentations 
from the director of nursing and 
organisational development, the 
chairs of the local and national BME 
network groups and some excellent 
external speakers discussing topics 
such as the history of white people 
and unconscious bias. The keynote 
address was given by Garth Crooks.  

The day was evaluated extremely 
well by those that attended and 
ideas generated from the conference 
have led to the development 
and implementation of a BME 
action learning set with the aim 
of encouraging our BME staff to 
enhance their key leadership skills 
and potential around influencing, 
coaching and engaging others. 

Support for staff with a disability 
Our recruitment policy sets out our 
commitment to supporting disabled 
applicants for vacancies available at 
the Trust. Disabled persons who meet 
the essential, measurable criteria for 
a post must always be shortlisted. 
Further specific, written reasons for 
not shortlisting any applicant with a 
disability are required and the same 
evidence is necessary for candidates 
with a disability who have been 
shortlisted but not appointed.

Disabled applicants cannot be 
discriminated against because of their 
disability. Disability is not a reason 
to turn down an otherwise suitable 
applicant. Purposeful discussion 
about meeting the needs of the job 
and any adaptations, which might 
be necessary, must take place with 
applicants with disabilities, with the 
aim of overcoming any obstacles in 
their employment.

Staff Absence
Staff absence during the year was 
as follows:

 Year ended 31 March 2013
Number

Year ended 31 March 2012

Number

Total days Lost 62,033 55,375

Total staff years 7,320 7,250

Average working days Lost 9 8

Total staff employed In period (headcount) 7,472 7,310

Total staff employed in period with no absence (headcount) 2,734 2,575

Percentage staff with no sick leave 37% 35%
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Every patient should expect to 
receive high quality care in our 
hospitals. 

Providing the most effective 
treatments, developing staff who 
are kind and respectful and keeping 
our services as safe as they can be 
are aspects of quality that we strive 
to improve year on year. 

We are a busy hospital and provide 
care for the sickest patients in our 
region. Yet despite the fact that 
demand for our services is growing 
faster than our resources, our 
priority is to ensure that the quality 
of  the care we provide is never 
compromised by the need to work 
more efficiently.  

During 2012/13 more than half 
a million patients chose our Trust 
for their treatment and we are 
proud to report that in this time 
period, we achieved some notable 
improvements in the quality of care 
we provided including:

• Over 96% of all patients rating 
our care as good, very good or 
excellent

• Using the national Safety 
thermometer audit tool over 
95% of our patients experienced 
new-harm free care across a 
range of measures.

• Mortality rates in the 
 expected range
• A level 3 (the highest level) risk 

management standard rating 
for general acute services for 
our insurers (the NHS Litigation 
Authority) and

• A level 2 risk management 

standard rating for maternity 
services for our insurers, and 
aiming for Level 3 in our 
reassessment in September 2013

• Our lowest rates of CDifficile 
infection, and achievement of 
our MRSA improvement target

• We are in the top 20% nationally 
for staff satisfaction at work

The Care Quality Commission 
undertook a responsive review of 
compliance at our Southampton 
General Hospital site in October 
2012. They reported that patients 
and relatives were overwhelmingly 
positive about the staff and the 
care they had received. A small 
number of specific issues were 
observed, which we are addressing 
thoroughly, and this useful feedback 
has been included in our decisions 
about priorities for the coming year.

In December 2012, the Care 
Quality Commission also inspected 
the Princess Anne Hospital (PAH) 
and reported that mothers and 
partners were also very positive 
about the care they received and 
their consultation and involvement 
in decision making, with full 
compliance for the essential 
standards assessed. 

The Trust fully supports the 
findings of the public inquiry into 
events at Mid Staffordshire NHS 
Foundation Trust (the Francis 
Inquiry) and the Department of 
Health’s response ‘Patients First 
and Foremost’ the Trust. Many 
of the relevant recommendations 
are already firmly embedded in 
our practice. We understand that 

excellent patient experience, staff 
experience and clinical outcomes 
are inextricably connected and we 
work hard to ensure that we listen 
and take action to improve, at every 
opportunity.   

This report provides detailed 
information about the quality of 
care we provided during the year 
and how this compares with what 
we wanted to achieve and how 
other hospitals are doing. It also 
sets out our goals for next year and 
describes how we have worked 
with patients and staff to decide 
what these should be. 

We have worked closely with our 
local partners in commissioning 
and primary care with many joint 
approaches to safe care, the 
avoidance of admission to hospital 
and supporting earlier discharge.  
We look forward to continuing to 
develop this approach further 
in 2013/14. 

I am grateful to all of you who have 
been involved in developing this 
document with us and I believe it 
will enable us to continue delivering 
the year on year improvement in 
quality we would expect to see in 
a world class hospital. 

To the best of my knowledge the 
information in this document 
is accurate

Mark Hackett
CEO
29 May 2013

Introduction

High quality care for our patients
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The graph below indicates the 
increase in demand for our services 
which has now been sustained over 
a three year period. This is reflected 
for inpatients (which includes those 
whose care does not require an 

overnight stay), outpatients and 
overall numbers. In summary, we 
have seen an increase of more 
than 10% from 2010/11 (543,200 
patients) to more than 601,000 
patients a year. 

We are a patient-focused 
hospital and our ambition is 
to excel in all aspects of acute 
health care delivery, for our local 
community and for our wider 
regional tertiary population. 

Our quality governance strategy 
provides clear direction to the 
organisation on the whole-system 
approach we take to continuously 
improving standards. It includes 
a range of supporting strategies 

which define our priorities in 
more detail and our model is to 
deliver these through our patient 
improvement framework (PIF), 
which is reviewed and updated 
annually. The PIF is focused around 
four principal areas: 

• safety
• experience
• effectiveness and outcomes
• Performance (national quality
   targets)

Activity levels during 2012/13

Strategy and leadership for 
high quality care

University Hospital 
Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust

Provides
hospital services for people with 
acute health problems.

Serves
the local hospital for 650,000 
people who live in Southampton, 
the New Forest, Eastleigh and the 
Test Valley

the residents of the Isle of Wight 
and the Channel Islands with 
specialist services. 

Delivers
the regional specialist 
hospital services for central 
Southern England

major research programmes 
to develop the treatments of 
tomorrow

training and education of the 
next generation of hospital staff

Hospitals
Southampton General Hospital
Princess Anne Hospital
Countess Mountbatten House 
New Forest Birth Centre.

• Inpatients includes those whose care does not require an overnight stay
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Deciding which improvements 
we will prioritise for the 
coming year is a real team 
effort involving our patients, 
staff and wider public. The 
draft of this report has been 
shared widely with our staff, 
our commissioners, community 
partners and other key 
stakeholders.

Our patient improvement 
framework (PIF) continues to form 
the basis of our quality governance 
strategy and is designed to reflect 
a prioritised approach to quality. 
It is widely discussed by staff in 
our hospitals and is reviewed and 
updated on an ongoing basis. 

As well as reflecting our patient 
and staff feedback , the PIF includes 

reference to national drivers, for 
example, the Department of Health 
Outcomes Framework for 2013/14.  

We work closely with our 
community colleagues, and our 
priorities are linked to those of our 
local health economy set by our 
clinical commissioning 
groups (CCGs). 

We also reflect our corporate risk 
register and assurance framework 
where this is relevant. 

We began formally consulting 
with all our staff from November 
2012 up to publication, and have 
integrated our priorities with our 
Council of Governorsand Local 
LINKs groups feedback, as well as 
wider CCG quality priority setting 

jointly reflected in our contract 
arrangements. We have used this 
feedback to adjust our agreed 
priorities to reflect and support the 
views of the widest possible range 
of interested parties.

We assessed each potential 
improvement priority by asking;

• have our patients told us this is 
important?

• will this have a significant impact 
on improving quality?

• is this feasible given our resources 
and timeframe?  

• does previous performance 
reflect potential for 
improvement?

• does this improvement tie in with 
national priorities or audits?

Our priorities for improving quality 

Developing our priorities for 2013/14
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Patient Safety 

Key targets 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2012/13
Target

Met/ not 
met

Comment

Serious Incidents Requiring 
Investigation (SIRI)
Previously called Serious 
Untoward Incidents (SUIs)

84 159 127 <=156 3 Prioritised for 2013 14
Note: from 2011 we also include 
grade 3&4 pressure ulcers, VTE 
and safeguarding adult alerts. 

Never Events 2 3 2 =0 7 Included in our wider safety 
priorities for 2013 14. We have 
investigated these thoroughly 
for learning

Healthcare Associated Infection
MRSA bacteraemia reduction

5 4 3 <=4 3 Achieved

Healthcare Associated Infection
MRSA screening (“Matched 
Census”)
(as average of monthly %)

393% 388% 375% >=100% 3 Achieved

Healthcare Associated Infection
Clostridium difficile reduction

89 66 40 <=46 3 Achieved

Avoidable Hospital Acquired 

Grade III and IV Pressure Ulcers

78 33* 41 <=24 7 Prioritised for 2013 14
We have improved our 
reporting of these. We review 
each in depth, for root cause 
and learning

Falls
Avoidable Falls

13 5 <8 3 Prioritised for 2013 14
We have improved our reporting 
of these. We review each in 
depth, for root cause and learning

Falls
% SIRFIT (UHS Falls risk 
assessment tool) Compliance 
(as average of monthly %)

94.3% 94.7% 94.5% >=95%  7 Prioritised for 2013 14
We are reviewing and 
improving our SIRFIT tool and 
will continue to re audit and 
learn. 

Thromboprophylaxis (VTE)
% Patients Assessed (CQUIN) 94% 91.21% 95.31%

By Q4 year-
end>= 
95%

3 Achieved 
And also prioritised for 2013 14

Thromboprophylaxis (VTE)
% Patients receiving 
pharmacological prophylaxis (as 
average of monthly %)

81% 93.6% 96.16%
By Q4 
year-end 
>= 95%

3 Achieved 

And also prioritised for 2013 14

Achieve 24/7 safe emergency 
care (measured as bed  moves)

18 
(June - 

Mar 2012

Patients 
moved 
more than 
4 times  in  
a hospital 
stay <20

3  

Childrens services:
Reduction in unplanned 
admissions of full term babies 
to neonatal unit
One-to-one care in labour

tbc These measures are currently 
being audited as part of the 
NHSLA assessment due in 
September. Results will be 
shared when available. 

* This is the final number, and updates last years’ quality account. This is because the thorough investigation process we use 
meant that some cases were not confirmed by the time the report was published.

A review of our performance for clinical quality 

The information below summarises our achievement for quality across all of the indicators chosen in our patient 
improvement framework since 2008/09. This is reported fully each month in our Trust Board performance reports.
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The occurrence of any adverse 
clinical event is taken seriously. Every 
incident form submitted is reviewed 
by a patient safety advisor. 

We encourage reporting, as a way 
of learning and improving our 
services. 11,070 incidents were 
reported (all categories, including 
those resulting in no harm). This is 
in line with NRLS data expectations.

All the moderate and severe harm 
incidents are individually validated. 

Of these, all high harm incidents, 
whether clinical or non clinical are 
robustly investigated and overseen 
by a trust level group. 

Over the last year (2012/13), the 
Trust has reported 2 ‘never events’. 
‘never events’ are nationally defined 
and agreed as serious incidents 
that should not happen in a safe 
organisation. 

One ‘never event’ (wrong site 
surgery) is currently under 

investigation. The patient involved 
in the other never event, (retained 
swab) did not want to receive the 
investigation report, although he 
was robustly followed up and fully 
aware that an investigation was 
undertaken. The action plan for this 
event has been implemented and an 
audit structure is in place to ensure 
that organizational learning has 
occurred.

Clinical incidents
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Patient Experience 

Key targets 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2012/13
Target

Met/ not 
met

Comment

Total Complaints 737 687 533 <=720 3 Achieved

Percentage of complaints 
closed in target time
(due this month) (as average of 
monthly %)

92.6 87% 92% >=90% 3 Achieved

Monthly Picker Survey
Overall satisfaction with care 
(as average of monthly %)

96% 97% 96.3% >=90% 3 Achieved
And also prioritised for 2013 14

Monthly Picker Survey
Recommend hospital to family 
and friends (as average of 
monthly %)

96% 94.3% 94.3% >=85% 3 Achieved
And also prioritised for 2013 14

Monthly Picker Survey
Have you ever shared a 
sleeping area with patients of 
the opposite sex during this 
stay in hospital? (Those who 
gave an answer, as average of 
monthly %)

6% 11.1% 7% <=5% 7 Further work is underway to 
understand and improve the 
mismatch between perceived and 
actual experience.

Same Sex Accommodation 
(Estates Compliance) (as 
average of monthly %)

99% 99% 99% >=85% 3 Achieved

Same Sex Accommodation 
(Non Clinically Justified 
Breaches)

Not 
measured

85 10 <= 360
(<=30 per 
month)

 3 Improved to zero non clinically 
justified same sex accommodation 
breaches by year end.

Nutrition
% Patients with MUST 
Screening in 24 hours (as 
average of monthly %)

Not 
measured

89.4% 91.9% >=98%  7 See review report for further 
Actions in place, detail

Deliver compassionate and 
fundamental care
Patients feel they are treated 
with privacy & Dignity

  92% 
(Feb)

95% 7 Further work is underway to 
improve this aspect of patient 
experience

Meeting the needs of older 
people: rating their care as 
good, - excellent.

  98% 
(Feb)

95% 3 Achieved 
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Outcomes

Key targets 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2012/13
Target

Met/ not 
met

Comment

Hospital Standardised 
Mortality Rate (HSMR) 
University Hospital 
Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust

98 90.6 98 <100 3 Achieved
And also prioritised for 2013 14

Hospital Standardised Mortality 
Rate (HSMR) 
Southampton General Hospital

92.7 84.8 91.8 <100 3 Achieved
And also prioritised for 2013 14

Hospital Mortality Rate 1.6% 1.5% 1.6% <=1.5% 7 Monitored as part of early alert 
system

Emergency Re-admissions
Within 28 days (as average of 
monthly %)

9.4% 9.3% 9.5% <=7.5% 7
Prioritised for 2013 14
Actions are in place to reduce the 
number of patients readmitted. 
See our Board reports for more 
details

Emergency Re-admissions
Within 30 days (as average of 
monthly %)

7.45% 7.2% 6.8% <= 7.4%  7 Prioritised for 2013 14
See above

Patient Reported outcome 
measures: PROMS
Hip replacement data 
contributed
Knee replacement data 
contributed

 
 

69%

97%

80%

80%

  

7

3

 

Improve outcomes from surgery 
at extremes of age
Fractured neck of femur best 
practice tariff performance & 
actions (PIF)

surgery in neonates (PIF)

  

87.7% 

Audit in 
progress

90%

 

7

NCEPOD: neonatal surgery issue: 
Necrotising enterocolitis. An audit 
is now mid-way through the data 
collection stage.
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Our top priorities for 2013/14 are summarised below. We have included some further detail on how we plan to 
manage and measure our progress towards these aims. These will form the basis for our formal consultation with the 
public, staff and key stakeholders.

Our priorities for 2013/14 – 
the patient improvement framework (PIF)

Priority 1
To improve the reporting of patient safety incidents and our mechanisms for learning from them.

Priority 2
To improve the trust’s performance in the measures that are included in the national safety thermometer which 
is part of the strategy for harm free care

Why is this important
Incident reporting gives us an 
opportunity to learn from past 
events and to ensure that steps 
are taken to minimise recurrences. 
Evidence suggests that NHS 
organisations with a high level of 
incident reporting are more likely 
to learn and subsequently increase 
safety for their patients, staff and 
visitors. 

The Trust reports approximately 
9,000 actual and potential 
incidents per year, of which the 
majority are low harm and low 
risking rating. 69 were classed as 
serious incidents. 

Our aims for 2013 14
• To support and encourage 

reporting, we are moving from 
paper-based, to an electronic 

reporting system, The benefits of 
e-reporting include; improving 
the time it takes to report an 
incident and the quality of 
incident information recorded 
to support learning and further 
improvement. 

• To maintain the number of 
incidents reported as serious 
incidents requiring investigation 
(SIRI) as 13 or less per month.

Why is this important
We are using an approach to 
patient safety that allows our 
frontline teams to think differently – 
measuring harm from the patients’ 
perspective. The NHS Safety 
Thermometer is an audit tool that 
allows teams to measure harm and 
the proportion of patients that are 
‘harm free’ from four of the most 
common and preventable causes. 
These are pressure ulcers (bedsores), 
patient falls, VTE (blood clot) and 

urinary infections due to catheters. 
In 2012 13 we focused on ensuring 
that we captured the information 
we need to measure the safety 
priorities included in this audit. 
We have achieved 100% audit 
results, so we now have a good 
understanding of our 
performance to set ourselves 
improvement targets. 

Our aims for 2013 14
• A 25% reduction in grade 3 

and 4 hospital acquired pressure 
ulcers to 22 or less

• A 25% reduction in high harm 
falls to 3 or less

• 95% of patients risk-assessed 
for avoidable blood clots by end 
of year and 98% prescribed 
appropriate treatment

• A reduction in the number of 
inappropriate urinary catheter 
insertions 
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Priority 3
To improve the care of UHS patients with diabetes.

Why is this important
Diabetes is a common life-long 
health condition. There are 3 million 
people diagnosed with diabetes in 
the UK and an estimated 850,000 
people who have the condition 
but don’t know it. Around 15% of 
all inpatients at University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
have diabetes. 

The 2012 National Diabetes Inpatient 
Audit found 3,700 patients in 
hospitals across England and Wales 
experienced at least one medication 

error in one week. Those affected 
suffered double the number of 
severe hypoglycaemic episodes – a 
drop in blood sugar levels. 

Although diabetes cannot yet 
be cured it can be managed very 
successfully. Because diabetes is a 
life long and common condition, 
many patients who visit us for other 
reasons, may also have diabetes. 
We aim to ensure we provide the 
best care and support for patients 
with diabetes who use any of our 
services. 

Our aims for 2013 14
• Zero incidents classified as “never 

events” in relation to prescription 
of insulin

• 20% reduction in incidents/errors 
relating to diabetes

• Increasing the percentage of 
patients with a care bundle for 
diabetes

• Reducing the number of patients 
admitted as emergencies due to 
diabetes

Patient experience priorities

Priority 1
To successfully implement and learn from the friends and family test (a national survey being 
implemented this year)

Why is this important
Seeking and acting on patient 
feedback is key to improving the 
quality of healthcare services. 
The Friends and Family Test gives 
hospital inpatients, and patients 
who attend the emergency 
department, the opportunity to give 
their views of the care or treatment 
they have received. 

From April 2013, when patients 
leave hospital they will be invited to 
give their feedback by answering 
one simple question: 

How likely are you to recommend 
your ward to friends and family if 
they need similar care or treatment? 

This feedback, alongside other 
information, will be used to identify 
and tackle concerns at an early 
stage, improve the quality of care 
we provide, and celebrate our 
successes. The Friends and Family 
Test does not replace existing 
feedback methods at UHS|, with 
patients and visitors still able to 
pass on their compliments and 
complaints in the normal way.  

Our aims for 2013 14
• Deliver the roll-out plan for the 

survey
• Increase the response rate in 

acute inpatient areas and the ED 
to at least 20% by the end of 

 the year.
• Increase the score for 2013/14 

compared with the question 
asked in the 2012/13 national 
patient survey
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Priority 2
To improve the experience women have of our maternity services.

Priority 3
To improve the continuity of care for patients when they move from one area of treatment to another and when 
they move between different organisations in the NHS. This includes improving handovers with comprehensive 
and accurate documentation.

Why is this important
This national survey asked women 
to feedback what they thought 
about different aspects of the 
care they received during their 
pregnancy, labour and birth, and 
in the weeks following the birth of 
their baby. The  results of the survey 

help us to identify areas where 
we can improve performance. We 
are classed as “about the same as 
the average” in the most recent 
national survey of maternity services

Our aims for 2013 14
• To continue improving our 

performance in this survey
• Measure important elements of 

experience including in antenatal, 
intrapartum (time of birth) and 
postnatal care.

• Introduce real-time monitoring to 
capture immediate feedback on 
women’s experiences.

Why is this important
To improve quality and standards 
of nursing documentation and 
handover.  A holistic, problem 
solving approach to care, using the 
nursing process and an established 
nursing model is essential to 
address individual patient needs.  
Evidence demonstrates good 
documentation of nursing care 
and effective care planning ensures 
better continuity of care, patient 
outcomes, safety and experience.  
The clear communication of care 
rationale optimises decision making 

and a consistent approach to team 
working,

Our aims for 2013 14
• To implement the documentation 

of patient care policy (nursing) 
• Establish process for monitoring 

compliance and effectiveness of 
the documentation policy

• Develop an education plan to 
support the implementation 
of the requirements of the 
documentation policy. 

• To develop the format for nursing 
documentation

• Develop the electronic nurse’s 
worklist as an adjunct to the 
doctor’s worklist electronic 
initiative.             

• Meet compliance with Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) 
Quality Standards Outcome 
R20 for Records, NHSLA Health 
Record-Keeping Standards, 
Nursing & Midwifery Council 
(NMC) Guidance, Essence of Care 
Record Keeping standards and 
UHS Record Management policy.
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Priorities for outcomes and clinical effectiveness

Priority 1
Making appropriate improvements in mortality rates and the way in which mortality is measured and evaluated.

Priority 2
Improve outcomes for deteriorating patients in hospital which contributes to mortality rate.

Why is this important
HSMR is a benchmarking ratio, of 
observed deaths / expected deaths 
(x100). It is used as an indicator of 
healthcare quality that measures 
whether the death rate at a hospital 
is higher or lower than you would 
expect compared to the general 
population.

We can use information presented 
in this way to help us compare 
our performance fairly. National 
Summary Hospital level Mortality 

Indicator (SHMI) data is collected on 
all inpatients. In HSMR it is collected 
on approximately 85%.

We recognise that for some of 
our patients death is an inevitable 
outcome of their condition. We 
are fortunate to be able to provide 
a specialist palliative care team to 
ensure support to patients and their 
families in achieving  as good and 
comfortable end of life  care as 
possible.  
 

Our aims for 2013 14
• Continue to reduce avoidable 

deaths with a Hospital 
Standardised Mortality rate 
(HSMR) score of 100 or less when 
the next national adjustment 
takes place in 2013. 

• To improve coding accuracy.

Why is this important
In general, clinical signs of acute 
illness reflect failing respiratory, 
cardiovascular and neurological 
systems. These signs can be used 
to predict the occurrence of cardiac 
arrest.  The National Confidential 
Enquiry into Patient Outcome and 
Death (NCEPOD) report ‘Time to 
Intervene’ identified survival to 
discharge in patients suffering 
cardiac arrest is improved with close 

observation, earlier recognition of 
severity of illness and markers of 
risk; senior decision making and 
appropriate admission into a critical 
care environment all support better 
outcomes. We have improved our 
recognition and management of 
deterioration, and our patients 
outcomes are significantly better 
than the national average. However 
there is more we can do. 
 

Our aims for 2013 14
• To maintain levels of ward-based 

cardiac arrest at or below those 
achieved in 2012 13.

• Achieve 90% compliance with 
the Trust’s acuity audit in every 
month.
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Priority 3
Improve the care of older patients with delirium and/or dementia.

Why is this important
General hospital environments 
can be particularly confusing for 
people living with dementia. When 
treatment is required in a hospital 
setting, people with dementia need 
to have their dementia recognised 
so that appropriate care and 
treatment is delivered, irrespective 
of the reason for admission. 

Dementia is a significant challenge 
for the NHS with an estimated 25% 
of acute beds occupied by people 
with dementia. Their length of stay is 
longer than people without dementia 
and they are often subject to delays 
on leaving hospital. Dementia affects 
an estimated 670,000 people in 

England, and the costs across health 
and social care and wider society are 
estimated to be £19 billion. Currently 
only around 42% of people with 
dementia in England have a formal 
diagnosis despite the fact that timely 
diagnosis can greatly improve the 
quality of life of the person with 
dementia by preventing crises 
(and thus care home and hospital 
emergency admission) and offering 
support to carers. In UHS we have 
screened 92.5% of patients at risk of 
dementia in 2012 13, and of these 
100% were further assessed and 
referred to appropriate services. 

It is estimated that 25% of general 
hospital beds in the NHS are 

occupied by people with dementia, 
rising to 40% or even higher in 
certain groups such as elderly 
care wards or in people with hip 
fractures, and so this remains a 
priority for us in  2013 14.
 
Our aims for 2013 14
• Deliver high quality care for 

people with dementia and 
 their carers
• Identify more than 90% of 

relevant patients
• Appropriate refer more than 

90% of identified patients
• Deliver appropriate training 
 for staff
• Ensure carers feel adequately 

supported
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These nationally mandated 
statements give information to the 
public, which is common across all 
quality accounts. 

They help us to demonstrate 

• we are actively measuring clinical 
processes and performance 
(clinical audits)

• we are involved in national 
projects and initiatives aimed at 
improving quality, for example, 
recruitment to clinical trials or 
through establishing quality 
improvement and innovation 
goals with commissioners using 
the Commission for Quality & 
Innovation (CQUIN) payment 
framework

• we are performing to essential 
standards (CQC), as well as going 
above and beyond this to provide 
high quality care.

Review of Services
During 2012/13 the University 
Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust (UHS) provided 
and/or sub-contracted 109 relevant 
health services (from Total Trust 
activity by specialty cumulative 
2012/13 contractual report). More 
information about these can be 
found on our website www.UHS.
nhs.uk. UHS has reviewed all the 
data available on the quality of care 
in all of these NHS services.

The income generated by the 
NHS services reviewed in 2012/13 
represents 100 % of the total 
income generated from the 

provision of NHS services by 
University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust for 2012/13.

Participation in clinical audits: 
Clinical audit statements 

During 2012/13 43 national clinical 
audits and six national confidential 
enquiries covered NHS services that 
UHS provides. 

During 2012/13 UHS participated 
in 84 per cent and 100 per cent 
respectively national confidential 
enquiries of the national clinical 
audits and national confidential 
enquiries which it was eligible to 
participate in.

National confidential enquiries
The national clinical audits and 
national confidential enquiries that 
UHS was eligible to participate in 
during 2012/13 are as follows: 

• NCEPOD Bariatric Surgery 
(organisational element of study)

• NCEPOD Cardiac Arrest 
Procedures

• NCEPOD Alcohol related liver 
disease

• NCEPOD Subarachnoid 
Haemorrhage

• NCEPOD Tracheostomy (started 
in March 2013)

• MBRRACE-UK- Perinatal mortality 

The national clinical audits and 
national confidential enquiries that 
UHS participated in during 2012/13 
are as follows: 

• NCEPOD Bariatric Surgery 
(organisational element of study)

• NCEPOD Cardiac Arrest 
Procedures

• NCEPOD Alcohol related liver 
disease

• NCEPOD Subarachnoid 
Haemorrhage

• NCEPOD Tracheostomy (started 
in March 2013)

• MBRRACE-UK- Perinatal mortality 

National Confidential Enquiry 
started February 2012.

In addition to the above UHS has 
registered to participate in the 
National Review of Asthma Deaths 
(deaths from Asthma during the 
period: February 2012 to 
December 2012)

The national clinical audits and 
national confidential enquiries that 
UHS participated in, and for which 
data collection was completed 
during 2012/13, are listed below 
in Table A alongside the number 
of cases submitted to each audit 
or enquiry as a percentage of the 
number of registered cases required 
by the terms of that audit or 
enquiry. (column 1 of Table A) and 
percentages (column 5 of Table A)

The reports of 27 national clinical 
audits were reviewed by the 
provider in 2012/13 and UHS 
intends to take the following 
actions to improve the quality of 
healthcare provided. See table C.

Statements of Assurance 
from the Trust Board
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 Total number of NCAs UHS were eligible to complete
(4=42) 

 National 
audit 
reports 
reviewed 
(27)

% actual 
cases 
submitted 
/ expected 
submissions

1 Acute coronary syndrome or Acute myocardial infarction MINAP  
National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research (NICOR)  

 4 4 4 100%

2 Adult Asthma (NICOR)  4 7 7

3 Adult cardiac surgery audit ACS  National Institute for Cardiovascular 
Outcomes Research (NICOR) CABG and valvular surgery 

 4 4 4 100%

4 Adult community acquired pneumonia  4 7

5 Adult critical care (Case Mix Programme)  Intensive Care National 
Audit and Research Centre (ICNARC) 

 4  4 4 100%

6 Bowel cancer NBOCAP - NHS IC  4  4 7

7 Bronchiectasis The British Thoracic Society (BTS)  4  4 7 100%

8 Cardiac Arrest Audit NCAA - Intensive Care National Audit and 
Research Centre (ICNARC)  

 4  4 4

9 Cardiac arrhythmia - National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes 
Research (NICOR) 

 4  4 n/a

10 Carotid interventions audit (run by VSGBI through RCP)  4  4 4 100%

11 Comparative blood transfusion audit - Medical use of blood   4  4 7

12 Congenital heart disease,(Paediatric cardiac surgery)- National Institute 
for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research (NICOR)  

 4  4 4 100%

13 Coronary angioplasty - National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes 
Research (NICOR) 

 4  4 4 57%

14 Diabetes (Adult) ND(A), includes National Diabetes Inpatient Audit 
(NADIA)  -  NHS IC, Leeds  

 4  4 4 100%

15 Diabetes (Paediatric) PNDA - Royal College of Child Health and 
Paediatrics (RCPCH)  

 4  4 4 100%

16 Elective surgery (National PROMs Programme) NHS IC, Leeds  - HIPS  4  4 4 75%

17 Elective surgery (National PROMs Programme) NHS IC, Leeds - KNEES  4  4 4 86%

18 Emergency use of oxygen The British Thoracic Society (BTS)  4  4 n/a 100%

19 Epilepsy 12 audit (Childhood Epilepsy) - Royal College of Child Health 
and Paediatrics (RCPCH) 

 4  7 n/a

20 Fever in children CEM 4 4 4 100%

21 Fractured neck of femur CEM 4 4 n/a

22 Head and neck oncology - NHS IC 4 4 4
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 Total number of NCAs UHS were eligible to complete
(4=42) 

 National 
audit 
reports 
reviewed 
(27)

% actual 
cases 
submitted 
/ expected 
submissions

23 Heart failure HF - National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes 
Research (NICOR)

4 4 4 27%

24 Hip fracture database, national  4 4 4 100%

25 Adult - Inflammatory bowel disease IBD - Royal College of Physicians 
(RCP), CEEU – note: data collection continues into 2013/14

4 4 n/a See note

26 Child - Inflammatory bowel disease IBD - Royal College of Physicians 
(RCP), CEEU – note: data collection continues into 2013/14

4 4 n/a See note

27 Lung cancer NLCA - NHS IC, Leeds 4 4 4 Est.>54%

28 National audit of dementia audit NAD - Royal College of Psychiatrists (CCQI) 4 4 4 87.5%

29 NASH National audit of seizure management (epilepsy) 4 4 4 100%

30 National Joint Registry NJR 4 4 4 Est.>60% 

31 National Vascular Registry NVR, including CIA and elements of NVD 
(data collected on index procedure: varicose veins / aneurism / lower 
limb / amputation) 

4 4 4 AAA 100% 
others 75%

32 Neonatal intensive and special care NNAP 4 4  4 100%

33 Non-invasive ventilation - adults - British Thoracic Society (BTS) 4 7 7 0%

34 Oesophago-gastric cancer - The Royal College of Surgeons of England 
(RCS) AUGIS 

4 4 4 100%

35 Pain database 4 4 7 40%

36 Paediatric asthma - The British Thoracic Society (BTS) 4 4 4 100%

37 Paediatric intensive care PICANet - University of Leicester  4 4 4 100%

38 Paediatric pneumonia - BTS 4 4 4 100%

39 Parkinson's UK 4 7 n/a 0%

40 Perinatal mortality - MBRRACE-UK 4 4 n/a 100%

41 Renal Colic CEM 4 4 4 100

42* Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP), includes SINAP - 
Royal College of Physicians (RCP), CEEU  

4 7 n/a 0%

43 Severe trauma (Trauma Audit & Research Network) TARN 4 4 4 100%
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* UHS plans to participate in the 2013/14 Sential Stroke Audit Programme (SSNAP when SSNAP will become the 
single auditing system for acute strokes. During 2012/13 UHS provided monthly reports to the commissioners via 
the accelerated stroke improvement markers.
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Audit Title Actions  

Re-audit - Pharmacy Record Keeping 
for Controlled Drugs

Remind staff that requisitions need to state exact quantities rather than 
simply “x number of boxes/bottles. The form of the drug must be stated 
on the requisition regardless of whether it is the only form available.

The proportion of cases of 
Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy who 
are tested for fabry when age of 
onset

Production of a Fabry Disease Proforma

Re-audit of Physiotherapy 
intervention for total knee 
replacement

Liaise with team and gain consensus                                                                                                             
Adjust core standards in line with consensus if appropriate
Provide IST on gait re-education 

Completion of Guthrie/blood spot 
test in the admission paperwork

1. A poster has been placed on the ward staff rooms teaching and 
education board to raise awareness of the issue of the Guthrie and 
how to ensure it has been done, and where to then document this (see 
Appendix 3)
2. A poster has been placed in the doctor’s room

Smoking and smoking cessation in 
acute medical inpatients

Documentation of smoking status Education, presentation at educational 
meetings
Offering smoking cessation advice As above
Offering NRT As above
Documentation of smoking cessation advice AMU ward round pro forma

NICU Handover Highlight results on AV system, Combination lock on office door

Baseline audit of testing phytanic 
acid levels in retinitis pigmentosa

Moderate priority. For discussion of Refsum disease diagnostic proforma 
at the departmental level followed by implementation of proforma.

An audit of documentation of 
endotracheal intubation on the 
Neonatal Unit

Developed intubation documentation proforma

Blood requests - acknowledgement 
of result

Presented at consultants meeting on 6/7/12.  Shows that 14% of in-
patient results not acknowledged at 48 hours after result available.  
Action: to emphasise importance of acknowledging results at induction 
of new FY doctors in August

An audit of the soft tissue mallets 
treated in RSH hand therapy against 
the soft tissue mallet protocol

Attach info sheet to mallet proforma as prompt to give to patients, 
remind all staff to use proforma sheet with all mallet patients.
Update proforma to include:
• Date of injury
• Day 1 of complete DIPJ immobilisation in hyperextension
Reinforce to staff 

Non-diabetic retinopathy referrals 
from retinopathy screening service

Ensure all non-DR referrals are seen in the appropriate clinics
All suspected CNV should be fastracked for assessment within current 
guideline
Review of referrals by an ophthalmologist

The reports of 53 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2012/13 and UHS intends to 
take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided. See table B below.

Table B: Local clinical audits, and actions
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Audit Title Actions  

An audit of the bony mallets in RSH 
hand therapy against the bont mallet 
protocol

Attach info sheet to mallet proforma as prompt to give to patients.
Update proforma to include:
• Date of injury
• Day 1 of complete DIPJ immobilisation in hyperextension
Reinforce to staff importance of accurate documentation on proforma.
Reinforce to staff

Hospital acquired Pneumonia in 
Stoke

Follow up CXR formal reports for evidence of consolidation or not – 
education of medical staff 
Take into account of, and check SALT assessment when considering a 
diagnosis of aspiration pneumonia – education of medical staff.

Repeat audit of compliance with 
hypoglycaemia and hypothermia 
guidelines October 2012

Consultant to alert ward staff verbally  re the stock-pile of previous 
versions of risk proforma still being used on wards  
and alert consultant midwife via emailActions implementation update 
received 10 January 2013:
1. Replacement of old hypoglycaemia  

Prevention and management of 
hypoglycaemia in neonates

Actions implementation update received 10 January 2013:
1. Replacement of old hypoglycaemia proformas which has taken place.
2. A survey of midwifery and nursery nurse knowledge was carried out at 
the end of November 2012 after which education sessions took place

Management of hypothermic 
newborns

Actions implementation update received 10 January 2013:
1. Replacement of old hypoglycaemia proformas which has taken place.
2. A survey of midwifery and nursery nurse knowledge was carried out at 
the end of November 2012 after which education sessions took place

Re-audit Microbiology culture audit 
of stem cell harvest (5)

Record all positive culture results and proposed treatment in the 
‘problems’ section of the autologous transplant schedules.

Cardiothoracic documentation of ID 
check

Re inforce need for documentation of ID checks at monthly Staff 
meetings.

Audit of transthoracic 
echocardiogram aortic root 
measurements and reporting in 
marfan patients

Presentation of Data 
Clinical Governance in Cardiovascular Division to 

Training staff using HeartSuite
Up-date a patients diagnosis on HeartSuite during an inpatient stay if 
inaccurate
Pilot booking system
Consider using HICSS

The concordance between the bone 
marrow aspirate and the bone 
marrow trephine findings

Immunophenotyping by flow cytometry will no longer be performed 
routinely on the lymphoma marrows (as per communications 28th 
December 2012). This has been communicated to the oncology team and 
is in place from January 2013.  
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National audit title Actions  

Acute coronary syndrome or Acute 
myocardial infarction MINAP  
National Institute for Cardiovascular 
Outcomes Research (NICOR)  

Quarterly meetings ongoing with primary/ secondary care providers 
reviewing data and development plans. Working with South Central 
Ambulance Service to provide seamless care.

Adult cardiac surgery audit ACS  
National Institute for Cardiovascular 
Outcomes Research (NICOR) CABG 
and valvular surgery 

Based on the outcome data as demonstrated on the STCS website, UHS 
Adult Cardiac Surgery has the smallest mortality risk compared to the 
other Cardiac Surgery units in the UK.  We intend to keep up with our 
current standards of maintaining excellent outcomes in Cardiac Surgical 
Cases performed by our Department

Adult critical care (Case Mix 
Programme)  Intensive Care National 
Audit and Research Centre (ICNARC) 

The data are submitted for patients approximately 3 months following 
their critical care admission so the data are always subject to a time lapse.  
This is true of all sites submitting data.  Our standardised mortality rates 
are consistently excellent, our quality indicators of delayed discharges 
and night time discharges from critical care are consistently worse than 
the national average. A bed manager post was created to help to identify 
and actively manage day time discharges however the Black Alert status 
of the most recent months continue to have serious impact on ability to 
discharge in a timely fashion.

Cardiac Arrest Audit NCAA - 
Intensive Care National Audit and 
Research Centre (ICNARC)  

Dissemination of information on timings and locations of cardiac arrests 
in the Trust.  Training staff in management of cardiac arrest.  Training in 
recognition of the deteriorating patient and preventing cardiac arrest.

Coronary angioplasty - National 
Institute for Cardiovascular 
Outcomes Research (NICOR) 

Review of deaths from Primary PCI formally undertaken. No action found 
to be required.

Diabetes (Adult) ND(A), includes 
National Diabetes Inpatient Audit 
(NADIA)  -  NHS IC, Leeds  

Improve on areas flagged that need improvement in diabetes care for 
inpatient audit  NDA audit is more reflective of primary care and cannot 
therefore be easily influenced by UHS, except through education and 
support in primary care, with need for increased resource

Diabetes (Paediatric) PNDA - Royal 
College of Child Health and 
Paediatrics (RCPCH)  

Improve data collection & submission by using electronic patient care 
system HICCS to collect all clinical data on children with diabetes

Fever in children CEM Increased presence of senior clinician (consultant) directly located within 
paediatric area. This includes a Paediatric Consultant who has joining the 
senior rota. This will enable earlier senior decision maker input. During 
the audit period there was no written advice (all ED advice cards had 
been removed as per Trust policy just prior to audit period). We now have 
a new re-written discharge advice card for children presenting with fever, 
printable from the Symphony system. Education regarding the “Traffic 
Light System” for all new doctors during induction. Continuing education 
regarding antibiotic usage in children during educational programme. 
Prominence of “Traffic Light System” guidelines within paediatric area 
emphasised.

The reports of 27 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2012/13 and UHS intends to 
take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided [description of actions in Table C]. 

Table C
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National audit title Actions  

Heart failure HF - National Institute 
for Cardiovascular Outcomes 
Research (NICOR

Unfortunately our data suggested an IT glitch. As such it was reported 
nationally that 0% of our patients were on an AVE-Inhibitor or a 
betablocker. We are meeting with IT to fix this problem.

Hip fracture database, national  Fragility Fracture Rehabilitation ward set up In March 2013 at Princess 
Anne Hospital.

Lung cancer NLCA - NHS IC, Leeds Better than average 1 year survival at UHS compared to Nationally.

National audit of dementia audit NAD 
- Royal College of Psychiatrists (CCQI) 

Report being reviewed at next consultant meeting and findings to be 
shared with organisation

NASH National audit of seizure 
management (epilepsy) 

Only the organisational analysis was published in 2012 - actions relate 
to this.  Liaison with neurology services to determine requirement for 
developing a pathway for onward referral of patients presenting with a 
(non-first) seizure.

National Joint Registry NJR Report findings used in implant tender process

Neonatal intensive and special care 
NNAP 

- all missing data points, including documentation of discussion with 
parents, to be identified by data entry clerk  - where possible, data entry 
clerk to enter missing data from review of patient and maternal records  - 
remaining missing data points to b

Paediatric asthma - The British 
Thoracic Society (BTS) 

Continue with trainee education programme as established to minimise 
use of unecessary investigations - already half that of national averages.  
Need to maintain pressures to avoid over prescribing of antibipotics for 
acute asthma. Asthma nurse specialist engagement ongoing to maintain 
excellent outcomes around discharge planning.

Paediatric intensive care PICANet - 
University of Leicester  

We have the lowest SMR of any large unit in the country on the basis of this 
data. We intend to maintain this high quality. We have started completing 
the PIC dashboard and we are now collecting PICANet transport data.

Paediatric pneumonia - BTS Highlighted uncertainties around diagnosis of pneumonia coding. Further 
review of care pathway ongoing - Guidelines to be updated this year

Renal Colic CEM Actions to improve timeliness and adequacy of analgesia provision: The 
Rapid Assessment and Triage (RAT) role has been formalised for the 
Consultant staff in the ED. This provides consultant RAT cover between 
10:00-16:00 on weekdays (extending to 18:00 when four Consultants 
are present), resulting in a senior decision maker being present to assess 
the patient on arrival in the ED. Once an assessment of pain is made 
analgesia can be prescribed. Oral analgesia is now located directly within 
the assessment room, thereby removing unnecessary steps. Patient Group 
Directions (PGDs) will enable nurse prescribing of analgesia outside of 
RAT hours. Options including oramorph, intranasal diamorphine and 
intranasal fentanyl are being investigated. Education of all clinical staff in 
the importance of both initial assessment and re-assessment of analgesia 
stressed at departmental induction. Continuing development of the renal 
colic pathway to ensure timely diagnostic testing and fast-tracking of 
appropriate patients. Increase number of senior clinicians able to perform 
AAA scans within the Emergency Department (an in-house course will be 
organised for late 2013).

Severe trauma (Trauma Audit & 
Research Network) TARN 

Regular M&M meetings across all specialties involved create actions and 
they are implemented with the support of the medical directors.
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Research
The number of patients receiving 
relevant health services provided or 
sub-contracted by University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
in 2012/2013 that were recruited 
during that period to participate in 
NIHR supported research approved 
by a research ethics committee was 
above 8,000.

Participation in clinical research 
demonstrates University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust’s continued commitment to 
improving the quality of care we 
offer and to making our contribution 
to wider health improvement. Our 
clinical staff stay abreast of the latest 
possible treatment possibilities and 
active participation in research leads 
to successful patient outcomes.

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust was involved 
in conducting 291 NIHR supported 
clinical research studies in a broad 
spectrum of medical specialties 
during 2012/2013. 

There were over 1000 clinical staff 
participating in both National 
Institute for Health Research (NIHR) 
and non-NIHR supported research 
approved by a research ethics 
committee at University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
during this time.

Our goals agreed with the 
commissioners
A proportion of UHS income in 
2012/13 was conditional upon 
achieving quality improvement and 
innovation goals agreed between 
UHS  and any person or body they 
entered into a contract, agreement 
or arrangement with for the 
provision of relevant health services, 
through the Commissioning for 
Quality and Innovation payment 
framework. Further details of the 
agreed goals for 2012/13 and for 
the following 12 month period 
are available online at: http://
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/sites/
all/modules/fckeditor/plugins/
ktbrowser/_openTKFile.php?id=3275
 

The monetary total for the amount 
of income in 2012/13 conditional 
upon achieving quality improvement 
and innovation goals was 
£10.26 M and a monetary total for 
the associated payment in 2012/13 
was £9.86 M.

Further details of the agreed goals 
for 2012/13 and for the following 
12-month period are available at 
www.uhs.nhs.uk 
We have used the CQUIN framework 
to actively engage in and agree 
quality improvements working with 
our commissioners, to improve 
patient pathways across our 
local and wider health economy.  
Reflecting our wide patient 
catchment area, we agreed two 
CQUIN programmes in operation. 
These were one standard contract 
CQUIN held jointly between all 
our PCT commissioners and one 
specialist services commissioning 
group CQUIN programme.
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UHS: Our CQUIN priorities for 2012/13

 Contract National audits UHS participated in Type Rate

Specialist, SHIP & SW VTE National 0.125% 513

Specialist, SHIP & SW Patient Experience National 0.125% 513

Specialist, SHIP & SW Dementia National 0.125% 513

Specialist, SHIP & SW Safety Thermometer National 0.125% 513

SHIP & SW High impact innovations National 0.500% 1,356

SHIP & SW Follow up of frequent attendees Local 0.525% 1,423

SHIP & SW Out of Hospital Care Local 0.750% 2,034

SHIP & SW Heath improvement assessment Local 0.225% 610

 SHIP & SW Gateway SHA  

Specialist Clinical Dashboards Local 0.200% 278

Specialist Haemtrak Local 0.200% 278

Specialist Haemophilia Clinical Trials Local 0.300% 417

Specialist Haemophilia Trough Levels Local 0.200% 278

Specialist IVIG panel set up Local 0.300% 417

Specialist IVIG panel referrals Local 0.200% 278

Specialist IVIG Database Local 0.200% 278

Specialist Neonatal TPN Local 0.200% 278

Specialist Neonatal Discharge Local 0.200% 278

 Total 10,257

The CQUIN targets set were challenging, however we have made significant progress. These areas remain part of 
our improvement focus for 2013/14.



51

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2012/13

Statements from the Care 
Quality Commission: 
UHS is required to register with 
the Care Quality Commission and 
its current registration status for 
locations and services is as below.  

Regulated activity: 
Surgical procedures
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Southampton General Hospital, 

Tremona Road, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD.

Regulated activity: Treatment of 
disease, disorder or injury
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:
•  Countess Mountbatten House, 

Moorgreen Hospital, Botley Road, 
West End, Southampton, 

 SO23 3JB
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Royal South Hants Hospital, 

Brintons Terrace, Southampton, 
SO14 0YG

•  Southampton General Hospital, 
Tremona Road, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD.

Regulated activity: Maternity 
and midwifery services
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:

•  New Forest Birth Centre, Ashurst 
Hospital, Lyndhurst Road, 
Ashurst, Southampton, 

 SO40 7AR
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA

Regulated activity: Diagnostic 
and screening services
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:
•  Countess Mountbatten House, 

Moorgreen Hospital, Botley Road, 
West End, Southampton, 

 SO23 3JB
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Royal South Hants Hospital, 

Brintons Terrace, Southampton, 
SO14 0YG

•  Southampton General Hospital, 
Tremona Road, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD

•  New Forest Birth Centre, Ashurst 
Hospital, Lyndhurst Road, 
Ashurst, Southampton, 

 SO40 7AR
 
Regulated activity: Transport 
services, triage and medical 
advice provided remotely
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Southampton General Hospital, 

Tremona Road, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD.

 

Regulated activity: Assessment 
or medical treatment for persons 
detained under the 1983 (Mental 
Health) Act
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at 
the following locations:
•  Countess Mountbatten House, 

Moorgreen Hospital, Botley Road, 
West End, Southampton, 

 SO23 3JB
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford 

Road, Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Southampton General Hospital, 

Tremona Road, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD

 
 
University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust has no 
conditions on registration.

The Care Quality Commission 
has not taken enforcement 
action against University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
during 2012/13.

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust has not 
participated in any special reviews 
or investigations by the Care 
Quality Commission during the 
reporting period.

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust participated 
in a child protection Serious Case 
Review (Southampton Child F) 
dated 18/06/2012.

University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust’s registration with the 
Care Quality Commission
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The Care Quality Commission 
undertook a responsive review of 
compliance at the Southampton 
General Hospital (SGH) site in 
October 2012 and reported 
that patients and relatives were 

overwhelmingly positive about 
the staff and the care they had 
received, and that the staff were 
incredibly hard working. Many 
of the wards CQC visited were 
compliant against the standards but 

in a small number, specific issues 
were observed that did not reflect 
our quality standards or our clinical 
policies and practices, which then 
contributed negatively to our final 
assessment as outlined below:

A comprehensive action plan was 
submitted to the CQC and the Trust 
Board are overseeing achievement 
of the plan through the Director of 
Nursing and a monthly Task and 
Finish Group, who will ensure delivery 
of the key actions to demonstrate full 
compliance to the CQC, the majority 
of which will be completed by the 
end of March 2013.

Ward staffing levels are reviewed 
annually, taking account of any 
staff increases needed linked to 
capacity changes and this review 
was completed in November 2012.  
We review staffing levels using 
recommendations included in 
the RCN guidance issued in 2010 
and the Safer Nursing Care Acuity 
and Dependency tool. A number 
of further actions to add to our 
existing recruitment plans were 
agreed. These included an ongoing 
programme of overseas recruitment, 
increases to staff supported 
through the return to practice 
programme and a continued focus 
on encouraging the newly qualified 
nurses due to complete their 
training to work with us through 
the local universities, and career 

fairs. We have received very positive 
evaluations about the calibre, 
capability and compassion of both 
our overseas recruits and our newly 
qualified recruits.
 
In December CQC also undertook 
their first inspection of the Princess 
Ann Hospital (PAH) and reported 
that mothers and partners were 
very positive about the care they 
received and their consultation and 
involvement in decision making. The 
outcome of the PAH inspection was 
that the two outcomes reviewed 
were found to be fully compliant 
with the Essential Standards of 
Quality and Safety.

Our data quality: 
University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust submitted 
records between April 2012 and 
March 2013 to the NHS-wide 
Secondary Uses Service for inclusion 
in Hospital Episode Statistics which 
are included in the latest published 
data. As at January 2013 (latest 
reporting month) the percentage of 
records in the published data:

— which included the patient’s valid 
NHS number was:
97.4 % for admitted patient care; 
98.5 % for outpatient care; and 
95.3 % for accident and emergency  
 care.

— which included a valid General 
Medical Practice Code was:
100% for admitted patient care;
100% for outpatient care; and
100% for accident and emergency  
           care.

Our scores were close to national 
achievement (NHS Number) or 
above reported national levels 
(Practice Code) for data quality.

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust Information 
Governance Assessment Report 
overall score for 2012/13 was 72% 
and was graded red (Unsatisfactory).  
The Trust did not achieve a 
satisfactory level of compliance for 
one requirement in the assessment 
related to information governance 
training for staff. An action plan 
is being developed to improve 
compliance for this requirement 
during 2013/14.

 SGH - Standards Reviewed CQC Judgement

Outcome 2 - Consent to treatment Compliant

Outcome 4 - Care and welfare of people who use services Minor concerns 

Outcome 7 - Safeguarding people who use services from abuse Compliant

Outcome 9 - Management of medicines Minor concerns 

Outcome 13 - Staffing Moderate concerns Minor concerns 

Outcome 21 - Record management Follow up of frequent attendees
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University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust Information 
Quality and Records Management 
attainment levels assessed within 
the Information Governance Toolkit 
provide an overall measure of the 
quality of data systems,
standards and processes within 
an organisation. The Trust met or 
exceeded the minimum required 
level of compliance assessment for 
all Information Quality and Records 
Management requirements of the 
Toolkit for the reporting year.

The Trust has maintained a 
level 3 accreditation against the 
NHS Litigation Authority risk 
management standards for Acute 
Trusts which contains two standards 
specific to records management and 
record keeping

UHS recognizes that good 
quality health services depend 
on the provision of high quality 
information. Continuing the work 
undertaken in 2011/12, UHS took 
the following actions to improve 
data quality:

• Introduction of a new UHS 
Data Quality Policy that details 
the expectations, processes 
and principles that support the 

collection and management 
of information to achieve 
high standards. It sets out the 
key stages for information 
management, outlines the 
principles to be followed and 
the main processes that support 
information quality assurance.

• Performance management 
of data quality via Trust and 
Divisional meetings, the Clinical 
Coding function, and the 
IM&T Information Team. These 
groups used key performance 
indicators on internal and 
external timeliness, validity and 
completion of patient data, 
including Dr Foster comparative 
analysis information. Areas of 
poor performance are identified, 
investigated and plans agreed for 
improvement.

• Continued work to reduce data 
quality problems at the point 
of data entry through improved 
system design, changes to 
software, and targeted support 
for system users. 

• Working towards delivering real 
time admission, discharge and 
transfer recording across more 
ward areas, thereby supporting 

improved patient tracking and 
bed management. 

• Supporting training and 
education programmes for 
all staff involved in data 
collection, including Information 
Governance training and 
the provision of information 
guidance.

• Maintaining a programme of 
regular internal audit, including 
data quality, record keeping, 
health records management, 
information governance and 
clinical coding audit.

• Continued to maintain and 
develop improved compliance 
with the Information Governance 
Toolkit standards.

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust was subject 
to one Payment by Results clinical 
coding audit during the reporting 
period by the Audit Commission. 
This included Ophthalmology out-
patients, General Medicine and 
Obstetrics inpatients. This report 
is still in draft form and results will 
be updated in the 2013/14 quality 
account.
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From 2012/13 all trusts are required 
to report against a core set of 
indicators relevant to the services 
they provide, for at least the last 
two reporting periods, using a 
standardised statement set out 
in the NHS (Quality Accounts) 
Amendment Regulations 2012, This 
data is presented in the same way 
in all quality accounts published in 
England. This allows the reader to 
make a fair comparison between 
hospitals if they choose to.   

As required by point 26 of the NHS 
(Quality Accounts) Amendment 
Regulations 2012, where the 
necessary data is made available 
by the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre, a comparison is 
made of the numbers, percentages, 
values, scores or rates of each 

of the NHS foundation trust’s 
indicators with 

a) the national average for the 
same; and 

b) those NHS trusts and NHS 
foundation trusts with the 
highest and lowest of the same. 

Our hospital mortality rating
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
foundation trust by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre with 
regard to— 

a) the value and banding of the 
summary  hospital-level mortality 
indicator (“SHMI”)  for the trust 
for the reporting period; and 

b) the percentage of patient deaths 
with palliative care coded at 
either diagnosis or specialty level 
for the trust for the reporting  
period is included to give context. 

The University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons, 
taken from national dataset using 
data provided. 

The University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust has taken the following 
actions to improve the indicator and 
percentage in (a) and (b), and so 
the quality of its services, see part 3 
review of services 

Our standard core indicators of quality

 Reporting Period

 P01610 - Oct 2011 - Sep 2012 
uploaded Apr-13 next version due Jul-13

P01571 - July 2011 - June 2012 
uploaded Jan-13 next version due Apr-13

Value OD_Banding Value OD_Banding

UHS 0.9332 2 0.9079 2

National Ave 1.0005 2.06 1.0022 2.04

Highest Trust Score 1.2107 3 1.2559 1

Lowest Trust Score 0.6849 1 0.7108 3

 P01533 - Apr 2011 - Mar 2012 
uploaded Oct-12 next version due Jan-13

Value OD_Banding

UHS 0.9212 2

National Ave 1.0023 2.04

Highest Trust Score 1.2475 1

Lowest Trust Score 0.7102 3

http://nww.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/

a) the value and banding of the summary hospital-level mortality indicator (“SHMI”)

Note: This shows that our overall 
standardised mortality is below the 
national average.



55

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2012/13

 Reporting Period

 P01612 - Oct 2011 - Sep 2012 

uploaded Apr-13 next version due 

Jul-13

P01573 - July 2011 - June 2012 

uploaded Jan-13 next version due 

Apr-13

P01535 - Apr 2011 - Mar 2012 

uploaded Oct-12 next version due 

Jan-13

Treatment 

Rate

Diagnosis 

Rate

Combined 

Rate

Treatment 

Rate

Diagnosis 

Rate

Combined 

Rate

Treatment 

Rate

Diagnosis 

Rate

Combined 

Rate

UHS 13.2 25.6 27 12.8 26.3 27.6 13.4 27.2 28.6

National Ave 1.43 19 19.2 1.4 18.4 18.6 1.4 17.9 18.1

Highest Trust Score 16.7 43.3 43.3 17.9 46.3 46.3 19.7 44.2 44.2

Lowest Trust Score 0 0.2 0.2 0 0.3 0.3 0 0 0

 Reporting Period

 P01611 - Oct 2011 - Sep 2012 

uploaded Apr-13 next version due 

Jul-13

P01572 - July 2011 - June 2012 

uploaded Jan-13 next version due 

Apr-13

P01534 - Apr 2011 - Mar 2012 

uploaded Oct-12 next version due 

Jan-13

Treatment 

Rate

Diagnosis 

Rate

Combined 

Rate

Treatment 

Rate

Diagnosis 

Rate

Combined 

Rate

Treatment 

Rate

Diagnosis 

Rate

Combined 

Rate

UHS 0.6 1.2 1.3 0.5 1.2 1.3 0.6 1.2 1.2

National Ave 0.1 1.1 1.1 0.1 1.0 1.0 0.07 1.00 1.02

Highest Trust Score 1 3.2 3.2 1 3.3 3.3 1.1 3.3 3.3

Lowest Trust Score 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

http://nww.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/

Treatment Rate % of admissions with treatment specialty code 315

Diagnosis Rate % of admissions with any diagnosis code of Z515

Combined Rate % of admissions with  treatment specialty code 315 or any diagnosis code of Z515

b) the percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded at either diagnosis or specialty level

Treatment Rate % of observed deaths with treatment specialty code 315

Diagnosis Rate % of observed deaths with any diagnosis code of Z515

Combined Rate % of observed deaths with treatment specialty code 315 or any diagnosis code of Z515

The figures below provide some context in understanding how the Countess Mountbatten House hospice care 
facility increases the number of patients at UHS overall, that come to us for palliative care. 

the percentage of patient admitted with palliative care coded at either diagnosis or specialty level
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Our Patient Reported Outcomes Measures (PROMS) following hip or knee replacement surgery 

The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
foundation trust by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre with 
regard to the trust’s patient reported 
outcome measures scores for
(iii) hip replacement surgery, and 
(iv) knee replacement surgery, 

during the reporting period. 

The University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that this percentage is as 
described for the following reasons, 
taken from national dataset using 
data provided. 

The University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
has taken actions to improve this 

percentage, and so the quality of 
its services, which are detailed in 
our Trust Board quarterly Outcomes 
report. See part 3 review of services 

Below, our PROMS rating falls 
within the nationally expected range

 Reporting Period

 Apr 2012 -  Dec 2012 
(Provisional - May13)

Apr 2011 - Mar 2012 
(Provisional May13)

Apr 2010 -  Mar 2011 
(Finalised Aug12)

Adjusted average health gain

UHS 0.393 0.417 0.377

National Ave 0.429 0.416 0.405

Highest Trust Score 0.500 0.532 0.503

Lowest Trust Score 0.328 0.306 0.264

 Reporting Period

 Apr 2012 -  Sep 2012 
(Provisional - Feb13)

Apr 2011 - Mar 2012 
(Provisional Feb13)

Apr 2010 -  Mar 2011 
(Finalised Aug12)

Adjusted average health gain

UHS no uhs data 0.289 0.327

National Ave 0.302 0.299

Highest Trust Score 0.385 0.407

Lowest Trust Score 0.18 0.176

PROMS (iii) hip replacement surgery

PROMS (iv) knee replacement surgery

Note: The above tables show that our patients’ health gain from hip and 
knee replacement surgery is broadly in line with national expectations.

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/
article/2021/Website-Search?produ
ctid=11552&q=proms&sort=Most+
recent&size=10&page=1&area=bo
th#top

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/
article/2021/Website-Search?produ
ctid=11551&q=proms&sort=Most+
recent&size=10&page=1&area=bo
th#top

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/
article/2021/Website-Search?produc
tid=8031&q=proms&sort=Relevance
&size=10&page=2&area=both#top
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Our readmissions rate for 
children and adults
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
foundation trust by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre with 
regard to the percentage of patients 
aged— 
(i)  0 to 14; and 
(ii) 15 or over, 

readmitted to a hospital which 
forms part of the trust within 28 
days of being discharged from a 
hospital which forms part of the 
trust during the reporting period. 
The University Hospital 

Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that these percentages 
are as described for the following 

reasons taken from national dataset 
using data provided.

The University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
has taken actions to improve this 
percentage, and so the quality of its 
services, which are detailed in our 
Trust Board quarterly 
Outcomes report.

 Reporting Period (all uploaded Dec-12 next Dec-13)

 Apr 2010 -  Mar 2011 
standardised to persons 
2006/07

Apr 2009 -  Mar 2010 
standardised to persons 
2006/07

Apr 2008 -  Mar 2009 
standardised to persons 
2006/07

Indirectly age, sex, method of admission, diagnosis, procedure standardised percent

UHS 10.44 10.52 10.48

National Ave 10.15 10.18 10.90

Highest Trust Score 25.8 31.4 22.73

Lowest Trust Score 0 0 0

Lowest Trust Score 
(non-zero)

3.53 3.7 3.32

 Reporting Period (all uploaded Dec-12 next Dec-13)

 Apr 2010 -  Mar 2011 
standardised to persons 
2006/07

Apr 2009 -  Mar 2010 
standardised to persons 
2006/07

Apr 2008 -  Mar 2009 
standardised to persons 
2006/07

Indirectly age, sex, method of admission, diagnosis, procedure standardised percent

UHS 11.33 11.09 11.08

National Ave 11.42 11.16 10.90

Highest Trust Score 22.93 22.09 29.42

Lowest Trust Score 0 0 0

Lowest Trust Score 
(non-zero)

2.38 3.22 2.32

Readmissions within 28 days <16

Readmissions within 28 days 16+

Note: NHS information centre data is presented for ages less than 16 years 
and 16 years and over. This is the most recent data available.
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Our patient experience score for 
responsiveness to the personal 
needs of patients
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
foundation trust by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre with 
regard to the trust’s responsiveness 
to the personal needs of its patients 

during the reporting period. 
The University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons 
taken from national dataset using 
data provided. 

The University Hospital Southampton 

NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
actions to improve this percentage, 
and so the quality of its services, 
which are detailed in our Trust Board 
quarterly Outcomes report.

Present, in a table format, the data 
for at least the last two reporting 
periods.

The percentage of our staff who 
would recommend this trust as a 
provider of care, to their family 
or friends
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
foundation trust by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre with 
regard to the percentage of staff 
employed by, or under contract 

to, the trust during the reporting 
period who would recommend the 
trust as a provider of care to their 
family or friends. 

The University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust considers that 
this percentage is as described for 
the following reasons; taken from 
national dataset using data provided.

The University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
has taken actions to improve this 
percentage, and so the quality of 
its services, which are detailed in 
our Trust Board quarterly patient 
experience report.

 Reporting Period (all uploaded Mar13 next tbc)

 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

Average Weighted Score

UHS 64.2 64.8 64.6

National Ave 67.4 67.3 66.7

Highest Trust Score 85 82.6 81.9

Lowest Trust Score 56.5 56.7 58.3

 Reporting Period (uploaded Dec12)

 2011

Agreed or Strongly Agreed

UHS 67%

National Ave (All Trusts) 60%

National Ave (Acute Trusts) 65%

National Ave (Specialist Trusts) 86%

Highest Trust Score (All) 96%

Highest Trust Score (Acute) 89%

Lowest Trust Score (All) 21%

Lowest Trust Score (Acute) 33%

Responsiveness to Personal Needs of patients

Percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the 
trust during the reporting period who would recommend 
the trust as a provider of care to their family or friends
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The percentage of our patients 
that were risk assessed for 
venous thromboembolism (VTE 
Blood clot) 
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
foundation trust by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre with 
regard to the percentage of patients 

who were admitted to hospital and 
who were risk assessed for venous 
thromboembolism during the 
reporting period. 

The University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust considers that 
this percentage is as described for 
the following reasons: taken from 

national dataset using data provided.

The University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
actions to improve this percentage, 
and so the quality of its services, 
which are detailed in our Trust Board 
quarterly report.

The rate per 100,000 bed days 
of cases of C.difficile infection in 
our Trust 
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
foundation trust by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre with 
regard to the rate per 100,000 bed 
days of cases of C.difficile infection 

reported within the trust amongst 
patients aged 2 or over during the 
reporting period. 

The University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this rate is as described for 
the following reasons; taken from 
national dataset using data provided.

The University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
actions to improve this percentage, 
and so the quality of its services, 
which are detailed in our Trust Board 
quarterly Outcomes report.

 Reporting Period

 2012/13 Q3 2012/13 Q2 2012/13 Q1 2011/12 Q4 2011/12 Q3

UHS 94.4% 92.6% 92.8% 92.3% 91.5%

National Ave (Acute Providers) 94.1% 93.8% 93.4% 92.5% 90.7%

Highest Trust Score (Acute Providers) 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Lowest Trust Score (Acute Providers) 84.6% 80.9% 80.8% 69.8% 32.4%

 Reporting Period

 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

UHS 17.7 24.2 33

National Ave 21.8 29.6 36.7

Highest Trust Score 51.6 71.8 85.2

Lowest Trust Score 0 0 0

Lowest Trust Score (non-zero) 1.9 3.2 2.4

Percentage of patients who were admitted to hospital and who were risk assessed for 
venous thromboembolism

Rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of C.difficile infection reported within the trust 
among patients aged 2 or over 

http://transparency.dh.gov.uk/2012/01/15/vte-information/
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The rate per 100 admissions, of 
patient safety incidents reported  
in our Trust. 
The data made available to the 
National Health Service trust or NHS 
foundation trust by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre with 
regard to the number and, where 
available, rate of patient safety 
incidents reported within the trust 
during the reporting period, and 

the number and percentage of such 
patient safety incidents that resulted 
in severe harm or death. 

The University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this number and/or rate is as 
described for the following reasons; 
taken from national dataset using 
data provided.

The University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
actions to improve this percentage, 
and so the quality of its services, 
which are detailed in our Trust Board 
quarterly Safety report.

Report the rate as per 100 patient 
admissions or per 1000 bed days, 
where data is available. 

Where the necessary data is made 
available to the trust by the Health 
and Social Care Information Centre, 
a comparison of the numbers, 
percentages, values, scores or rates 
of the trust with— 

(a) the national average for the       
 same; and 

(b) with those National Health Service 
trusts and NHS foundation trusts 
with the highest and lowest of the 
same, for the reporting period. 

We have robust processes in place 
to capture incidents. However there 
are risks at every Trust relating to the 
completeness of data collected for all 
incidents (regardless of their severity) 
as it relies on every incident being 
reported.  Whilst we have provided 
training to staff and there are various 
policies in place relating to incident 
reporting, this does not provide 
full assurance that all incidents are 
reported.  We believe this is in line 
with all other Trusts.
 

There is also clinical judgement 
in the classification of an incident 
as “severe harm” as it requires 
moderation and judgement against 
subjective criteria and processes. 
This can be evidenced as 
classifications can change once 
they are reviewed. Therefore, it 
could be expected that the number 
of severe incidents could change, 
so the figure reported could change 
from that shown here due to this 
review process.

 Reporting Period

Apr-12 to Sep-12 Apr-11 to Sep-11

 Rates per 100 
admissions

Severe and 
Death

Severe and 
Death (%)

Rates per 100 
admissions

Rates per 100 
admissions

Rates per 100 
admissions

UHS 6.42 22 0.5 6.14 47 1.2

National Ave 
(Acute teaching trusts)

7.03 28 0.5 6.6 28.63 0.6

Highest Trust Score 
(Acute teaching trusts)

12.12 86 1.6 9.22 110 2.3

Lowest Trust Score 
(Acute teaching trusts)

2.77 1 0 4.14 1 0

The latest data is 
available at:

incidents that occurred between 1/4/12 - 
30/9/12 and reported to NRLS by 30/11/12

incidents that occurred between 1/4/11 - 
30/9/11 and reported to NRLS by 30/11/11

Number and, where available, rate of patient safety incidents reported within the trust during the 
reporting period, and the number and percentage of such patient safety incidents that resulted in 
severe harm or death
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Review of our services in 2012/13
This part of the Quality Report reviews the Trust’s quality performance in the year 2012/13. 
There are two sections: 

1. A brief report on the quality improvement priorities that were listed in the 2010/11 quality account for 
achievement in 2012/13.

2. A table of quality performance information that gives an overall view of the quality performance of the Trust 
 in 2012/13.
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Our 2012/13 improvement target 
was to achieve a 25% reduction in 
grade 3&4’s to a total of 24, and a 
20% reduction in grade 2’s to a total 
of 223. 

Pressure ulcers are graded using the 
European guidance system from 
grade 1 to grade 4. Grade 4 is the 

most serious. 

Our results for 2012/13 were: 
The Trust has achieved a reduction 
with grade 2 pressure ulcers from 
473 in 2010/11 to 291 in 2012/ 
13, and a reduction for grade 
3&4’s from 78 in 2010/11 to 41 in 
2012/13. 

Compared with other trusts 
nationally, UHS performs highly in 
preventing pressure ulcers.

However we didn’t meet the 
challenging targets we set ourselves 
for this year. We have agreed that 
pressure ulcers will continue to be a 
priority for 2013/14. 

What we did
Participation in the national safety 
thermometer Cquin programme that 
includes reduction of patient harm 
from pressure ulcers.

Full implementation of Nurse in 
charge ward rounds on every 
ward. This supports the turnaround 
process we implemented in 2011/12, 
through oversight of assessment and 
compliance.

We have noticed an increase in 
the number of frail elderly patients 
admitted, especially over the winter 
period. These patients are especially 
prone to developing a pressure ulcer. 
So our patient risk assessments for 
pressure ulcers, and wound care 
policies have been updated with an 

associated clinical standard of 100% 
compliance.

We have improved our 
communications for learning about 
pressure ulcers incidence, and 
provide regular reports to each ward 
matron about any of their patients 
that have a pressure ulcer. 

Our root cause analysis panels 
have continued to enable in depth 
understanding and learning about 
reasons why pressure ulcers occur 
in our hospital, and actions we can 
take to learn from these and prevent 
them happening again. 

We are increasing our training 
and supervision for pressure ulcer 
management, especially for new 

staff on our wards. 
We are relaunching our Turnaround 
project, as this is proven to make a 
difference in reducing patient harms 
from pressure ulcers. We are linking 
this to our ‘Safe Care in Our Hands 
Campaign. This brings together four 
projects:  
•  Raising awareness of incident 

reporting including our new 
eReporting system. This will include 
a feedback process to ensure that 
we can learn more effectively from 
incidents reported)

•  The ‘Speak up, Speak out’ project 
, about how and when to raise 
concerns

•  Implementation of regular safety 
walkabouts 

•  Reviewing how safety information 
is communicated
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There has been an increase incident 
reporting related to diabetes 
however this should be seen as 
part of an improvement journey 
with the first step being to improve 
reporting and reliability of future 
measurement. The incidents are 
analysed and shared with ward 
teams to support understanding and 
learning.
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To Improve Diabetes Care

Our 2012/13 improvement target 
was to achieve:  
To have no insulin ‘never events’, 
and to achieve a 20 % reduction in 
incidents / errors relating to diabetes 
- setting a baseline for this in Q1 & 2. 
“Never events” are defined nationally 
as serious, largely preventable patient 
safety incidents that should not occur. 

Our results for 2012 13 were: 
UHS had no insulin Never Events for 
insulin in 2012/13. 

What we did 
We have improved the information 
for diabetes clinical management 
in the Trust to ensure we meet new 
national best practice. These are 
available both online, and on our new 
mobile phone app- DiAPPbetes:

 Feb 2012 saw the launch of 
“DiAPPbetes”.. This is the first 
smartphone application (APP) for 
Apple iPhone, iPod touch and iPad, 
designed to support the care of adult 
inpatients with diabetes. The APP acts 
as a decision support tool in helping 
non-specialists manage patients with 
diabetes. 

Features include:
•  Touchscreen insulin dose calculator 
•  Guide to manage hypoglycaemia 

for conscious, NBM and 
unconscious patients 

•  Traffic light criteria for specialist 
referral (as per ThinkGlucose) 

•  Top tips on safe use of insulin and 
safe prescribing (link to national 
NHS diabetes safe use of insulin 
included)

The application has had over 
1300 downloads nationally and 
internationally from the Apple iPhone 
App Store since its launch, and is 
rated five stars in reviews.

Daily bedside clinics for patients 
with diabetes
In a three-month pilot project led 
by Dr Mayank Patel, lead consultant 
in diabetes, almost 400 cardiac, 
orthopaedic and vascular patients 
with the condition were seen in 
daily ‘bedside clinics’ by an inpatient 
diabetes team. Around 15% of 
all inpatients at University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
have diabetes. By switching the focus 
on to caring for patients’ diabetes 
before they encounter problems and 

allowing us to dedicate time to them 
and the staff treating them, we have 
seen quite a radical transformation.

The diabetes team, made up of a 
consultant, two specialist nurses, a 
research dietitian and a pharmacist, 
completed full daily reviews, which 
included foot examinations, provided 
information materials to all patients 
and staff, offered bespoke teaching 
sessions to all wards and rectified any 
unsafe or incorrect prescribing.

In addition to preventing 45 potential 
diabetes-related medication errors, 
reducing readmission rates from 
8.91% to 5% and reducing the 
length of inpatient stay– all patients 
surveyed said they were satisfied with 
their overall diabetes care, including 
the number of visits, clarity of 
information and monitoring of 
their condition.

Following the pilot, which was 
recently named one of the best 
inpatient care initiatives of the year at 
the Quality in Care Diabetes Awards, 
planning is underway to extend 
the scheme to the stroke unit and 
surgical wards.
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What we did
Over the past year our developments 
have included:

The FallSafe care bundle has been 
implemented through our falls 
assessment tool and resulting plan 
of care. We are including this in a 
streamlined nursing documentation 
pack to ensure it is readily available 
for all patients that need it. 

We have piloted several types of 
falls prevention alarm (pressure 
pads). These have evaluated well 
and many wards, particularly those 
who have patients at risk from 
falls are keen to begin using the 
equipment more widely. 

Our dementia specialist nurse is 
developing the current prevention 
strategies for preventing falls in 
patients to ensure they meet the 

needs of patients dementia or 
delirium as this group is at very high 
risk of falling. 

Our therapies team has piloted an 
intervention program of structured 
education sessions and clinics for 
patients at risk of falls and their 
carers which has been extremely 
successful. 

Occupational Therapy team 
patient falls improvement
As an orthopaedic therapy team we 
see the majority of fallers across the 
trust. We recognised that our service 
could be improved in terms of falls 
prevention. Some background 
research identified the key objectives 
that we should be meeting. 

Over a period of 18 months, 3 
audits were completed to monitor 
our adherence to these standards. 

Each audit showed a marked 
improvement.

Every patient is now screened for 
their risk of falls and those that are 
identified as high risk follow the ‘falls 
pathway’ which includes receiving 
written information about falls 
prevention, intervention for gait and 
balance issues and a referral to be 
seen in the community on discharge. 

Feedback has been really positive 
and the changes to our practice are 
of huge benefit to both the trust and 
the patients themselves.”

Our additional Patient Improvement 
priorities are summarised in the 
performance tables in section 1.

Falls
Our 2012/13 improvement target was 
a 50% reduction of avoidable high 
harm falls i.e. 8 or less over the year.

Our results for 2012/13 were 
In 2012/13 we had 5 patients that 
suffered avoidable high harm falls. 

There are a further 5 cases awaiting 
validation. We expect to meet this 
improvement target.
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Our 2012/13 improvement 
target was: 
to understand and improve our 
patient feedback on quality of 
the food. 

To ensure all wards manage a 
protected mealtimes for patients and 
those patients that require assistance 
receive it. To improve our nutritional 
screening (MUST) compliance to 
98% of patients, and our nutritional 
care plan compliance to 95%

Our results for 2012 13 were: 
Nearly 90% of wards now manage 
a protected mealtime for patients
Our MUST screening compliance is 
improved to 91.9%

86% of patients that need one, 
have a nutritional care plan

What we did
Catering and Hospital Food 
feedback
The upward trend in the food rating 
has continued a slow improvement. 
The average number of patients 
in who rated the food as poor has 
reduced over the year, from 17% in 
April to 14.94% by March 2013

Protected mealtimes
We identified this as a priority issue 
for our patients through listening to 
patient feedback received in 2011 
that only 60% of our wards were 
able to implement this. 

A sustained approach has resulted 
in a rapid improvement to nearly 
90% of wards implementing 
protected mealtimes by the end of 
2012/13.
 
To improve our nutritional 
screening (MUST) compliance 
We audited an average of 380 
patients every month for MUST 
assessment within 24 hours of 
admission, and fed back results to 
support improvement. The average 
compliance for MUST assessment 
within 24 hours of admission was 
92%. A large proportion of patients 
are admitted via AMU and this is a 
critical place for early identification 
and treatment of malnutrition risk.  

Patient Experience priorities: Our 2012/13 progress 

Nutrition and Hydration 

Of those patients audited and 
identified as being at medium or 
high risk of malnutrition an average 

of 86% had evidence of a MUST 
care plan. The MUST care plans 
have now been redesigned in 

collaboration with nursing staff to 
make them easier to complete.
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Our 2012/13 improvement 
target was:
To keep patients, relatives and carers 
fully informed about their treatment 
plans and care, involving them in 
decision-making. 
To improve the quality of patient 
discharge information provided to 
GPs, and increase the percentage of 
copies of GP letters that are shared 
with patients.

Communication and 
staff attitudes 

Improving complaints received about 
poor communication (primary and 
secondary causes) by 20%. 

Our results for 2012/13 were: 
We have improved over the year, 
but not achieved our 2012/13 
target, with 601 complaints received 
in 2012/13 against an overall 
improvement target of 467.

Improving complaints received 
about poor staff attitudes (primary 
and secondary causes) by 10%. 

We achieved our target, with 146 
complaints received in 2012/13 
against a target of 158 or less.

What we did
We have continued our focus on 
customer care training, with local 
customer care programmes being 
held with teams.

We are piloting a new approach to 
improving patient communications 
and address staff attitudes.

Patient communication: discharge planning and patient information

percentage with care plan Target

Percentage of patients audited who were at medium or high risk of malnutrition 
with evidence of a nutrition care plan
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Our results:  Patient Feedback Comment Cards and e-mails top themes

Month Total No. Total

Praise Delays/waiting times Food Communication Attitude of staff

Apr 35 16 4 4 Not a 5 top theme 6

May 59 21 4 3 Not a 5 top theme 8

June 56 20 8 6 Not a 5 top theme 2

July 56 16 6 4 Not a 5 top theme 13

Aug 71 28 12 4 3 Not a top 5 theme

Sept 42 14 3 2 2 2

Oct 83 29 6 4 4 Not a top theme

Nov 43 16 8 2 Not a 5 top theme 4

Dec 46 21 3 3 3 3

Jan ’13 25 14 1 1 1 1

Further detail about how we use our wider complaints feedback to prioritise 
improvement is included in the final section: ‘How we monitor and report on quality’.

Discharge information

To increase the % of GP letters that are shared with patients

Our 2012/13 improvement 
target was: 
To increase the % of GP letters that 
are shared with patients.

Our results for 2012 13 were: 
We improved the quality of our 
discharge information across a 
range of measures, and increased 
use of our comprehensive electronic 
discharge form to 96% of 
summaries written.

What we did
Discharge Summary audits are an 
essential aspect of measuring best 
practice with clinical record keeping. 

The NHS Litigation Authority has 
positioned discharge summary 
audits on its criteria for the 
assessment of risks. 

Since it started, this clinical audit 
has led to improvements such as 
the introduction of an electronic 
discharge summary. The number 
of complaints relating to clarity 
and appropriate information, 
being given to the GP and patient, 
following discharge, has decreased 
over recent years.  

Our results
The discharge summary audit is 

comprehensive and covers a range 
of measures, including: 

Reason for admission and 
presenting complaints improved 
from 96% in 2010/11 to 100%, 
Including clinical narrative improved 
from 87% in 2010/11 to 98% in 
November 2012. 

Use of the comprehensive electronic 
discharge tool improved from 90% 
in 2010/11 to 96% in November 
2012. This may have supported the 
wide range of further improvements 
made in addition to those 
highlighted above.

Our audit results for Information 
given to patient improved from 
44% in 2010/11, to 56% in the 

November 2012 audit.
Patients concerns, expectations 
and wishes have been documented 

improved from 13% in 2010/11 to 
78% in November 2012.
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Our 2012/13 improvement 
target was
To Implement a new Delirium and 
dementia pathway

Our results for 2012/13 were: 
We have made many improvements 
to our care of patients who have 
dementia. In addition to meeting 
our Cquin ambitions of 90% 
of patient being screened for 
dementia, with further assessment 
and referral where relevant, we 
have made some changes to our 
ward environment to better meet 
the needs of these patients, as 
detailed below.  

What we did
In a pioneering project, staff at 
Southampton General Hospital 
have created a 28-bed ‘dementia-
friendly’ ward which was officially 
opened in September 2012, and 
introduced the UK’s first hospital-
based specialist nurse.

The development, led by matron 
Jill Young and her team in the 
medicine for older people unit, 
has been hailed a breakthrough 
moment for dementia patients and 
their families. 

“We know dementia patients can 
be extremely confused in a hospital 

environment, particularly when 
they require medical treatment, and 
relatives are often concerned their 
dementia needs are neglected in 
the absence of carers or family,” 
explained Jill.

Among the innovations are brightly 
coloured doors to help patients 
remember which bay they are 
staying in and images such as 
umbrellas, lighthouses and starfish 
instead of bed numbers to provide a 
visual memory aid.

Doors patients do not need to enter, 
such as cleaning stores and staff 
offices, blend in with surrounding 
walls, while the nurses’ station 
has been lowered and renamed 
‘reception’ to improve accessibility 
and ensure patients feel more 
comfortable to approach.

Additionally, paperwork is locked in 
cupboards out of sight to keep the 
area clutter-free and visiting time 
restrictions have been lifted to give 
access to carers and relatives at any 
time of the day or night.

Jill added: “We have worked hard 
to focus on the small things, like 
colour recognition, less clutter, 
better communication between 
staff and patients, to prevent 

further confusing patients and to 
give them and their families a sense 
of normality and we look forward 
to assessing the impact it has.” 

Until now, mental health nurses 
who specialise in dementia care, 
known as Admiral Nurses, have 
formed part of community nursing 
teams. In the newly-created hospital 
post, Jeni Bell, a former clinical lead 
Admiral Nurse in the community, 
will shadow clinical staff and 
oversee a training and development 
programme which will look at 
understanding patients’ body 
language and how to handle those 
who do not interact verbally.

Barbara Stephens, chief executive 
of Dementia UK, said: “This project, 
particularly the introduction of the 
first Admiral Nurse specialist to be 
based in a large acute hospital, is a 
breakthrough moment in the care 
of dementia patients in hospital and 
a model of what we want – and 
need – to see across the country.”

Our additional Patient Improvement 
priorities are summarised in the 
performance tables in section 1.

Address the Needs of vulnerable people
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Our 2012/13 our aim was: 
To reduce the Trust’s overall HSMR 
to 95 by the end of March 2013.

Our results for 2012/13 were: 
Our most recent HSMR result is 97.7 
(Better than nationally expected) for 
quarter 3. The national ‘expected 
score’ is 100. Our most recent 
SHMI is 90.8 (Better than nationally 
expected). The national ‘expected 
score’ is 100.

HSMR is a benchmarking ratio, 

used as an indicator of healthcare 
quality that measures whether 
the death rate at a hospital is 
higher or lower than you would 
expect compared to the general 
population. The results are collated 
nationally and are always published 
3 months in arrears. It is reset 
each year to reflect the national 
performance in the summer. In 
2012 the rebenchmarked value 
raised our predicted HSMR for 
year-end to above our internal 
target set. Because of this, we have 

maintained focus on HSMR as a 
priority for 2013/14, and graded 
ourselves as not achieved. 

The number of patient deaths 
in the Trust has continued to fall 
gradually over the past 6 years.  
We track this as close to real-time 
as possible. Our areas of work to 
improve our mortality rates during 
last year focused on practical 
developments and on improving our 
communications and information 
systems that support patient care.

Patient Outcomes priorities: Our 2012/13 progress 

Reducing the Trust’s Hospital Standardised Mortality Rate 

Our results

UHS in-hospital deaths, excluding palliative care 2006-2013

Our SHMI performance compared to other hospitals is demonstrated below (UHS on far left of graph). 
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What we did
A summary of three of the supporting practical developments to achieve this are included below:
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In 2012/13, our Aim was: 
To improve the effectiveness of 
our Accident and Emergency 
performance. Five areas were 
chosen to work with in 2012/13.

Our results for 2012/13 were: 
Unplanned re-attendances
Clinical advice is that a range 
between 1% and 5% suggests 
optimal care. As a Trust, unplanned 
re-attendances are 7.3% for Qtr 3.

Total time spent in the A&E 
department
We aimed to improve the time 
taken, and monitoring of care 
to ensure patients do not have 
excessive waits in A&E before 
leaving the department.  We aimed 
for 95% of our patients to wait 
4 hours or less. Over the year, we 
achieved 95 percent of our patients 
waited 4 hrs 58 minutes, or less.

Left without being seen
We aimed to improve patient 
experience and reduce the clinical 
risk to patients who leave A&E 
before receiving the care they 
need. The ‘left without being seen’ 
target rate was below 5%.  Our 
rates ranged from 4% to 2.9% 
over the year. Regular reporting 
has now been set up to review any 
patient left without being seen and 
returning within 48 hours.

Time to initial assessment
Our aim was to reduce clinical 
risk associated with the time the 

patient spends un-assessed in A&E 
with 95 percent of our patients 
waiting for assessment less than15 
minutes. A new agreed pathway 
within majors was developed that is 
both consistent with the ethos and 
principles of initiating a ‘meaningful 
assessment’ and meets the time 
requirements of both SCAS and ED. 
Our performance is improved to 3 
minutes to assessment. 

This is a reflection of the 
commencement during November 
of implementing a new system for 
patients that arrive via ambulance 
to be immediately assessed by a 
consultant.

Time to Treatment
We aimed to reduce the clinical 
risk and discomfort associated with 
the time the patient spends before 
their treatment begins in A&E to 
a median of 60 mins or less, from 
arrival to seeing a decision-making 
clinician across all patients. Our 
median is now improved to 1 hr 09 
minutes. 

Emergency Pathway: Childrens 
Air Ambulance 
The country’s first dedicated air 
ambulance for children has made its 
first landing at UHS. The Children’s 
Air Ambulance (TCAA), launched as 
part of a new national emergency 
air transfer service, will fly critically 
ill babies and children from district 
hospitals to specialist centres in 
England and Wales. 

Since December, TCAA has 
completed three successful missions 
and is in the process of visiting 
the country’s five lead paediatric 
intensive care units – including 
Southampton General Hospital – 
for familiarisation. 

Although it will operate under 
national charity The Air Ambulance 
Service (TAAS), it will not attend 
rescues like other air ambulances 
but will solely undertake emergency 
transfers of children already in 
hospital. 

Around 6,000 babies and children 
suffering from severe illnesses or 
injuries, such as meningitis, heart 
conditions or major trauma, need 
urgent specialist treatment every 
year and, with TCAA, transfer 
times will be reduced from hours to 
minutes compared with the same 
journeys by road. 

Dr Iain Macintosh|, director of the 
paediatric intensive care unit| at 
UHS, said: “Once we have this 
vital service up and running, it will 
provide an incredible safety net for 
the whole country. 

“Hundreds of children who would 
have been at risk from longer 
travelling times will no longer 
be at risk and that is a major 
development in the care of critically 
ill children.” 

Emergency pathway
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In 2012/13, our Aim was: 
To develop a service model for 24/7 
safe care for adults and children 
during 2012/13. 

Our results for 2012/13 were: 
We have developed a 3 part plan to 
strengthen this covering:

Leadership and Culture to develop 
service model team including PAH 
and RSH; 

Education and training To include 
staff that only work nights

Developing the service models for 
adult, and for child health.

What we did
Our Hospital at Night programme is 
clinically driven, using teams with skills 
crossing professions and specialties. 
The hospital at night approach adds 
support to medical training and service 
delivery and aims to achieve safer care 
by having staff with a full range of 
skills and competencies to meet the 
immediate needs of patients.  

The Emergency department assault 
data team play a key role in a 
city-wide initiative to improve the 
safety and enjoyment of the night-
time economy for Southampton 
residents and visitors.  

They provide a weekly report of 
anonymous data to Southampton’s 
community safety team about 
emergency department (ED) 
attendances following assault. This 

provides valuable information to 
the police and council staff who 
are then able to use it to plan 
interventions to reduce crime 
and disorder at night within the 
city centre. 

This has included the ICE (in case of 
emergency) bus, street pastors, taxi 
marshals and a yellow card scheme. 

This multiagency approach began in 

2006 and has dramatically reduced 
violent crime (down by 67%) and 
admissions to ED (down by 22%).  

In December 2011 this initiative was 
the overall winner at the national 
Home Office’s Tilley Awards for 
Problem Orientated Partnerships.
The team was runner up at the 
UHS NHS FT Hospital Heroes 2012 
awards held on Thursday, 7 
March 2013. 

In 2012/13, our Aim was: 
reduce on-ward cardiac arrests, 
particularly those due to ‘pulseless 
electrical activity’ (PEA) 
improve early recognition 
and management of patient 
deterioration 

Our results for 2012/13 were: 
We have reduced the number of 
cardiac arrests due to pulseless 
electrical activity by 28% this year.
We have achieved 94% of 
completed observation of 
acuity scores. 

What we did
We have improved our processes for 
the escalation of care for patients 
showing deterioration, by increased 
training for the nursing and medical 
staff. This includes using the 
modified early warning monitoring 
system (MEWS) tool. 

Although the number of MEWS 
activations has stayed about the 
same, there has been a slight 
decrease in admissions with a 
marked improvement overall in 
delays in admission >1hr.  The 
number of patients receiving 

assessment continues to improve, 
with fewer patient triggering MEWS 
more than one time. These results 
demonstrate improved recognition 
and management prior to admission 
into GICU. 

The national average for return of 
spontaneous circulation (ROSC) is 
35 – 40%. Less than 20% patients 
survive to discharge. Our hospital’s 
outcomes are much better than this 
and our results at UHS are: 51% 
achieve ROSC and 29% of these 
patients are discharged home. 

Out of hours and hospital at night

Improving Night Time Safety

Identifying deteriorating patients more quickly, to improve 
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Children being treated in intensive 
care at Southampton’s university 
hospitals have a better chance of 
surviving the most serious illnesses 
and injuries. 

The latest Paediatric Intensive Care 
Audit Network (PICAnet) report, 
coordinated by the universities of 
Leeds and Leicester, shows the 
paediatric intensive care unit (PICU) 
at Southampton General Hospital 
is the sixth largest by admissions 
and has the best recovery rate in 
the country. 

As part of the audit, each 
hospital receives a score based 
on how ill patients were and 
how many survive, known as the 
standardised mortality ratio, with 
hospitals expected to meet the 
average of 1.0. University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust’s score is 33% lower at 0.67. 

The unit, which has 12 beds and 
a 24-hour retrieval team, covers 

Hampshire, Wiltshire, Dorset, 
Surrey, West Sussex,  the Isle of 
Wight, the Channel Islands and 
other parts of the UK and last year 
admitted 971 patients, from birth to 
18 years of age. 

In addition, since 2006, staff in 
PICU have performed advanced 
extracoporeal membrane 
oxygenation (ECMO) treatment for 
critically ill heart patients. 

National figures suggest two out 
of every 100 heart surgery patients 
might require the system, which 
acts as an artificial heart and lung 
by removing blood from the body, 
passing it through a pump which 
acts as the patient’s heart, adding 
oxygen and returning the blood 
back to the patient. 

The latest figures show 62% of 
those who need ECMO after heart 
surgery in Southampton survive 
compared to an international 
average of less than 50%. 

“I am immensely proud of the 
staff on PICU in Southampton 
for having the passion, drive and 
determination to develop this unit 
into a centre of excellence for 
patients not just in the south but 
across the country,” said Dr Michael 
Marsh|, medical director at UHS and 
a consultant in PICU. 

“From staff on the unit, to the 
retrieval team and the ECMO 
service, we have staff at the very 
top of their field and there is no 
greater feeling than knowing 
families feel comforted that their 
children are receiving the best 
treatment possible with the best 
chance of surviving and 
recovering well.” 

Our additional Patient Improvement 
priorities are summarised in the 
performance tables in section 1.

Identifying deteriorating patients more quickly, to improve outcomes
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How we monitor and 
report on quality
The patient improvement 
framework (PIF) focuses on patient 
safety, patient experience and 
patient clinical outcomes and the 
Trust sets improvement targets 
on the PIF quality priorities each 
year. The framework development 
includes our key local or national 
priorities, and any areas of 
concern or needing further 

improvement, identified from our 
quality management systems and 
feedback. We work closely with our 
PCT commissioning colleagues to 
reflect joint priorities in our quality 
contract agreements which also 
support the patient improvement 
framework development and 
delivery of CQUIN targets.

These common PIF themes are also 
mirrored in the Trust’s committee 

structures and high level reporting 
practices. An integrated approach 
ensures that staff understanding of 
quality is embedded throughout the 
organisation and reflected in the 
Trust’s quality dashboards and key 
performance indicators.

Our feedback cycle approach to the 
management and improvement of 
quality informs how we agree our 
priorities for the following year: 

We review the implementation 
status of all National Institute 
for Clinical Excellence (NICE) 
guidance, and National Confidential 
Enquiries (NCE) to risk assess 
any development areas at UHS 
and take action to implement 
recommendations. 

We continue to support the 
use of clinical outcome data to 
assess and improve services with 
participation in national audit, the 
patient reported outcome measures 
programme (PROMS), as well as 
undertaking local audits to continue 
our cycle of quality improvement.

Our annual clinical effectiveness 
conference was held in November 
2012, celebrating audits that have 
led to improved patient outcomes, 
safety and experience, with Dr Sophie 
Staniszewska, Senior Research Fellow 
and Director of Graduate Studies, 
Patient and Public Involvement 
and Patient Experience at the RCN 
Research Institute, University of 
Warwick as keynote speaker.

Patient feedback
Patients and visitors are able to give 
us feedback on the care we provide 
via our website, email, comment 

cards, enquiries through our patient 
support service/PALS and the NHS 
Choices website. We have used 
this feedback to help inform the 
priorities we have set for quality and 
to engage our staff in reviewing 
and improving services. 

From the feedback received from 
our comment cards in 2012/13, the 
top five themes were:

40%  praise for services and/or staff
12%  delays or waiting times
9%    facilities
8%    attitude of staff
7%    food

Further Information about our Trust

Performance 
review

Priority
setting (PIF)

Setting
standards

Planning for
delivery

Implementation

Delivery
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Complaints 
With over 600,000 patients seen a 
year, our complaint rate is very low, 
at less than 0.5%. During the last 
3 years the Trust has worked hard 
to improve the early resolution of 

concerns and complaints.  We are 
also working much more closely 
with our complainants at an early 
stage in the process, focusing 
on early resolution of complaints 
where we can. As a result, we have 

reduced the number of complaints 
investigated via formal process. In 
light of the reduction in the number 
of complaints, we are further 
refining our complaints process in 
2013/14
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The primary theme of all complaints 
received by the Trust is recorded. 
The graph below shows the top 

ten themes of complaints received 
2012/13.  

We review and share complaints 
received to ensure that we learn 
from them Trust wide. Complaints 
and actions are shared via 

governance groups, quarterly 
reports to divisions and patient 
experience report to Trust Board. 
These themes have influenced the 

priorities we have chosen for quality 
improvement in 2013/14.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

UHS annual comparison of complaints received by month

UHS top ten primary complaint themes 2013/13 to date
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Inappropriate medical treatment

Communication/information (written and oral)

Attitude of staff

Admissions, discharge and transfer arrangements

Appointments, delay/cancellation (outpatients)

Inappropriate nursing treatment

Appointments, delay/cancellation (inpatients)

Adverse outcome/reaction
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How our staff values and culture 
drive improvement in quality for 
our patients 
Following the publishing of the 
public inquiry into events at Mid 
Staffordshire NHS Foundation 
Trust (the Francis Inquiry) and the 
Department of Health’s response 
‘Patients First and Foremost’ 
the Trust has undertaken a 
scoping exercise to asses its 
position in relation to the 290 
recommendations made. 

The results of this suggest that 
the majority of the relevant 
recommendations are already firmly 
embedded in practice across the 
organisation or are already part of 
established work streams. However 
in order to follow up the key issue 
within the report, which highlights 
the negative impact culture and 
behaviours can have on the quality 
of care, the Chief Executive has 
commenced a series of listening 
exercises with staff across the trust. 
Further work on this issue and 
regular reports to the trust board will 
be taken forward in the coming year.

In 2011 we launched our People 
Strategy to:
Increase levels of employee well-
being and engagement 
Build a high performing culture
Create an employer brand where 
UHS is recognised as a great place 
to work

Progress is measured through a range 
of measures, including the results of 
the annual staff attitude survey. This 
includes questions on how our staff 
rate the Trust as a place to work year 
on year and the pride which they take 
in working here. 

Last year the results of the staff 
attitude survey also encouraged 
the Trust to prioritise action on 
increasing the take-up of equality 

and diversity training. The 2011 
survey shows we have improved 
to reach the top 20% of NHS 
employers for this measure, 
improving both patient experience 
and staff experience.

The survey results are set out as 41 
key findings. We are above average 
for two thirds of findings and below 
average for 5 findings. Our staff 
report that they work longer hours 
than they should. In 12/13 we will 
continue to reduce pressures on our 
staff encouraging the planning and 
taking of their holidays, maintaining 
low levels of overtime and 
completing the rollout of e-rostering 
to non ward based staff.

On staff engagement, our staff tell 
us we are above average. We are in 
the top 20% of employers for staff 
participation in the survey as this 
year returns increased from 54% 
to 61%. We have also rated as an 
above average NHS employer as a 
place to work or receive treatment. 

68% of staff responded that they 
agreed or strongly agreed to the 
question “if a friend or relative 
needed treatment, I would be 
happy with the standard of care 
provided by this Trust” The national 
median for Acute Trust is 62%. 
Even though we are above average 
we are determined to increase our 
percentage further.

Over the last two years the Trust has 
consulted and developed a new set 
of values. We aim to make these 
values ‘what we do’ – to inspire, 
develop and support every one of 
us to live our values; every patient, 
every colleague, every day. These 
values are about us all helping 
each other to deliver great patient 
experience more consistently – 
involving people who use our 
services, their families, carers, 
staff and partners in continuing to 

improve the experience people have 
using and delivering our services. 
They were created by a full staff 
engagement exercise following one-
to-ones and small group interviews 
with over 150 staff members.  

Our values are: 
Patients First: Patients, carers 
and families lie at the heart of 
everything we do. Their experience 
of the hospital and their perception 
of the Trust, are our measures of 
success.

Working Together:  Our clinical, 
technical and support staff are 
all crucial to providing successful 
services. We work together for 
maximum effect, and collaborate to 
make internal boundaries invisible to 
patients.

Fresh Thinking: We incorporate 
new ideas, technologies and 
greater efficiencies in the services 
we provide. We value research 
and education as drivers of future 
innovation and development, 
and also recognise our individual 
responsibility for improvement.

The values are being embedded in 
the Trust in many different ways, 
for example.  

We regularly review our communication 
in the way we talk and write, both with 
each other and also with our patients. 
Our values will be included in our 
recruitment and selection processes, as 
well as our staff appraisals. 

Our training and induction courses 
ensure our values are identified in 
the new skills learned. 

Hospital Heroes, our staff recognition 
scheme, is judged including our 
values as the criteria. That way, the 
values and behaviours we set store 
by are always at the forefront. 
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Assurance and compliance
The Trust Board is accountable for 
the systems of assurance, internal 
control and risk management and 
monitors these on a quarterly basis. 
The Chief Executive is responsible 
for ensuring the delivery of a high 
quality service to patients and for 
the delivery of and compliance with 
assurance, quality and 
performance targets. 

For operational delivery, this 
responsibility is delegated to the 
Medical Director and the Director of 
Nursing for governance and quality 
and to the Chief Operating Officer for 
performance targets. To achieve this 
we have clear systems and processes 
in place. Our quality governance 
strategy has been developed to 
ensure that Quality Governance is an 
integral part of Trust business and is 
at the heart of our clinical practice 
and service provision. It includes 
further details about the practical 
steps we have taken to support 
assurance and compliance for clinical 
quality improvement.

Board engagement
Over the last year, the Trust Board 
has actively embedded the key 
components of quality into its 
approach and work programme 
development, for example through 
Board development seminars; 
undertaking visits to the clinical 
divisions; talking to frontline staff 
and patients, and ensuring the Trust 
is compliant with the Clinical Quality 
Commission’s (CQC) ‘Essential 
Standards of Quality and Safety’. 
The Trust Board has also reviewed 
the recommendations of nationally 
relevant external reports and 
publications for quality, and taken 
forward actions as appropriate.

The Board uses its ‘quality pyramid’ 

early alerts tool, integrating 
financial and quality high level 
performance. This  assures that 
effective management of financial 
resources does not have a negative 
impact on the delivery of a high 
quality service.

The Quality Governance Steering 
Group (QGSG) ensures that there 
is an annual comprehensive 
programme of quality improvement 
for the care of patients, and reports 
to the Trust Board. The Committee 
also ensures that clear lines of 
accountability exist within the Trust 
for the overall quality of clinical care. 

The Trust’s Patient Improvement 
Framework (PIF), forms the basis of 
the Quality Governance Framework. 
Monitoring of quality is undertaken 
through quarterly Patient Safety, 
Patient Experience, Clinical 
Outcomes & Effectiveness and 
Regulatory Assurance Reports as 
well as ward accreditation, clinical 
dashboards and other 
performance indicators.

The Board also undertakes 
Divisional Performance Reviews and 
regular visits to Divisions to review 
delivery of the quality agenda.

Regulation
In October 2012 the CQC 
undertook an inspection visit to the 
SGH site. It reported that patients 
and relatives were overwhelmingly 
positive about the staff and the care 
they had received, and that the staff 
were incredibly hard working. 

Many of the wards CQC visited 
were compliant against the 
standards but in a small number, 
specific issues were observed that 
did not reflect our quality standards 
or our clinical policies and practices. 

As a result of this CQC found minor 
concerns related to three outcomes 
and moderate concerns with the 
staffing related outcome. 

A comprehensive action plan was 
submitted to the CQC and the Trust 
Board are overseeing achievement 
of the plan through the Director of 
Nursing and a monthly Task and 
Finish Group, who will ensure delivery 
of the key actions to demonstrate full 
compliance to the CQC, the majority 
of which were completed by the end 
of March 2013.

In December CQC also undertook 
their first inspection of the Princess 
Ann Hospital (PAH) and reported 
that mothers and partners were 
very positive about the care they 
received and their consultation and 
involvement in decision making. The 
outcome of the PAH inspection was 
that the two outcomes reviewed 
were found to be fully compliant 
with the Essential Standards of 
Quality and Safety.

Clinical standards accreditation
The National Health Service 
Litigation Authority (NHSLA) is 
a national body which works to 
improve risk management practices 
in the NHS and attainment of 
NHSLA Risk Management Standards, 
which provide assurance that 
risk management and safety are 
embedded into practice, is an 
important achievement for the Trust.  

We met Level 2 requirements in 
Maternity Services in September 
2010 and Level 3 requirements – 
the highest level of assurance – for 
our Acute Services in December 
2011. Our maternity services will 
undergo reassessment in September 
2013 when we aim to achieve Level 
3 compliance.
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Overview of the quality of 
care offered by University 
Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust
The information below summarises 

our achievement for performance 
across all of the indicators chosen 
in our patient improvement 
framework since 2008/09, and the 
Monitor Compliance Framework 

requirements. These are reported 
fully each month in our Trust Board 
performance reports.

Key Performance Indicators

Key targets 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2012/13
Targets

Comment

A&E patients, % admitted, 
transferred or discharged < 
4 hours (UHS & Partners)

97% 95.1% 94.3% >= 95% Achieved 1 quarter out of 4. 
Actions are in place to improve 
this measure. See our Board 
reports for more details

18 weeks – Admitted 
patients treated within 18 
weeks

87.2% 90.0% >= 90% Maintain >= 
90%

Achieved all 4 quarters

18 weeks – Non admitted 
patients treated within 18 
weeks

95.3% 95.0% >= 95 Maintain >= 
95%

Achieved all 4 quarters

18 weeks - Patients 
currently waiting on an 
18 week pathway within 
18 weeks (Incomplete 
pathways)

Not 
measured

Not 
measured

>= 92% in 
quarters 2 & 3

Maintain >= 
92%

Achieved 2 quarters out of 4 
Actions are in place to improve 
this measure. See our Board 
reports for more details

6 weeks - Maximum 
waiting times for 15 key 
diagnostics tests

31 pts 0.07% 0.06% <1% Achieved all 4 quarters

Cancers: 2 week wait 
(Urgent GP/ GDP referral) 
to first hospital assessment

96% 95.8% 95.3% >= 93% Achieved all 4 quarters

All breast symptoms: 
referral to first hospital 
assessment

95.8% 98.5% 97.0% >= 93% Achieved all 4 quarters

Cancers: 31 days (Decision 
to treat) to first treatment

97.2% 97.7% 98.5% >= 96% Achieved all 4 quarters

Cancers: 31 days  (decision 
to treat) to 2nd or 
subsequent treatment 
(drugs)

99.8% 99.9% 99.8% >= 98% Achieved all 4 quarters

Cancers: 31 days  (decision 
to treat) to 2nd or 
subsequent treatment 
(surgery)

95.6% 96.5% 97.9% >= 94% Achieved all 4 quarters

Cancers: 31 days  (decision 
to treat) to 2nd or 
subsequent treatment 
(radiotherapy)

97% 98.9% 99.0% >= 94% Achieved all 4 quarters

Cancers: 62 days Urgent 
GP referral to treatment

87% 88.2% 89.5% >= 85% Achieved all 4 quarters
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Key Performance Indicators

Key targets 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
March 13 YTD

2012/13
Targets

Comment

Cancers: 62 days NHS 
Cancer Screening Service 
to treatment

99.6% 93.6% 97.7% >= 90% Achieved all 4 quarters

Cancers: 62 days 
Consultant upgraded 
referral to treatment

89.9% 93% 95.1% >= 85% Achieved all 4 quarters

Last minute cancellations: 
% of elective admissions

0.9% 0.98% 1.21% <= 0.8% Actions are in place to 
improve this measure. See our 
Board reports for more details

Last minute cancellations 
not rescheduled < 28 days

5.8% 9.11% 10.58% <= 5.0% Actions are in place to 
improve this measure. See our 
Board reports for more details

MRSA Bacteraemia 5 cases 4 cases 3 cases <= 4 Achieved

C.Difficile 89 cases 66 cases 36 cases <= 46 Achieved

Stroke pathways
80% of people with stroke 
spend at least 90% of their 
time on a stroke unit

84.9% 80% Achieved

2012/13 has again seen sustained 
performance in many areas across 
the Trust, however demand for 
emergency services (ED attendances 
and direct admissions) have continued 
to increase from last year’s high levels 
leading to significant pressure on the 
Trust’s capacity. This has impacted 
on the Trust’s ED and 18 week 
performance. As well as continuing 
with the actions from 2011/12, the 
Trust has supported achievement of 
patient access targets by developing 
improved patient pathways. Examples 
of this include working with GPs 
to develop a map of medicine for 
more streamlined patient care from 
primary to secondary care and back 
again, and working with local private 
providers to ensure additional capacity 
is available when appropriate to 
reduce patient waiting times.

We work closely with our local 
partners in commissioning and 
in primary care, to develop 
community-wide reforms to 

ensure patients are seen by the 
most appropriate provider, and 
unnecessary attendances at UHS 
are reduced. South West Hampshire 
System consists of:

• NHS Southampton
• NHS Hampshire
• UHS
• South Central Ambulance Service
• Social Services
• Solent Healthcare
• Southampton City Council 

The joint system management 
board is attended by executive 
directors from all organisations, and 
is currently working on specific, 
detailed schemes, linked to national 
and international best practice. This 
collaborative working continues 
with the new clinical commissioning 
groups in 2013/14.

In Collaboration with the wider 
health system, UHS is also working 
to improve patient flow and ensure 

a high level of patient experience 
by reducing delays in discharging 
patients when there is no longer a 
need to be in an acute setting.

Please visit our website 
www.uhs.nhs.uk. Here you will 
find useful further information, 
including:

Clinical effectiveness blog (website 
www.uhs.nhs.uk), explaining some 
of our clinical developments in more 
detail

Annual reports explain how we link 
our broader financial responsibilities 
to providing quality patient care

The Statement of Internal control/
Annual Governance Statement, 
explaining how our audit and 
assurance processes are arranged.
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We are proud of the advances we 
have made in the quality of services 
we provide. However we are not 
complacent and know that we 
are still on a journey to achieve 
excellence in all areas. 

The Quality Report enables 
us to qualify our progress 
comprehensively and agree the 
priorities for 2013/14. Future 

reports will therefore present 
a quantitative delivery against 
a forecast.

We see this as an essential 
vehicle for us to work closely 
with our Council of Governors, 
our commissioners and the local 
and wider community on our 
future quality agenda as well as 
celebrating our successes and 

progress. Working with all our key 
stakeholders including patients 
we are determined to continue 
improving to achieve high quality 
performance in all services. 
As part of our annual quality review 
we will be producing a summary 
leaflet of our progress and new 
quality priorities. This will also 
include patient stories.

Conclusion
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The Trust Board is committed to 
continuously improving quality, and 
sees this as a top priority. It means 
being a world-class provider of 
patient experience, patient safety 
and clinical outcomes. We are 
proud of the achievements of our 
staff, many of whom have been 
recognised nationally for excellence 
in care.

We have a proactive and rigorous 
approach to achievement, using our 
Patient Improvement Framework 
(PIF) to prioritise and drive 
excellence in the Trust. 

We take our part in supporting 
health priorities  community-
wide, working closely with our 
commissioners to develop and 
achieve the ‘Commissioning for 
Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 
programme for local and national 
quality improvement goals.

The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service Quality Accounts 
Regulations to prepare Quality 
Accounts for each financial year. 
Monitor has issued guidance to 
NHS foundation trust boards on the 
form and content of annual quality 
reports (which incorporate the 
above legal requirements) and on 
the arrangements that foundation 
trust boards should put in place 
to support the data quality for the 
preparation of the quality report. 
In preparing the Quality Report, 
directors are required to take steps 
to satisfy themselves that: 

The content of the Quality Report 

meets the requirements set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2012/13; 
The content of the Quality Report 
is not inconsistent with internal 
and external sources of information 
including: 

Board minutes and papers for the 
period April 2012 to May 2013 
Papers relating to quality reported 
to the Board over the period April 
2012 to May 2013 
Feedback from the commissioners 
dated 20/05/2013 
Feedback from governors dated 
23/05/2013
Feedback from Local Healthwatch 
organisations dated 25/05/2013
The trust’s complaints report 
published under regulation 18 of 
the local authority social services 
and NHS complaints regulations 
2009, dated 17/07/2012
The latest national patient survey 
16/04/2013 
The latest national staff survey 
28/02/2013 
The Head of Internal Audit’s annual 
opinion over the trust’s control 
environment dated 20/05/2013 
CQC quality and risk profiles dated 
31/03/2013
External assurance opinion on the 
quality report 25/05/2013

The Quality Report presents a 
balanced picture of the NHS 
foundation trust’s performance over 
the period covered; 
The performance information 
reported in the Quality Report is 
reliable and accurate; 
There are proper internal controls 
over the collection and reporting 
of the measures of performance 

included in the Quality Report, and 
these controls are subject to review 
to confirm that they are working 
effectively in practice; 
the data underpinning the 
measures of performance 
reported in the Quality Report is 
robust and reliable, conforms to 
specified data quality standards 
and prescribed definitions, is 
subject to appropriate scrutiny and 
review; and the Quality Report 
has been prepared in accordance 
with Monitor’s annual reporting 
guidance (which incorporates 
the Quality Accounts regulations) 
(published at www.monitor-nhsft.
gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as 
well as the standards to support 
data quality for the preparation 
of the Quality Report (available 
at www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual)). 

The directors confirm to the best 
of their knowledge and belief they 
have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the 
Quality Report. 

By order of the Board 

Date: 29/05/2013

Chairman

Date: 29/05/2013

Chief Executive 

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 
in respect of the quality report
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Southampton City and West 
Hampshire Clinical Commissioning 
Groups would like to thank 
University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust (UHS) for the 
opportunity to review and provide 
a statement in response to their 
2012/13 Quality Account. The Trust 
need to be congratulated on the 
reductions in healthcare acquired 
infections (MRSA bacteraemia and 
Clostridium difficile) including the 
management of Norovirus which 
resulted in less bed closures than in 
previous years and the significant 
improvement in non-clinically 
justified mixed sex accommodation 
breaches despite the challenges it 
has faced with regard to patient 
flow. Both Clinical Commissioning 
Groups fully support the priorities 
identified for 2013/14 especially the 
focus on reducing hospital acquired 
pressure ulcers and a reduction in 
patients sustaining harm as a result 
of a fall. 

Reviewing the quality account 
commissioners confirm that as far 
as it can be ascertained the quality 
account complies with the national 
requirements for such a report and 
the following are of specific note:

• The report provides information 
across the three domains of 
quality – patient safety, clinical 
effectiveness and patient 
experience

• The mandated elements are 
incorporated into the report

• There is evidence within the 
report that University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust has used both internal and 
external assurance mechanisms

• Commissioners are satisfied 
with the accuracy of the quality 

account, as far as they can 
be based on the information 
available to them

• It is also good to note that the 
Trust has included details of the 
unannounced CQC inspection 
and the progress made with 
resolving the concerns identified 
particularly those related to 
staffing. The CCG’s undertook 
a visit to Southampton General 
Hospital following this visit 
and were pleased to note the 
good progress made with the 
action plans and the strong 
commitment of staff spoken to 
on the day.

It is disappointing to note that 
UHS has had 2 never events  but 
commissioners have seen the 
reports relating to the incidents 
and are confident that measures 
have been put in place to prevent 
them happening again. As both of 
these events related to surgery, the 
Trust has developed a safer surgery 
action plan which commissioners 
will continue to monitor via Clinical 
Quality Review Meetings. 

Commissioners are surprised that 
UHS has not chosen to include a 
priority which focuses on the quality 
of emergency services bearing in 
mind the significant pressure these 
services have been experiencing. 
The also feel that some of the 
priorities UHS have set for 2013/14 
are not defined sufficiently to 
support monitoring and clarity 
about achievement, this may be 
a presentational issue but UHS 
should consider reviewing these. For 
example:

• Patient Safety Priority 3 focused 
on diabetes – commissioners 

are not clear what is meant by 
‘reducing the number of patients 
admitted as emergencies with 
diabetes’ does this relate to care 
in the ED or something else. 

• Patient Experience Priority 2 
focused on maternity services 
– there is no baseline for the 
maternity survey other than 
‘about the same as the average’. 
It would help to have clarity 
about the level of improvement 
expected.

• Clinical Effectiveness Priority 
3 focused on dementia – it is 
noted that they want to identify 
90% of patients with dementia. 
Commissioners would like to 
see them aspiring to achieve 
identification of 100% patients 
with dementia.

It is good to note the level of clinical 
audit that the Trust is participating 
in, which seems to reflect the 
diversity of services provided. For 
future quality reports the Trust may 
want to consider presenting the 
learning outcomes and benefits 
for patients in improved quality of 
services, which would add to the 
depth of the report. 

The Trust may also want to consider 
adding more depth to the report. 
This could be achieved in a number 
of areas including; 

• Adding to the CQUIN summary 
whether or not each scheme was 
achieved.

• Providing details of Safeguarding 
adults and children practice 
within the Trust

• Providing details about the 
innovation in public health 
nursing and compliance with the 
quality assurance programme for 

Response to the Quality Account from Southampton City 
and West Hampshire clinical commissioning groups
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the screening portfolio within 
 the Trust. 

In line with the new requirements 
the Trust has provided the 
additional reporting information 
including benchmarking. For next 
year the Trust may want to consider 
providing a short narrative against 
each indicator including any actions 

planned to improve performance.

As already indicated there are 
a number of extremely positive 
initiatives in this quality account 
including the Patient Improvement 
Framework and the launch of 
the ‘DiAPPbetes’ smart phone 
application a decision support 
tool for non-specialists in the 

management of diabetes, 
Overall Southampton City and West 
Hampshire Clinical Commissioning 
Groups are satisfied that the plans 
outlined in the UHS quality account 
will maintain and further improve 
the quality of services delivered to 
patients.
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Council of Governors welcomed 
the opportunity to comment on the 
Quality Account It is our view that 
it provides an accurate reflection 
of quality improvements within the 
organisation, however we would 
have liked to see more ambitious  

targets in some areas, which 
would help move the Trust towards 
the upper quartile of national 
comparators.

The Governors fully support the 
proposed priorities which aim to 

improve the patient experience and 
quality of care.
 
Margaret Wheatcroft

Chair Patient experience group, 
Council of Governors UHS NHS FT

Response to the Quality Account from our Council of Governors
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Southampton LINk is pleased Once 
again to comment on the quality 
account of the Trust for the year.   
Our overall impression is that it 
gives good coverage of the trust’s 
services and as far as we can judge 
there are no significant omissions.  
We are pleased to report that the 
trust has continued to involved the 
LINk on a number of issues and 
again this year we had a very useful 
Board to Board meeting openly to 
discuss matters of concern to 
both parties.
 
We repeat the observation that 
we made last year that staff at 
all levels and over a wide range 
of roles show a genuine desire to 
improve patient satisfaction and 
we are not surprised that the trust 
is in the top 20% nationally for 
satisfaction at work. Southampton 
LINk has visited and been involved 
in several inspections and has noted 
the very high level of dedication 
of the staff as well as a sense 
of pride. The patient experience 
results were very impressive with 
98% of all and 99% of older 
patients rating their care as good, 
very good or excellent. It was 
particularly encouraging to see this 
backed up by the CQC on their 
visit in October 2012, where they 
reported that patients and relatives 
were overwhelmingly positive. The 
CQC’s comments that staff worked 
incredibly hard is supported by our 
own observations.
 
As Chairman of Southampton 
LINk, I attend the trust’s Quality 
Governance Steering Group and 
LINk was consulted on the patient 
improvement framework and can 
confirm that it is reviewed regularly 
with a genuine desire to improve 
all aspects of patient experience.  
It is nevertheless disappointing that 

2 ‘never events’ were reported 
and although the SIRIs were within 
target we are pleased that attention 
will be given to reducing them still 
further as a priority for the 
coming year.
 
Overall, a review of the ‘key 
targets’ for patient safety, patient 
experience and outcomes is 
very positive but there are some 
notable exceptions and areas for 
improvement. On safety, some of 
the results fell short of target such 
as falls relating to serious accidents;  
avoidable hospital acquired grade 
3 and 4 pressure ulcers and VTE 
for avoidable blood clots. It is 
noteworthy that all three categories 
have been given demanding targets 
for 2013/14 with plans on how to 
improve these figures significantly.
 
We support all the plans to improve 
patient safety and think that the 
priorities listed are correct.  we are 
pleased to see diabetes patients 
specifically mentioned. We support 
the use of electronic data recording 
and agree it should encourage 
better recording and understanding.  
Improving patient experience is very 
important and priority 3 is crucial 
to this. Improving the continuity 
of care for patients when they 
move from one area of treatment 
to another and when they move 
between different organisations 
in the NHS is essential and in 
many ways holds the key to other 
improvements. Comprehensive and 
accurate documentation is essential 
not just between NHS organisations 
but on discharge from hospital 
and is one aspect that receives 
adverse comment from patients at 
present. A daily structured multi-
professional review of patients will 
be good for those patients suffering 
from multiple and possibly long-

term health conditions. It is hoped 
that these actions will help the 
disturbing and increasing problem 
of delayed discharge. The priorities 
for outcomes are supported and 
we approve of the emphasis 
on dementia. The Trust is to be 
congratulated on the start of a 
pioneering project to created a 28-
bed ‘dementia-friendly’ ward and 
introducing the UK’s first hospital-
based specialist nurse.
 
The CQC expressed minor concerns 
over management of medicines 
and also care and welfare of those 
who use their services. However, 
the CQC moderate concern over 
staffing was of concern to the 
LINk and accorded with our own 
observations that the trust were 
too dependent on agency staff.  
We have been assured that this 
is receiving urgent attention and 
understand that recruitment is now 
on track.

The increase in the proportion of 
patients benefitting from protected 
meal times is most encouraging 
as it is our view that this offers an 
opportunity for better patient/nurse 
contact and makes a big difference 
to the patient experience.

It is excellent that the paediatric 
intensive care unit (PICU) at 
Southampton General Hospital is 
the sixth largest by admissions and 
has the best recovery rate in the 
country and staff involved should 
be congratulated.
 
Last year we commented on the 
National performance targets for 
the 18 week pathway and the ED 
waits. It is disappointing that better 
progress was not made. The ED 
waits are very disconcerting. LINk 
fully appreciates the complexity but 

Response to the Quality Account from Southampton LINK
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urges all concerned to address this 
issue. We fully support the concept 
that this needs to be tackled by the 
joint system management board 
as the solution clearly involves a 
number of agencies. It is essential  
that every effort is made to improve 
patient flow and reduce delays in 
discharging patients when there is 
no longer a need for them to be in 
an acute setting. This will not only 
improve efficiency but significantly 
improve patient experience.
 

Of necessity, the quality account of 
a major NHS provider is a long and 
complex document containing a 
number of mandatory statements.  
Nevertheless we are content that 
the Trust has made a good attempt 
to ensure that it is clearly presented 
and understandable to the patients 
and public. As an acute hospital and 
regional provider, UHS faces a year 
on year increase in patient levels 
and it is hoped that they are able to 
achieve their targets for 2013/14 

especially in the areas where they 
currently under achieve. 

Southampton LINk will be 
succeeded by Southampton 
Healthwatch but I am sure the local 
Healthwatch will wish to maintain 
the same honest relationship with 
the trust as enjoyed by LINk

H.F.Dymond

Chairman, Southampton LINk
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We have been engaged by the 
Council of Governors of University 
Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust to perform an 
independent assurance engagement 
in respect of University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust Quality Report for the year 
ended 31 March 2013 (the “Quality 
Report”) and certain performance 
indicators contained therein. 

Scope and subject matter 
The indicators for the year ended 
31 March 2013 subject to limited 
assurance consist of the national 
priority indicators as mandated 
by Monitor: 

• Clostridium Difficile – all cases 
of Clostridium Difficile positive 
diarrhoea in patients aged two 
years or over that are attributed 
to the Trust; and 

• 62 Day cancer waits – the 
percentage of patients treated 
within 62 days of referral 

 from GP. 

We refer to these national priority 
indicators collectively as the 
“indicators”.
  

Respective responsibilities of the 
Directors and auditors 
The Directors are responsible for 
the content and the preparation of 
the Quality Report in accordance 
with the criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual issued by Monitor. 

Our responsibility is to form a 
conclusion, based on limited 
assurance procedures, on whether 
anything has come to our attention 
that causes us to believe that: 

• the Quality Report is not 
prepared in all material respects 
in line with the criteria set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual; 

• the Quality Report is not 
consistent in all material respects 
with the sources specified below; 
and 

• the indicators in the Quality 
Report identified as having been 
the subject of limited assurance 
in the Quality Report are not 
reasonably stated in all material 
respects in accordance with the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual and the six 
dimensions of data quality set 
out in the Detailed Guidance 

 for External Assurance on 
 Quality Reports. 

We read the Quality Report and 
consider whether it addresses 
the content requirements of the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual, and consider 
the implications for our report if 
we become aware of any material 
omissions. 

We read the other information 
contained in the Quality Report and 
consider whether it is materially 
inconsistent with: 

• Board minutes for the period 

April 2012 to May 2013; 
• Papers relating to Quality 

reported to the Board over the 
period April 2012 to May 2013; 

• Feedback from the 
Commissioners dated May 2013; 

• Feedback from local Healthwatch 
organisations dated May 2013;

• The Trust’s complaints report 
published under regulation 18 
of the Local Authority Social 
Services and NHS Complaints 
Regulations 2009, 2012/13; 

• The 2012/13 national patient 
survey; 

• The 2012/13 national staff 
survey; 

• Care Quality Commission quality 
and risk profiles 2012/13; and 

• The 2012/13 Head of Internal 
Audit’s annual opinion over the 
Trust’s control environment.

We consider the implications for 
our report if we become aware 
of any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with those 
documents (collectively, 
the “documents”). Our 
responsibilities do not extend to 
any other information. 

We are in compliance with the 
applicable independence and 
competency requirements of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales (ICAEW) 
Code of Ethics. Our team comprised 
assurance practitioners and relevant 
subject matter experts. 

This report, including the 
conclusion, has been prepared 

2012 -13 LIMITED ASSURANCE OPINION ON THE CONTENT OF THE 
QUALITY REPORT AND MANDATED PERORMANCE INDICATORS

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council of Governors of 
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust on the Quality 
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solely for the Council of Governors 
of University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust as a body, 
to assist the Council of Governors 
in reporting University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust’s quality agenda, performance 
and activities. We permit the 
disclosure of this report within 
the Annual Report for the year 
ended 31 March 2013, to enable 
the Council of Governors to 
demonstrate they have discharged 
their governance responsibilities 
by commissioning an independent 
assurance report in connection with 
the indicators. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Council of Governors 
as a body and University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust for our work or this report 
save where terms are expressly 
agreed and with our prior consent 
in writing. 

Assurance work performed 
We conducted this limited 
assurance engagement in 
accordance with International 
Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) – 
‘Assurance Engagements other 
than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information’ issued by 
the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 
3000’). Our limited assurance 
procedures included: 

• Evaluating the design and 
implementation of the key 
processes and controls for 
managing and reporting the 
indicators. 

• Making enquiries of 
management. 

• Testing key management 
controls. 

• Limited testing, on a selective 

basis, of the data used to 
calculate the indicator back to 
supporting documentation. 

• Comparing the content 
requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual to the 
categories reported in the Quality 
Report. 

• Reading the documents. 

A limited assurance engagement is 
smaller in scope than a reasonable 
assurance engagement. The nature, 
timing and extent of procedures 
for gathering sufficient appropriate 
evidence are deliberately limited 
relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement. 

Limitations 
Non-financial performance 
information is subject to more 
inherent limitations than 
financial information, given the 
characteristics of the subject 
matter and the methods used for 
determining such information.
 
The absence of a significant body 
of established practice on which 
to draw allows for the selection 
of different but acceptable 
measurement techniques which 
can result in materially different 
measurements and can impact 
comparability. The precision of 
different measurement techniques 
may also vary. Furthermore, the 
nature and methods used to 
determine such information, as well 
as the measurement criteria and 
the precision thereof, may change 
over time. It is important to read 
the Quality Report in the context 
of the criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual. 

The scope of our assurance work 
has not included governance over 

quality or non-mandated indicators 
which have been determined locally 
by University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust. 

Conclusion 
Based on the results of our 
procedures, nothing has come to 
our attention that causes us to 
believe that, for the year ended 31 
March 2013: 

• the Quality Report is not 
prepared in all material respects 
in line with the criteria set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual; 

• the Quality Report is not 
consistent in all material respects 
with the sources specified above; 
and 

• the indicators in the Quality 
Report subject to limited 
assurance have not been 
reasonably stated in all material 
respects in accordance with the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual. 

KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

15 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London

Date: 29 May 2013
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Regulation and inspection 
of our services
We are determined to ensure 
that our patients receive the 
highest quality care and we work 
continually to achieve this. By 
looking carefully at our internal 
processes and information and 
through learning from national 
assessments we are able to assure 
ourselves that our care is high 
quality and we are using our 
resources responsibly.

Care Quality Commission
The Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) was formed on 31 March 
2009 to ensure that hospitals and 
other NHS providers meet essential 
standards through its registration 
system and drive improvement by 
conducting reviews of services and 
commissioning. 

In January 2011, the Trust was 
registered with the CQC without 
conditions to provide services at 
five locations. It is now a legal 
requirement of our registration that 
we continually monitor and ensure 
compliance with the essential 
standards of quality and safety.
The standards are grouped into five 
key outcome areas:

• Involvement and information
• Personalised care, treatment and 

support
• Safeguarding and safety
• Suitability of staffing
• Quality and management

Responsibility for ensuring adequate 
processes are in place sits with the 
nursing directorate under director 
of nursing Ms Judy Gillow MBE. 
The report of the latest inspection 
visit can be viewed at 
www.cqc.org.uk

Health and safety
Ensuring the health and safety 
of our patients, staff and visitors 
is a top priority and we regularly 
promote this to our staff. The Trust 
has a positive relationship with the 
Health and Safety Executive and has 
received no improvement notices 
during this reporting period.

Clinical audit
Several hundred clinical audits 
are registered every year with our 
clinical effectiveness department. 
This important work which assures 
us that our care is of a high 
standard is celebrated very year 
in the annual clinical effectiveness 
conference. 

We take part in a range of 
national and local audits in line 
with our priorities for improving 
care as well as those of our 
commissioners. Details of the audits 
we are currently participating in 
can be seen in our Quality Account 
2012/13 on page 29 of this report.

Dr Foster Real Time Monitoring 
(RTM) continues to be widely used 
across the Trust and this means 
we can monitor our outcomes 

compared with those of other similar 
hospitals in England. Data relating 
to mortality is routinely explored 
in specialties and discussed by our 
divisional management teams. 
The Trust’s Hospital Standardised 
Mortality Ratio (HSMR) as well as the 
newly developed Summary Hospital 
Level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) 
statistics are reviewed on a quarterly 
basis. The Trust’s HSMR is within the 
expected range. 

Governing our hospitals
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Our regulator Monitor uses risk 
ratings to assess whether we are 
meeting the commitments we have 
made as a foundation trust to run 
our hospitals effectively.

The financial risk rating is based 
upon five key financial metrics as 
set out in the Monitor Compliance 

Framework. These provide measures 
of the Trust’s financial efficiency, 
liquidity, underlying performance 
and achievement of plan. The Trust 
achieved a consistent risk-rating of 
three for this year.

The governance risk rating is 
based on our performance in 

access targets including the 18 
week referral to treatment target, 
the 4-hour wait in ED target 
and a range of other measures 
including our infection rates. It 
also encompasses whether we are 
legally constituted with the required 
representation on our council of 
Governors.

Our governance risk-rating
During 2012/13 our governance 
risk-rating dropped to amber-red 
or red in three of the four quarters. 
In all three cases this was due to 
a failure to meet our performance 
targets in the emergency 
department and in our ability to 
treat people within 18 weeks of 
their GP referral.

Improving performance in these two 
areas is a major focus for 2013/14 
and we have improvement plans in 

place which have been agreed with 
our local clinical commissioners. 

In the emergency department we 
have sought assistance from a 
national group at the Department of 
Health which specialises in resolving 
problems in emergency pathways. 
This group has helped us develop a 
nationally recommended series of 
actions to restore our performance. 

Although we are treating the vast 
majority of patients within 18 weeks 

we have fallen behind in one area 
of this performance measure and 
are working hard to restore our 
position. It has been an exceptionally 
challenging year with respect to 
access because of the continued 
increase in the number of patients 
coming to UHS for emergency 
treatment. During 2013/14 we are 
investing in more than 80 additional 
beds to increase capacity in order to 
address this issue.

Monitor risk ratings

 Annual plan
2012/13

Q1
2012/13

Q2
2012/13

Q3
2012/13

Q4
2012/13

Financial Risk 
Rating

3 3 3 3 3

Governance risk 
rating

Amber Amber-red Green Amber-red Red

 Annual plan
2011/12

Q3
2012/13

Q4
2012/13

Financial Risk 
Rating

3 3 3

Governance risk 
rating

Amber-green Green Amber-green

Risk ratings during 2012/13 

Risk ratings during 2011/12 
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Involving our patients, staff and the 
local community in the work of the 
Trust remains a priority.

We have continued to run a 
programme of engagement events 
throughout the year, from our well 
established hospital open day to 
medicine for members evenings in 
specialties of the hospital.

This year we held events on 
orthopaedics, diabetes, major 
trauma and cancer. For the first 
time these specialist evenings were 
taken off site into the communities 
we serve – including the New Forest 
and central Southampton.

At the end of September 2012, over 
2,500 members of the public had 
the opportunity to see behind the 
scenes of a large teaching hospital 

at our annual open day.
This was the fourth open day the 
Trust had held and the ‘back to the 
future’ themed event involved more 
than 60 activities, including tours of 
the mortuary, theatres, the helipad 
and the cancer research UK labs. Over 
200 staff were involved in making 
the day a success and many reflected 
the theme showing how areas of 
medicine have changed over time.  

The Council of Governors continues 
to represent the hospital’s 20,000 
members made up of staff, patients, 
local people and carers. They attend 
all events throughout the year and 
there is always the opportunity for 
them to answer and respond to any 
questions or concerns members have.

Working groups on strategy, patient 
experience, staff experience and 

membership engagement continue 
to support the Trust in moving 
forward with the 2020Vision.

Younger persons representatives were 
recruited to the Council of Governors 
last year to support engagement 
of under 21s. They have set up a 
Facebook page attracting over 500 
new followers and organised an 
event to get young people’s views on 
the plans for Southampton Children’s 
Hospital which involved a tour of our 
current services.

At the end of the year we carried 
out a survey of all members to find 
out what areas of the hospital they 
are interested in and how involved 
they would like to be. The results 
will help us in preparation for the 
Council of Governors elections in 
summer 2013.

Working with our community

Constituency Number Percentage

Southampton City 4190 34.66%

New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley 5040 41.72%

Rest of England 1490 12.33%

Isle of Wight 1178 9.75%

Not known 183 1.51%

Ages ranges Number Percentage

0-16 1 0.01%

17-21 77 0.64%

22+ 11820 97.84%

Not known 183 1.51%

Gender Number Percentage

Male 5486 45.11%

Female 6564 54.33%

Not stated 31 0.26%

Not known 183 1.51%

Ethnicity Number Percentage

White 11329 93.78%

Mixed 45 0.37%

Asian/Asian Black 272 2.25%

Black/Black British 102 0.84%

Other (inc Chinese) 90 0.74%

Not stated 243 2.01%

Our public members
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There are 13 publicly elected 
governors who represent our 
membership. In addition there 
are four elected staff governors 
representing our staff groups. 
Finally six local organisations have 
appointed a governor. Usually 

all governors serve a three year 
term of office, however, in this 
initial period as a foundation 
trust the governors representing 
Southampton City, Isle of Wight, 
Nursing and Midwifery staff, and 
non-clinical and support staff will 

retire after two years at the end 
of September 2013. This ensures 
some continuity of governors on 
the Council. 

The composition is as follows:

In 2012/13 the Council has 
considered a number of items 
including:

• Remuneration of the non-
executive directors and the Chair 

• Strategy of the Trust
• Children’s Hospital
• Membership engagement. 

The lead governor is Margaret 
Wheatcroft, appointed, 

Southampton City PCT. The lead 
governor has a role to play in 
facilitating direct communication 
between Monitor and the Council.

Council of Governors

Composition of Council of Governors

Public Elected Governors (13)

Southampton City  (coterminous with the Southampton City Council area) 5 governors

New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley (coterminous with the local authority areas of New Forest 

District Council, Eastleigh Borough Council and Test Valley Borough Council)

4 governors

Isle of Wight (coterminous with the Isle of Wight County Council area) 1 governor

Rest of England & Wales 3 governors

Staff Elected Governors (4)

Medical practitioners and dental staff 1 governor

Nursing and Midwifery staff 1 governor

Other clinical staff 1 governor

Non-clinical and support staff 1 governor

Appointed Governors (6)

NHS Southampton City 1 governor

NHS Hampshire 1 governor

Southampton City Council 1 governor

University of Southampton 1 governor

Hampshire County Council 1 governor

Business Solent 1 governor
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Council Attendance 2012/13

Publicly elected governors 14 June 10 October 6 December 13 March

Pamela Aihie (to 30 September 2012) 

Elected, Southampton city*
 4  7

Rosemary Bynam 

Elected, Southampton city
 7  4  7  7

Colin Pritchard 

Elected, Southampton city*
 4  4  4  4

Sue Daniel 

Elected, Southampton city
 4  4  4  4

Eddie Leach 

Elected, Southampton city*
 4  4  4  4

Eileen Gibbs (to 2 March 2013) 

Elected, New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley
 4  4  4

Nichola Goom 

Elected, New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley
 4  4  4  7

Rhian Hinton (to 25 February 2013) 

Elected, New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley
 7  7  7

Ann Short 

Elected, New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley
 4  7  4  4

Estelle Thomas 

Elected, Isle of Wight
 4  7  7  4

Paul Cantlie  

Elected, Rest of England and Wales*
 7  4  4  4

Jean Mallows 

Elected, Rest of England and Wales 
 4  4  7  4

Aelwen Emmett 

Elected, Rest of England and Wales
 4  4  4  4

Brian Birch 

Elected, medical and dental staff*
 4  4  4  4

Pat Kemish (from 13 June 2012) 

Elected, nursing and midwifery staff
 4  4  7  4

Kieran Hand (from 13 June 2012) 

Elected, other clinical staff
 4  7  4  4

Gordon Kemish 

Elected, non-clinical and support staff
 4  4  7  4

Margaret Wheatcroft 

Appointed, Southampton City CCG
 7  4  4  4

Sarah Schofield (to 27 November 2012) 

Appointed, West Hampshire CCG
 7  7

Ian Green (from 28 November 2012) 

Appointed, NHS Hampshire (West Hampshire CCG)
 7  7

Andrew Gibson 

Appointed, Hampshire County Council
 7  4  4  7

*governor has served on the nominations committee
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Rosemary Bynam
Southampton City: Nil

Pamela Aihie 
(until 30 September 2012), 
Southampton City: Daughter works 
in Trust & University

Sue Daniel
Southampton City: Nil

Professor Colin Pritchard 
Southampton City:
Visiting Professor, Department of 
Psychiatry & Emeritus Professor, 
School of Medicine, University of 
Southampton; Research Professor 
in Psychiatric Social Work, School of 
Health & Social Care, Bournemouth 
University. Undertake a range of 
clinical and policy research analysis 
that is often health-related linked to 
my university posts

Eddie Leach
Southampton City: Trustee 
Southampton Mencap

Nichola Goom
New Forest, Eastleigh and Test 
Valley: Nil

Rhian Hinton 
(until 25 February 2013), New 
Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley: Nil

Eileen Gibbs 
(until 2 March 2013), New Forest, 
Eastleigh and Test Valley: Nil

Ann Short
New Forest, Eastleigh and Test 
Valley: Nil

Estelle Thomas
Isle of Wight: CEO of Isle of Wight 
(IW) Society for the Blind; Member 
Eye Care Forum (IW); In receipt of 
funding from (IW) NHS/PCT for Cafe 
Climes; funding applications for 
NHS/PCT (IW); Maintain register for 
Visual Impairment (all from 
2 January 2013)

Aelwen Emmett
Rest of England and Wales: Nil 

Paul Cantlie
Rest of England and Wales: Nil

Jean Mallows
Rest of England and Wales: Nil

Council Member 14 June 10 October 6 December 13 March

Ivan White (until 18 June 2012) 

Appointed, Southampton City Council
 7

Jacqui Rayment (from 19 June 2012)  

Appointed, Southampton City Council
 4  7  4

Council Member 14 June 
6.30-8.30pm

10 October
6.30-8.30pm

6 December
6.30-8.30pm

13 March
6.30-8.30pm

Lee Chant (to 4 December 2012) 

Appointed, Business Southampton*
 7  7

Victoria Snellgrove (from 5 December 2012) 

Appointed, Business Southampton*
 7  4

Jessica Corner 

Appointed, University of Southampton
 7  4  4  4

Sophie Edmonds, Under 21 Representative (from July 2012)  4  7  4

Hannah Milne, Under 21 Representative (from July 2012)  4  7  4

Declaration of Business Interests 2012/13

Elected Public Members:

*governor has served on the nominations committee
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Brian Birch 
Medical and dental: Occasional ad 
hoc work for companies for which I 
get paid an honorarium; involvement 
with some bodies e.g. the district 
prescribing committee and hospital 
pharmacy providing advice on drug 
usage in certain conditions. This has 
also involved formulary applications 
(unpaid) by pharmaceutical 
companies; involvement in research 
some of which is company funded. 
Educational funding by drug 
companies to attend urological 
meetings (previously declared on 
the Trust’s register of sponsorships); 
Member of the National Research 
Ethics Service (NRES) Research Ethics 
Committee

Dr Robert Crouch 
(until 10 April 2012), Nursing & 
Midwifery: Director of Practice 
Innovation (Non-Board position) 
for Plain Healthcare Ltd – a 
company that develops and 
markets clinical decision support 
software. Shareholder (7.43%) 
of Avia Health Informatics PLC. 
Avia Health Informatics PLC own 
Plain Healthcare Ltd. Director 
and trustee of a charity Hope for 
the World – this is not a profit 
organisation dedicated to education 
and healthcare for individuals 
particularly on the Thailand/Burma 
border. Visiting Professor at the 
University of Surrey

Pat Kemish 
(from 13 June 2012), Nursing & 
Midwifery: Nil

Gordon Kemish 
Non-Clinical & Support: Nil

Kieran Hand 
(from 13 June 2012), Other 
Clinical: Member of the UHSFT 
Drugs Committee; Member 
of the Royal Pharmaceutical 
Society; Member of Union Unite/
Amicus; Member of Department 
of Health Advisory Committee 
on Antimicrobial Resistance and 
Healthcare-Associated Infection 
(ARHAI)’ Post-doctoral Clinical 
Academic Fellow at the University 
of Southampton; Occasional ad hoc 
consultancy work for pharmaceutical 
companies about marketing of new 
antibiotics; Occasional sponsorship by 
pharmaceutical companies to attend 
research conferences; Member of the 
UK Clinical Pharmacy Association

Dr Sarah Schofield 
(until 27 November 2012) 
Hampshire Primary Care Trust: 
Chair of West Hampshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
(Commissioner of services at UHSFT)

Ian Green 
(from 28 November 2012), NHS 
Hampshire (West Hampshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG)): Lay 
Member, West Hampshire CCG; 
Chairman, Ealing Hospital NHS Trust 
(until 31st March 2013); Director, 
Wandle Housing Association

Margaret Wheatcroft 
NHS Southampton City Primary 
Care Trust (PCT): Non-Executive 
Director, NHS Southampton City PCT

Lee Chant 
(until 4 December 2012), Business 
Southampton (HAYS Recruiting 
experts worldwide): Registered 
Director of a global recruitment 

company
Victoria Snellgrove 
(from 5 December 2012), Business 
Solent (HAYS Recruiting experts 
worldwide): Employed by Specialist 
Recruitment company.

Professor Jessica Corner 
University of Southampton: Dean 
of Faculty of Health Science, 
University of Southampton (main 
employment); Chief Clinician, 
Macmillan Cancer Support (second 
employment); Member of HEFCE 
Ref 2014 Sub-panel 3, Allied Health 
Professions, Dentistry, Nursing and 
Midwifery and Pharmacy; Co-Chair 
of Department of Health Cancer 
Patient Experience Advisory Group; 
Member of DH Health Visitor 
Taskforce; Vice-chair of the Council 
of Deans for Health; Chair of the 
Wessex Health Innovation and 
Education Cluster

Councillor Ivan White 
(until 18 June 2012) Southampton 
City Council: Appointed Governor 
Southern Health NHS; Appointed 
Board Member to Eastpoint; 
Appointed Board Member PYL Ltd; 
Lay Member of Southampton City 
Clinical Commissioning Group; 
Governor Hope Lodge School, 
Midanbury Lane; Member of the 
Conservative Association and 
in a position of general control; 
Shareholder in Soundproj-x (2011) 
Ltd (a Sound and Media company)

Councillor Jacqui Rayment 
(from 19 June 2012) Southampton 
City Council: Member of the Labour 
Party; Member of UNITE the Union; 
Cabinet Member for Communities; 
Chair of Health and Wellbeing Board

Councillor Andrew Gibson
Hampshire County Council: Nil

Elected Staff Members:

Appointed Stakeholder Members
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Engagement with Trust Board
The Council of Governors is chaired 
by the Trust Chair which provides 
a link between Board and the 
Council. The senior independent 
director, chief executive and Trust 
company secretary attend all  
Council meetings. In addition, non-
executive directors and executive 
directors attend Council on an ad-
hoc basis or when an item within 
their portfolio is being presented.
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Trust Board 
The Board comprises the chair, 
seven non-executive directors and 
six executive directors. Together 
they bring a wide range of different 
skills and experience to the Trust, 
enabling it to achieve balance at the 
highest level. 

The non-executive directors, 
including the chair, are people who 
live or work in the local area and 
have shown a genuine interest in 
helping to improve the health of 
local people. The non-executive 
directors are determined by the 
Board to be independent in both 
character and judgement. 

The chair, executive directors 
and non-executive directors have 
declared their interests as asset out 
below. The Board is satisfied that 
no conflicts of interest are indicated 
in any external involvement. The 
disclosure is updated regularly and is 
available to the public on application 
to the Trust company secretary. 

The Board can be contacted by 
writing to: Trust company secretary, 
University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust, Tremona 
Road, Mailpoint 18, Southampton, 
SO16 6YD.

The business to be conducted 
by the Board or by one of its 
committees is set out in the 
‘reservation of powers to the Board 
and delegation of powers policy’.

Senior independent director
The role of senior independent 
director has been established 
and is held by Nick Marsden, a 
non-executive director. The role 
provides a channel through which 
foundation trust members and 
governors are able to express 
concerns, other than through the 
normal route of the chairman or 
chief executive.

Appointments
Non-executive directors are 
appointed via open advertisement in 
accordance with the “Appointment 
of a foundation trust non-executive 
director good practice guide” 
procedure adopted by the Trust. 
The process is managed through 
the nomination committee of the  
Council of governors, which also 
determines their remuneration.

Development of the Board
The Board held a number of study 
sessions and away days in 2012/13 
where strategic issues along with 
emerging issues were discussed.

Board committee performance is 
regularly assessed by Board and the 
performance of specific committees 
is considered in the annual appraisal 
of the committee chairs.

Meetings of the Board
The Board meets once a month in 
public. Additional private meetings 
with only the Board and associated 
employees of the Trust making 
presentations to the Board in 
attendance are held as required. 

Engagement with 
Council of Governors
Trust Board engage with the 
Council of Governors through 
the chair and senior independent 
director. Executive directors engage 
with sub-groups of the Council 
where these are related to their 
portfolios. Board members regularly 
meet with governors. In October 
the Trust held a joint non-executive 
director and Council of Governors 
meeting.

Introducing the board of directors
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John Trewby, CB FREng – chair  
John joined the Trust on 1 April 2008. He brings with him a wealth of leadership experience 
after a distinguished career in the Navy where he rose to the rank of Rear Admiral and became 
the first chief executive of the Naval Bases and Supply Agency. After 36 years in the Navy John 
joined the defence company British Aerospace (latterly BAE Systems) where he was their chief 
Naval Advisor for 8 years. He is an Associate of Group4Securicor and Chair of ITT Defence 
Ltd and its Spanish subsidiary ITT Defense Espana. He is a Fellow of the Royal Academy of 
Engineering, sitting on its Proactive Membership Committee and recently chaired a study into 
“ICT for the UK’s Future”. He is a Council Member of the University of Southampton. 

Professor Iain Cameron 
Iain Cameron is Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology and Dean of the Faculty of 
Medicine at the University of Southampton. After graduating in Medicine at the University 
of Edinburgh, he underwent postgraduate clinical and research training in obstetrics and 
gynaecology, and reproductive medicine, in Edinburgh, Melbourne and Cambridge. He 
held the Regius Chair of Obstetrics and Gynaecology at the University of Glasgow from 
1993 and moved to Southampton in 1999. His main clinical and research interests are 
reproductive endocrinology, the treatment of sub-fertility and investigation of the impact 
of the maternal environment on early pregnancy. He is a member of the Scientific and 
Ethical Review Group, Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training 
in Human Reproduction, World Health Organisation; deputy chair of the Medical Schools 
Council; and a member of the Boards of the UK Clinical Research Collaboration (UKCRC) 
and the UK Research Integrity Office (UKRIO). 

Gareth Davies   
Gareth is a customer management consultant, having set up and run three marketing 
operations and rolled out a customer-centric business model across six European countries. 
Now specialising in the management of corporate change affecting customers, Gareth has 
managed customer-facing teams, developed new customer solutions, and reengineered 
distribution for a major international group in the UK, Switzerland and France. Being active 
in causes which help to give people power over their own lives, Gareth has held national 
roles in Amnesty International, and been deputy chairman of a health service public forum. 
He is currently a trustee of One Community, a major charity providing care, transport 
and voluntary sector services in the region. As chair of the Charitable Funds Committee, 
Gareth oversees the governance of the planned expansion of our associated charity. He 
also contributes his particular expertise on membership and public involvement, and the 
market-orientation required for transition to a more competitive NHS market. 

Peter Hollins  
Peter Hollins graduated in Chemistry from Hertford College, Oxford. Joining ICI in 1973, he 
undertook a series of increasingly senior roles in marketing and then general management. 
Following three years in the Netherlands as general manager of ICI Resins BV, he was in 
1992, appointed chief operating officer of EVC in Brussels, a joint venture between ICI and 
Enichem of Italy. He played a key role in the flotation of the company in 1994, returning in 
1998 to the UK as chief executive officer of British Energy where he remained until 2001. 
From 2001 onwards he held various chairmanships and non-executive directorships. In 
2003 he decided to return to an executive role and became chief executive of the British 
Heart Foundation, a post he remained in until March 2013.  

The people

Non-executive directors 



99

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2012/13

Lynne Lockyer 
Lynne’s background is in human resource management and strategic management. She 
became a non-executive director for Southampton and South West Hampshire in 1996 
and the vice chair in 2000. She was chair of Eastleigh and Test Valley South PCT from 
its inception in 2002 until its disestablishment in 2006. She has taken many roles in the 
local health economy including being a member of Hampshire’s Local Area Agreement 
Board and nationally was a member of the NHS Confederation Council and the National 
NHS Leaders Steering Group. She was until recently a course director at the University of 
Portsmouth and is now an organisation development consultant. She is a trustee of the 
Nuffield Theatre Trust and the Brendoncare Foundation. 

Dr Nick Marsden 
Nick graduated with first class honours in civil engineering from Leeds University and 
completed a Ph.D in fluid mechanics at the same institution. After a short career as a 
consulting engineer he joined IBM in 1977. Nick has held several senior executive roles 
at IBM culminating in running their European Printing Systems Division. He was also 
senior vice president for service at Danka Europe. Nick has an outstanding track record of 
delivering business growth through achieving high levels of customer satisfaction along 
with a balanced financial performance. Within the Trust Nick focuses on strategy and 
business performance with particular interest in the business development and IT strategy. 

Simon Porter 
Simon was educated in Southampton and then Oxford, graduating with a degree in 
Modern Languages (Italian and French). He is a qualified chartered accountant, having 
spent most of his career with the London office of Ernst & Young, where he specialised 
first in audit, then transactions and finally risk management. He was a partner with 
Ernst & Young from 1994 to 2010. He joined the Trust Board on 1 January 2011 as a 
designate non-executive director and became non-executive director and chair of the Audit 
and Assurance Committee from 1 June 2011. His professional interests include public 
healthcare and social housing, personal interests in golf, walking and cycling. He divides his 
time between homes in London and Romsey. 

Lena Samuels  
Lena started her professional career as a lecturer for further and higher Education, 
rapidly moving into education management shortly after qualifying to become one of the 
youngest managers in the UK of a government-funded independent training organisation. 
She brings corporate governance skills as independent member of Hampshire Police 
Authority, through her time as governor and chair of the board of Southampton City 
College, and in her current trustee roles at Wheatsheaf Trust and The Hampshire and IOW 
Community Foundation. She runs a media and PR business as well as working locally in 
Southampton at BBC Radio Solent. 
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Mark Hackett, chief executive   
Mark joined the Trust as chief executive on 2 August 2004. A career NHS manager, 
he entered the service in 1984 through the National Graduate Management Training 
Scheme. Mark went to the London School of Economics. He has worked in Birmingham, 
London, Wales and Sutton Coldfield in general management posts. He was appointed 
chief executive at Birmingham Women’s Hospitals NHS Trust in 1996. In 1999 he joined 
the Royal Wolverhampton Hospitals NHS Trust as chief executive to help the organisation 
overcome various difficulties it had implementing change in the new NHS. Mark has 
published a range of articles which reflect his interest in leadership, strategy and human 
resources. He also sat on a number of national and regional groups for the NHS.   
  
Judy Gillow, director of nursing  
Prior to joining the Trust, Judy was director of nursing, organisational development and 
assistant chief executive at Winchester and Eastleigh Healthcare NHS Trust. She has worked 
in the health service for many years in a variety of roles in the acute, primary care and 
educational settings. Qualifying as a registered adult and paediatric nurse at The Hospital 
for Sick Children, Great Ormond Street, London, Judy’s career has covered a wide range 
of areas including senior clinical management and board leadership positions. She now 
leads the Trust’s governance and patient experience agenda and already has implemented 
strategies and new systems to demonstrate sustainable improvement.   
  
Jane Hayward, chief operating officer
Jane joined the Trust Board in February 2008. She joined the Trust in 2000 as clinical 
services manager for the cardiothoracic directorate after spending two years in 
Hertfordshire as director of performance and 11 years at Barts and the London Hospitals 
in various roles including planning, finance and commissioning. Most recently Jane has 
lead on human resources, information management and technology, improvement and 
modernisation. In 2012 she took up post as the Trust chief operating officer and director 
of transformation. She leads on the day-to-day running of the hospital services and cost 
improvement and transformation.

Dr Michael Marsh, medical director  
Michael Marsh is a consultant in paediatric intensive care. He qualified in medicine at the 
University of London and undertook postgraduate studies in paediatrics in Oxford and 
London. He undertook research on the effects of maternal smoking on fetal lung growth 
and development at St Thomas’. He was appointed consultant in paediatric intensive 
care at Guy’s Hospital in 1995 and helped establish it as a leading centre. In 1998 he 
became director of paediatric intensive at Southampton and led the development of the 
service. In 2006 he was appointed clinical lead for child health leading on the integration 
and modernisation of paediatric services. In 2007 he became divisional clinical director 
for women and children’s services. His research interests include cardiac and respiratory 
function in critically ill children with a particular interest in surfactant. From 2002 until 
2008 he served as honorary secretary for the Paediatric Intensive Care Society providing 
leadership and specialist advice on children’s intensive care.  

Executive directors 
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Alastair Matthews, finance director and deputy CEO
Alastair joined the Trust in August 2007. Prior to joining the Trust he was finance director 
of Ordnance Survey from 2003 and prior to that vice-president, finance and administration 
at Computer Sciences Corporation where he worked from 1997. A Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, Alastair initially trained and worked in 
public practice with Price Waterhouse. He has an economics degree and for the two years 
to July 2007 was also a member of the Financial Reporting Advisory Board, an independent 
advisory Board to HM Treasury on how financial reporting principles are applied in the 
public sector. Alastair leads on finance and estates and is an executive lead for the 
Southampton Hospital Charity.   
  
Mike Murphy, director of strategy
Mike joined the Trust in February 2010 as deputy director of strategy and business 
development. Prior to joining the trust Mike held senior strategy, marketing and finance 
positions in the retail, financial services, utilities and motor service industries. Mike 
has a degree in mathematical science and an MBA. Mike is an executive lead for the 
Southampton Hospital Charity.
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Board meeting attendance 2012/13

Board member   

John Trewby Chair  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4

Iain Cameron NED  4  4  4  4   7  4  4  4   7   7  4  4   7  4  4  4

Gareth Davies NED  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4    4  4  4  4  4  4

Nick Marsden NED  4  4  4  4  4   7  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4

Lena Samuels NED  4  4  4  4  4  4   7  4  4   7  4  4  4     7   7

Peter Hollins NED  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4   7  4

Simon Porter NED  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4   7  4

Lynne Lockyer  4  4  4  4  4  4   7  4  4  4  4  4   7  4  4  4

Mark Hackett CEO  4  4  4  4   7  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4

Alastair Matthews 
Director of finance and 
investment (Finance 
Director & Deputy CEO – 
from 1/8/12)

 4  4  4    4   7  4  4   7  4  4  4  4  4  4  4

Michael Marsh 
Medical Director

 4  4  4  4   7  4  4  4  4  4  4   7  4    4  4

Judy Gillow 
Director of Nursing 
(Director of Nursing 
& Organisational 
Development – from 
1/8/12)

 4   7  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4

Jane Hayward Director 
of Organisational 
Development (Chief 
Operating Officer – from 
1/8/12)

 4   4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  7  4  4  4  4  4  7

Steve McManus, COO 
(until 1/8/12)

 4  4  4  4  4             

Mike Murphy 
Director of Strategy & 
Business Development 

 4  4  4  4  7  7  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  4  7
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John Trewby
Council Member University of 
Southampton; Chair Exelis Defence 
Ltd; Chair ITT Defense Espana 
(until October 2012); Associate 
of Group 4 Securicor 

Nick Marsden
Lay advisor to Wessex Deanery

Gareth Davies
Trustee of One Community; Director 
of Firwood SCI Ltd; Lay Advisor to 
Wessex Deanery 

Peter Hollins
Chief Executive of British Heart 
Foundation until 31 March 2013; 
Chair of Charles A Blatchford & 
Son Ltd; Director of the European 
Heart Network until 31 March 
2013; Partner in the Jubilee Film 
Partnership LLP 

Lena Samuels
Trustee of the Wheatsheaf Trust; 
Trustee of Hampshire and Isle of 
Wight Community Foundation; 
Magistrate of Southampton Bench; 
Member of Staff at BBC; Lay Advisor 
to Wessex Deanery, including 
Member of the Board of the School 
Emergency Medicine;  Independent 
Member of Hampshire Police 
Authority (until 22nd November 
2012); Vice Chair Hampshire Police 
Authority (from 12th June 2012 until 
22nd November 2012); Director 
of Hot Buzz Media Ltd; Director of 
Wessex Creative Media Ltd; Director 
of Solent India Business Network; 
Marketing & PR Manager for The 
County Air Ambulance Trust (from 

18th June 2012); Chair of Pylewell 
Park Cricket Club (from 3rd January 
2013)  

Iain Cameron
Dean of Faculty of Medicine, 
University of Southampton; 
Trustee of Wessex Medical Trust

Lynne Lockyer
Voluntary Trustee of the 
Brendoncare Foundation; Voluntary 
Trustee of the Nuffield Theatre Trust 

Simon Porter
Former Partner in Ernst & Young 
LLP;  Non-executive Director and 
Chair of Audit Committee Octavia 
Housing; Independent member of 
Audit Committee AmicusHorizon 

Mark Hackett
Married to Penny Venables, Chief 
Executive, Worcester Acute Hospitals 
NHS Trust; Voluntary Director NHS 
Interim Management and Support; 
Member of the National Institute for 
Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) 
Interventional Procedures Advisory 
Committee (until 30th April 2012); 
Fellow of University of Southampton; 
Member of Medtronic Hospital 
Executive Advisory Board; Chair 
of Department of Health National 
Homecare Medicines Committee 
(NHMC). 

Judy Gillow
Voluntary Trustee of Naomi House 
Children’s Hospice

Jane Hayward
Father is Mental Health Act 

manager, Hampshire Partnership 
Trust (voluntary position), member 
of Mental Health Act Committee, 
Hampshire Partnership Trust 
(voluntary position), member of 
Assessment Committee for Clinical 
Excellence Awards (lay member), 
and UHSFT Simulated Patient 
(voluntary position); Neil Harvey 
(partner) is a Simulated Patient 
(voluntary position)

Michael Marsh
Married to Sarah Marsh, Project 
Manager, South Central Strategic 
Health Authority; Self-employed 
Medico Legal Expert on ad hoc basis 
independently to solicitors, Medical 
Defence Union (MDU) and NHS 
Litigation Authority 

Alastair Matthews
Member of the Advisory Board to 
Southampton University School of 
Management; Board Member of 
NHS Innovations South East 

Steve McManus 
(to 1 August 2012): Chair of 
Governors, Tackley Primary School, 
Oxfordshire; Chair of National 
Neurosciences Network

Mike Murphy
Chair of Governors, Hardmoor Early 
Years Centre, Southampton; Parent 
Governor, Mountbatten School, 
Romsey (from December 2012)

Trust Board declarations of interest 
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Audit and assurance committee 
The audit and assurance committee is 
appointed by the Board and consists 
of seven non-executive directors. The 
financial and core assurance session 
is chaired by Simon Porter, who is a 
qualified accountant, and the clinical 
quality and outcome assurance 
session is chaired by Iain Cameron, 
who is a qualified clinician.

The director of finance, head of 
internal audit and a representative 
from external audit attend the 
financial and core assurance session. 
The medical director and director of 
nursing attend the clinical quality and 
outcome assurance session. The Trust 
company secretary attends 
both sessions.

The audit and assurance committee 
considers internal control and 
management reporting, internal audit, 
external audit, special assignments, 
corporate governance and clinical 
performance and outcomes. It meets 
regularly (not less than four times a 

year), is authorised by the Board to 
investigate any activity within its terms 
of reference and is authorised to seek 
any information it requires from a Trust 
employee in achieving this objective. 
Outside legal or other independent 
professional advice may also be 
sought if considered necessary by the 
committee.

Other committees of the board 
include: appointments and 
remuneration committee, strategy 
and finance committee and 
charitable funds committee.

Governance Code
The Board has considered the 
Monitor Code of Governance 
and is compliant. So far as the 
Board is aware, all possible steps 
have been taken to ensure that all 
relevant audit information has been 
disclosed in full to the auditors.

Remuneration
Further details of remuneration are 
given in the remuneration report on 
page 106. 

Countering fraud and corruption
The Board remains committed to 
maintaining an honest and open 
atmosphere within the Trust; ensuring 
all concerns involving potential fraud 
have been identified and rigorously 
investigated. In all cases appropriate 
civil, disciplinary and/or criminal 
sanctions have been applied, where 
guilt has been proven. The local 
counter fraud specialist has been 
instrumental in creating an anti-fraud 
culture, which has enabled maximum 
deterrent and prevention measures to 
become embedded in the Trust. Fraud 
against the NHS is never acceptable 
and any concerns may be reported 
via the Fraud and Corruption Hotline 
on 0800 028 4060. By maintaining 
fraud levels at an absolute minimum 
the Trust ensures that more funds are 
available to provide better patient 
care and services.

Audit and assurance committee attendance 2012/13 

A&AC Member   

Simon Porter NED and co-chair  4  4  4  4  4  4

Iain Cameron NED and co-chair (from 19/12/11)  7  4  4  4  4  4

Gareth Davies NED  4  4  4  7  7  4

Nick Marsden NED  4  4  4  4  4  4

Lena Samuels NED  7  4  4  4  4  4

Peter Hollins NED  7  4  4  4  4  4

Lynne Lockyer NED  4  4  4  4  4  4

Alastair Matthews director of finance and Investment 
(finance director and deputy CEO – from 1/8/12)

 4  4  4  4  4  4

Michael Marsh Medical Director  4  4  4  4  4  4

Judy Gillow Director of Nursing (and organisational development – from 1/8/12)  4  4  4  4  7  4
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Independence of external auditor
We have considered the 
independence principles set out 
by the Auditing Practices Board in 
relation to the work of our external 
auditor undertaking non-audit 
work.  We did not identify any risks 
in this respect, particularly in relation 
to self-review and familiarity.  Our 

auditors will not be relying on any of 
the work undertaken when forming 
their opinion and we do not believe 
there to be a threat of familiarity as 
this is the first year of their audit and 
the services had previously been put 
out to tender.  We will continually 
assess and address any risks to 
independence as appropriate.

Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code 
requires the Trust to aim to pay all 
valid invoices by the due date or 
within 30 days of receipt of a valid 
invoice, whichever is later. The Trust’s 
performance is set out below.

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2012-13

Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 90,343 206,269 82,187 161,223

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target 80,812 187,153 77,781 152,206

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target 89.5% 90.7% 94.6% 94.4%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 6,643 51,319 6,359 46,971

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target 5,829 46,028 4,994 39,055

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target 87.7% 89.7% 78.5% 83.1%
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Remuneration report

Board Member   

John Trewby Chair  4  4  4  4

Iain Cameron NED  4  7  7  7

Gareth Davies NED  4  4  4  4

Nick Marsden  NED  4  4  4  4

Lena Samuels NED  7  7  7  7

Peter Hollins NED  4  4  4  4

Simon Porter NED  4  4  4  4

Lynne Lockyer NED  4  4  4  7

Mark Hackett CEO  4  7  4  4
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Appointment and remuneration committee meeting attendance 2012/13

Appointment and 
remuneration committee 
The appointment and remuneration 
committee is a formally appointed 
committee of the Board. Its terms of 
reference comply with the Secretary 
of State’s “Code of Conduct and 
Accountability for NHS Boards”.

The membership of the committee 

comprises the Trust Board chair, the 
non-executive directors and the chief 
executive (except where matters 
relating to the chief executive are 
under discussion).

The remuneration of executive 
directors is considered through pay 
benchmarking and other relevant 
information.

The director of human resources 
is in attendance at all meetings to 
advise the committee and the head 
of corporate affairs is in attendance 
to keep an appropriate record of 
proceedings. Neither are members of 
the committee.
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Process for board appointments
The process for recruiting executive 
directors is considered by the 
appointment and remuneration 
committee as the need arises and 
involves an analysis of the skills 
required by the next appointee 
to the vacancy both at Board and 
functional level. The recruitment 
process will always involve external 
advertisement and generally 
includes an executive search. 
No such process has been 
implemented in 2012/13.

Non-executive directors are 
appointed by the nomination 
committee of the Council of 
Governors in accordance with 
the ‘Recruitment Process NEDs 
and Chair Policy’ as agreed by the  
Council of Governors in December 
2011. No non-executive director has 
been appointed this year.

Remuneration of the chair and 
non-executive directors
The remuneration of the 
chair and non-executive 
directors is determined by the 
Nomination Committee, the 
Council of Governors approve 
recommendations from the  
Nomination Committee.

The committee comprises five 
governors and the Trust chair. The 
chief executive and director of 
human resources are in attendance 
at all meetings to advise the 
committee and the head of 
corporate affairs is in attendance 
to keep an appropriate record of 
proceedings. None of these officers 
are members of the committee.

The chair does not attend any part 
of meetings when matters relating 
to the chair’s remuneration are 

discussed. This part of the meeting 
is chaired by the senior independent 
director or an independent chair 
from another Trust. The decisions 
of the nomination committee 
are passed to the full Council of 
Governors as recommendations for 
the Council to endorse or reject as it 
sees appropriate.

Assessment of performance 
All executive and non-executive 
directors are subject to individual 
annual appraisals. This involves the 
setting and agreeing of objectives 
for a 12 month period running from 
1 April to the following 31 March.

There is an end of year review 
to assess achievements and 
performance. The executive 
directors are assessed by the chief 
executive and the outcome is fed 
back to the appointment and 
remuneration committee. Individual 
executive performance appraisals 
and development plans are well 
established within the Trust and 
follow agreed Trust procedures.

The chair undertakes the 
performance review of the chief 
executive and non-executive 
directors and this will be fed back 
to the nomination committee. This 
process was agreed by the Council 
of Governors in December 2011. 
The senior independent director will 
appraise the chair and feed back to 
the nomination committee.  

Performance Pay
No element of the executive 
and non-executive directors’ 
remuneration is performance 
related at present.

Duration of contracts
All executive directors have 
a substantive contract of 
employment. The medical director 
has a fixed term addendum purely 
for the post of medical director for 
3 years until 2015.

Prior to foundation trust status, the 
chair and non-executive directors 
were appointed for a term of four 
years; this has been reduced to 
three years as a foundation trust. 
All may be reappointed for a 
further term of office should they 
wish and with the approval of 
nomination committee and Council 
of Governors. 

Off Payroll Engagements
The Trust has engaged two 
contractors who have earned 
more than £220 per day for at 
least 6 months and have not been 
paid through payroll. Assurances 
regarding taxation and national 
insurance obligations have been 
received from one contractor and 
a new contract is being negotiated 
with the other with a view to 
bringing the arrangement on payroll.
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The chair and the non-executive director appointments are due for renewal as shown:

Signed by Mark Hackett
CEO

29 May 2013

Name Position Term of Office Commenced Term of Office Ends

John Trewby Chair 1 October 2012 
(This is his second term. His first term was 
1 April 2008 – 30 September 2012)

30 September 2015

Nick Marsden Senior independent director 1 June 2011
(This is his second term. His first term was 
1 June 2007 – 31 May 2011)

31 May 2015

Lena Samuels Non-executive director 1 March 2009 
(First term 1 March 2009 – 28 February 
2013, second term 1 March 2013 – 28 
February 2016)

28 February 2016

Peter Hollins Non-executive director 15 October 2010 14 October 2013

Gareth Davies Non-executive director 1 December 2009 
(This is his second term. His first term was 
1 December 2005 – 30 November 2009)

30 November 2013

Lynne Lockyer Non-executive director 1 October 2011 30 September 2014

Iain Cameron Non-executive director 19 December 2011 18 December 2014

Simon Porter Non-executive director 1 June 2011 31 May 2015
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2011-12 relates to period 1 October 
2011 - 31 March 2012

Dr Marsh’s salary includes a one 
off payment of £7k relating to his 
role of review committee chair for 
the ICU Review of Critical Care 
Service at Great Ormond Street NHS 
Foundation Trust.

Mr S McManus - chief operating 
officer until 19th August 2012

Reporting bodies are required to 
disclose the relationship between 

the remuneration of the highest 
paid director in their organisation 
and the median remuneration of 
the workforce.

Figures for 6 months to March 2012 
are shown in brackets:
 
The banded remuneration of the 
highest paid director for the year 
to 31 March 2013 was £206.5k 
(£102.5k). This was 7.1 (7.1) times 
the median remuneration of the 
workforce which was £29.3k 
(£14.4k)

For the year one employee  (one) 
received remuneration in excess 
of the highest paid director. 
Remuneration ranged from £14.0k 
to £210.5k (£7.0k to £104.5k)
 
Total remuneration includes salary, 
non consolidated performance 
related -pay, benefits in kind 
as well as severence payments. 
It does not include employer 
pension contributions and the 
cash equivilant transfer value of 
pensions.    
  

Name 2012-13  6 months to 31 March 2012

Salary
(bands of 

£5000)

£000

Bonus
(bands of 

£5000)

£000

Other 
remuneration

(bands of 

£5000)

£000

Benefits 
in Kind
Rounded 

to the 

nearest 

£100

Salary
(bands of 

£5000)

£000

Bonus
(bands of 

£5000)

£000

Other 
remuneration

(bands of 

£5000)

£000

Benefits 
in Kind
Rounded 

to the 

nearest 

£100

Prof I Cameron 5-10 0-5

Mr G Davies 10-15 0-5

Ms J Gillow 130-135 60-65

Mr M Hackett 205-210 100-105

Ms J Hayward 125-130 60-65

Mr P Hollins 5-10 0-5

Ms L Lockyer 10-15 0-5

Mr N Marsden 10-15 5-10

Dr MJ Marsh 190-195 85-90

Mr A Matthews 150-155 75-80

Mr S McManus 45-50 60-65

Mr M Murphy 115-120 5-10

Mr S Porter 10-15 5-10

Ms L Samuels 10-15 0-5

Mr J Trewby 35-40 15-20

Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers
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As non-executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there are no entries in respect of pensions for 
non-executive members.       
       
* Mr S McManus - chief operating officer until 19th August 2012       
** Mr M Murphy is a member of the 2008 Pension Scheme and therefore the benefits are calculated at age 65 years. 
 
     
       
       
       
Signed   
Chief Executive    
      
Date: 29 May 2013      

Name and title Real 
increase 

in pension 
at age 60
(bands of 
£2,500)

Real 
increase 

in pension 
lump sum 
at age 60
(bands of 
£2,500)

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
age 60 at 
31 March 

2013
(bands of 
£5,000)

Lump Sum 
at age 60
related to 
accrued 

pension at 
31 March 

2013
(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 

2013

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 

2012

Real 
Increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value

Employers 
Contribution 

to 
Stakeholder 

Pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Mrs J Gillow 0-2.5 0-2.5 60-65 180-185 1,329 1,223 24  0

Mr M Hackett 0-2.5 0-2.5 70-75 220-225 1,331 1,249 9  0

Ms J Hayward 0-2.5 2.5-5 40-45 120-125 692 625 19  0

Dr MJ Marsh 0-2.5 2.5-5 40-45 125-130 758 678 25 0

Mr A Matthews 0-2.5 5-7.5 10-15 30-35 192 149 20  0

Mr S McManus * 0-2.5 5-7.5 45-50 135-140 743 608 22  0

M Murphy** 2.5-5 0-2.5 5-10 0 66 31 19 0
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The NHS Act 2006 states that the 
chief executive is the accounting 
officer of the NHS foundation trust. 
The relevant responsibilities of the 
accounting officer, including their 
responsibility for the propriety and 
regularity of public finances for 
which they are answerable, and for 
the keeping of proper accounts, are 
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum 
issued by Monitor. 

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor 
has directed University H NHS 
foundation trust to prepare for 
each financial year a statement 
of accounts in the form and on 
the basis set out in the Accounts 
Direction. The accounts are 
prepared on an accruals basis and 
must give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of [name] NHS 
foundation trust and of its income 
and expenditure, total recognised 
gains and losses and cash flows for 
the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the 
Accounting Officer is required to 
comply with the requirements of 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual and in 
particular to: 

• observe the Accounts Direction 
issued by Monitor, including 
the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and 
apply suitable accounting policies 
on a consistent basis; 

• make judgements and estimates 
on a reasonable basis; 

• state whether applicable 
accounting standards as set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual have 
been followed, and disclose and 
explain any material departures in 
the financial statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements 
on a going concern basis. 

The accounting officer is responsible 
for keeping proper accounting 

records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the NHS 
foundation trust and to enable him/
her to ensure that the accounts 
comply with requirements outlined 
in the above mentioned Act. 
The Accounting Officer is also 
responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the NHS foundation trust 
and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

To the best of my knowledge and 
belief, I have properly discharged 
the responsibilities set out in 
Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum. 

Signed   
Chief Executive   
 
Date: 29 May 2013

Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities as the accounting 
officer of University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust
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Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have 
responsibility for maintaining a 
sound system of internal control that 
supports the achievement of the 
NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding 
the public funds and departmental 
assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me. I am 
also responsible for ensuring that the 
NHS foundation trust is administered 
prudently and economically and that 
resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively. I also acknowledge my 
responsibilities as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of 
internal control
The system of internal control 
is designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing 
process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement 
of the policies, aims and objectives 
of University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate 
the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they 
be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. 
The system of internal control has 
been in place in University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
for the year ended 31 March 2013 
and up to the date of approval of the 
annual report and accounts.

Capacity to handle risk – The Chief 
Executive has overall responsibility 
for risk management within the 
Trust whilst the Trust Board has 
overall responsibility for setting the 
strategic direction of the Trust and 
managing the risks to delivering that 
strategy. The Director of Nursing 
and Organisational Development 
has lead responsibility for the 
development and implementation 
of the Risk Management Policy and 
associated areas of internal control. 
The policy has been subject to minor 
review during 2012/13 to ensure it 
remains appropriate and current and 
takes account of the Trust’s longer-
term vision. 

Risk Management – The Trust 
has continued its approach to 
managing risk during 2012/13, 
which is overseen by the Executive 
Team via the Executive Risk 
Scrutiny Group and the Divisional 
Management Teams. Regular 
(quarterly) Divisional and Trust 
HQ risk register review meetings 
are held to review, scrutinise and 
update risk registers and provide 
an escalation route directly to the 
Executive Risk Scrutiny Group. 
The Executive Directors review 
and monitor progress through the 
regular divisional performance 
reviews and quarterly Executive 
Risk Scrutiny Group meetings.  This 
provides a structure for Divisions/
Care Groups/Trust HQ Departments 
to escalate Divisional/Department 
risk management issues that are 
proving difficult to resolve at local 
level to the Executive Risk Scrutiny 
Group and onward to the Trust’s 
Executive Committee (TEC), Audit 
and Assurance Committee (AAC) 
and the Trust Board. 

Governance and Risk Management 
training is included as part of the 
Corporate Induction for all new 
Trust staff. Supporting this approach 
each Division has a responsibility 
to develop specific local induction 
programmes for staff based on 
the risks, hazards and control 
mechanisms specific to that area. 
Additional support is provided by the 
Governance & Risk and Safety Teams. 
A risk management Training Needs 
Analysis has been reviewed during 
the reporting period and defines all 
mandatory and statutory training 
required by different staff groups. 
There is a specific training programme 
on Risk Assessments. Monitoring 
delivery of the programme is the 
role of the Trust’s Education Strategy 
Group and the Divisional Boards and 
Executive leads. 

Supporting the training there is 
documented guidance on risk 
and safety management including 
comprehensive policies and 
procedures. There is also a Trust 
‘Whistleblowing policy in place.

The risk and control framework – 
The Risk Management Policy and 
Procedures sets out the Trust’s 
attitudes to risk and defines the 
structures for the management and 
ownership of risk throughout the 
organisation. The key objectives of 
the policy are to ensure that the 
Trust has in place:

• Clear accountability 
arrangements for the 
management of risk throughout 
the organisation, leading up to 
the Trust Board

• Clear organisational 
arrangements which ensure a 

Annual governance statement 2012-13
Year end 2012/13 covering the period 1st April 2012 – 31st March 2013
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comprehensive and co-ordinated 
approach to the management of 
risk and governance

• An effective system of risk 
management at Divisional/Care 
Group/Dept level

• The management and 
development of Divisional/
Care Group/ Department risk 
registers which are monitored 
by the Executive team as part 
of the performance reviews and 
Divisional and Executive Risk 
Scrutiny Group meetings

• The integration of risk 
management into overall 
planning and performance 
management activities 

• An increased awareness and 
ownership of risk and liabilities

• A risk management education 
and training programme for 
managers and staff 

• An effective system to ensure 
that all staff are involved in 
identifying, preventing, assessing, 
controlling and reporting 
risk in order to create a safer 
environment for staff, patients 
and visitors

• A comprehensive understanding 
of the risks that the Trust faces, 
their cause and control, and the 
cost of risk to the organisation 
and potential impact on the 
Trust’s key objectives

• Guidance on what is an 
acceptable level of risk (risk 
appetite)  to the organisation

• Processes in place that ensure 
lessons are learned, acted on and 
disseminated

The way in which public 
stakeholders are involved in 
managing risks which impact on 
them is outlined in the section on 
Involving Public Stakeholders.

Care Quality Commission – 
The foundation trust is not fully 
compliant with the registration 
requirements of the Care 

Quality Commission. However 
comprehensive and well monitored 
action plans are in place to address 
those standards where CQC have 
identified issues. 

Quality and Improvement – 
The Quality Governance Steering 
Group (QGSG) and its sub groups 
(including Divisional/Care Group 
Governance Groups) allow the 
opportunity for new guidance, 
lessons learned and good practice 
to be shared. This is further 
supported by the Trust’s quarterly 
Regulatory Assurance Report 
and an Aggregate Analysis and 
Learning Report, this is scrutinised 
by the TEC, AAC, Trust Board and 
disseminated through the Divisions 
to ensure learning.

How we monitor data and 
report on quality – We review 
the implementation status of 
all National Institute for Clinical 
Excellence (NICE) guidance, 
and National Confidential 
Enquiries (NCE) to risk assess any 
development areas at Southampton 
University Hospitals Trust, 
and take action to implement 
recommendations. 

There is regular reporting of our 
Hospital Standardised Mortality Rate 
(HSMR) to Trust Board. This is also a 
priority that has been identified for 
next year. 

We continue to support the 
use of clinical outcome data to 
assess and improve services with 
participation in national audits; the 
patient reported outcome measures 
programme (PROMS) as well as 
undertaking local audits to continue 
our cycle of quality improvement.
Our annual clinical effectiveness 
conference was held in November 
2012, celebrating audits that have 
led to improved patient outcomes, 
safety and experience, with the RCN 

national lead as key note speaker, 
discussing NICE Guidance and 
Quality Standard development.

The patient improvement 
framework focuses on patient 
safety, patient experience and 
patient clinical outcomes using 
the national NHS Outcomes 
Framework as a basis; the Trust 
sets improvement targets on the 
quality priorities each year. These 
common themes are also mirrored 
in the Trust’s committee structures 
and high level reporting practices. 
An integrated approach ensures 
that staff understanding of quality 
is embedded throughout the 
organisation and reflected in the 
Trust’s quality dashboards and key 
performance indicators.

NHS Pensions
As an employer with staff entitled 
to membership of the NHS Pension 
Scheme, control measures are 
in place to ensure all employer 
obligations contained within the 
Scheme regulations are complied 
with. This includes ensuring that 
deductions from salary, employer’s 
contributions and payments into 
the Scheme are in accordance with 
the Scheme rules, and that member 
Pension Scheme records are 
accurately updated in accordance 
with the timescales detailed in the 
Regulations.

Equality and diversity
Control measures are in place to 
ensure that all the organisation’s 
obligations under equality, diversity 
and human rights legislation are 
complied with. 

Carbon Reduction
The foundation trust has 
undertaken risk assessments and 
Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans 
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are in place in accordance with 
emergency preparedness and civil 
contingency requirements, as based 
on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, 
to ensure that this organisation’s 
obligations under the Climate 
Change Act and the Adaptation 
Reporting requirements are 
complied with.

Review of economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness of the use of 
resources
The Trust has the following 
arrangements to ensure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness: 

Service Improvement
The Trust has an active and 
successful Service Improvement 
Team which is seeking to apply 
“lean” principles to engineer real 
changes and efficiencies in service 
provision, linked to the Patient 
Care Improvement Framework. 
The Team has got involved with a 
number of projects, overseen by 
a monthly Service Improvement 
Steering Group chaired by the 
Chief Executive with Director and 
divisional representation.

The Cost Improvement 
Programme
The Trust has a successful Cost 
Improvement Programme 
Management Office (PMO). A core 
team of 3 works with Divisions 
to identify monitor and deliver 
savings. There is a 3 year savings 
programme and in 2012/13 savings 
of over £24m have been delivered. 
Cost Improvement Programmes 
are reviewed for any impact on 
quality, performance or occupancy. 
Performance is monitored at 
Divisional Performance reviews as well 
as a weekly CIP review meetings. 

Procurement efficiency plays an 
important part in delivering savings. 

The Trust took the operational 
procurement service back in house 
during the year and is finalising a 
new medium term procurement 
strategy.

Service Line reporting and 
Patient Level Costing
For several years the Trust has 
produced service line reporting on 
an annual and now quarterly basis, 
to assess the profitability of each 
care group within the Trust. 
 
The Trust has implemented a Patient 
Level Costing (PLiCS) system, 
which provides timely, regular and 
accurate information on profitability 
at Divisional, care group and 
individual patient level. This data is 
used to identify areas of differing 
practice and areas of opportunity to 
improve profitability.

The Trust uses a number of 
indicators to monitor that it is 
efficient. Some of the key ones 
form part of the Trust’s Performance 
Management Framework, which 
is reported to the Board. The 
indicators include:

• Better Care Better Value indicators
• Reference Costs
• Service Line reporting
• Patient survey results
• Estates indicators
• CIP progress

The Trust Board and Trust Executive 
Committee regularly review the Trust’s 
performance in relation to principal 
risks to achievement of and controls 
in place to assist in the delivery of 
its key objectives and targets. The 
Board proactively seeks support in 
commissioning reviews, support 
and external assessments in order to 
improve its overall performance.

Internal Audit – The Audit and 
Assurance Committee reviews 

the Trust’s systems of internal 
control, including the governance 
arrangements, as part of the 
audit programme, assisting the 
Board with its responsibilities 
to strengthen and improve 
the effectiveness of the Board 
Assurance Framework.

No significant issues have been 
raised by our internal auditors, 
PwC, in relation to our use of 
resources. However some internal 
audit findings have identified areas 
where improvements could be 
made in relation to Management 
of Professional Leave, Board 
Reporting and Self Certification, 
Waiting List Management and 
Car Parking. The Head of Internal 
Audit Opinion findings from the 
results of internal’s audit work in 
terms of the number and relative 
priority of findings has identified 
no high risk areas with only one 
high risk finding in relation to 
Information Governance. PwC 
testing of 15 standards within 
the toolkit assessed whether 
evidence uploaded was sufficient, 
appropriate and up-to-date for the 
IG level stated, assessment of the 
sample suggested that for six of the 
standards reviewed the evidence 
available at the time of the audit 
was either out-of-date or had not 
been approved or reapproved for 
the current financial year meaning 
that the assessment of level 2 was 
not appropriate. Additionally for 
four standards within the sample, 
PwC concluded that the available 
information on the toolkit did not 
meet the level assessed by the Trust, 
however, additional documentary 
evidence was available but just 
not in place to support the self-
assessment. In order for the Trust 
to self assess at level 2 across each 
standard, documentary evidence 
supporting this must be current 
and available on the toolkit at the 
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point of assessment. Without this 
evidence the Trust is self-assessing 
at a level that is unsubstantiated.  
This indicated a significant control 
weakness in the assessment 
process. A high risk finding has 
been raised in this respect, which is 
currently being addressed.

Annual Quality Report
The Directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) to 
prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year.

Monitor has issued guidance to 
NHS foundation trust boards on 
the form and content of annual 
Quality Reports which incorporate 
the above legal requirements in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual.

Our Quality Report for this year 
represents a balanced view of the 
Trust, providing commentary on 
both the areas where we have 
performed well and where there are 
still areas for improvement.  
The Trust Board gains assurance 
on quality in various ways, via: 

•  Board visits to divisions to review 
delivery of the quality agenda

•  the monthly key performance 
indicator (dashboard) quality 
report

•  the rolling program of patient 
improvement framework (PIF) 
reports covering: 
- patient experience/ patient
  feedback/ patient complaints
- patient safety
- clinical outcomes / effectiveness
- regulatory assurance 
- performance targets

In addition, the Audit & Assurance 
Committee and the Trust Executive 
Committee receive summaries from 

the Trust’s Quality Governance 
Steering Group (QGSG). The Board 
members all review and provide 
comments on the Quality Report prior 
to inclusion in our Annual Report.

Review of effectiveness
I have drawn on the content of 
the Quality Report supporting 
this annual report and other 
performance information available 
to me. My review is also informed 
by comments made by the external 
auditors in their management letter 
and other reports.  

As Accounting Officer, I have 
responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of 
the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control is informed by 
the work of the internal auditors, 
clinical audit and the executive 
managers and clinical leads within 
the NHS foundation trust that have 
responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal 
control framework. I have drawn 
on the content of the quality report 
attached to this Annual report and 
other performance information 
available to me. My review is also 
informed by comments made 
by the external auditors in their 
management letter and other
reports. I have been advised on 
the implications of the result of my 
review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the 
Trust Board, the Audit & Assurance 
Committee, Trust Executive 
Committee and Quality Governance 
Scrutiny Group, and a plan to 
address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the 
system is in place.

The Trust Board, Trust Executive 
Committee and the Audit and 
Assurance Committee have 
been actively engaged in the 

ongoing development of the 
Board Assurance Framework, 
and the CQC Essential standards 
of Quality and Safety ongoing 
compliance assessment. These 
bodies will continue to shape the 
iterative development of the Board 
Assurance Framework for 2013/14 
and undertake regular reviews of 
the risks and the action plans in 
place to address gaps in controls 
and/or assurance.  

The Trust Board and Trust Executive 
Committee regularly review the 
Trust’s performance in relation to 
principal risks to the achievement of 
and the controls in place to assist in 
the delivery of its key objectives and 
targets. The Board proactively seeks 
support in commissioning reviews, 
support and external assessments 
in order to improve its overall 
performance. 

Recently the Trust have reviewed 
the recommendations arising 
from the Francis Report and 
identified key areas where plans 
have been put in place to further 
improve quality of care, through 
a number of work streams that 
address relevant recommendations, 
focussing on:
• Culture
• Staff engagement
• Quality Standards
• Working with our Stakeholders

The Audit and Assurance 
Committee review the Trust’s 
systems of internal control, 
including the governance 
arrangements as part of the 
audit programme, assisting the 
Board with its responsibilities 
to strengthen and improve 
the effectiveness of the Board 
Assurance Framework. 

The Quality Governance Steering 
Group (QGSG) ensures that there 
is an annual comprehensive 
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programme of quality improvement 
for the care of patients, reporting 
on a regular basis to the Trust Board 
and Trust Executive Committee on 
the full range of its activities. The 
Committee also ensures that clear 
lines of governance accountability 
exist within the Trust for the overall 
quality of clinical care. Its role has 
been strengthened during 2012/13 
with further development of the 
Trust’s Patient Safety Steering 
Group and Significant Incident 
Scrutiny Group both of which 
report into QGSG and assist with 
the comprehensive management of 
the Trust’s safety issues. The scope 
and membership of the QGSG 
supporting feeder groups is subject 
to regular review.

The Head of Internal Audit provides 
me with an opinion on the overall 
arrangements for gaining assurance 
through the Assurance Framework 
and on the controls reviewed as 
part of Internal Audit’s work.  

For the period 1st April 2012 to 
31st March 2013 the Internal Audit 
Opinion states:
There is a generally sound system of 

internal control, designed to meet 
the organisation’s objectives, and 
that controls are generally being 
applied consistently. However, some 
weaknesses in the design and / or 
inconsistent application of controls, 
puts the achievement of particular 
objectives at risk.

Using the terminology set out in the 
Department of Health guidance to 
Heads of Internal Audit, this opinion 
would equate to “Significant 
Assurance”.

In addition, a nominated Local 
Counter Fraud Specialist with a 
remit of building a strong anti-
fraud culture throughout the 
organisation is commissioned and 
provides regular reports to the 
Finance Director and the Audit and 
Assurance Committee

Our external auditors, KPMG, 
also undertake work around our 
financial systems to inform their 
audit opinion, work on our quality 
report to inform their opinion and 
provide an opinion on our use of 
resources. No significant concerns 
have been raised as part of this 

work and unqualified opinions have 
been provided.

Conclusion
No significant control issues have 
been identified and the Head of 
Internal Audit Opinion findings from 
the results of internal’s audit work 
in terms of the number and relative 
priority of findings has identified 
no high risk areas with only one 
high risk finding in relation to 
Information Governance (detailed 
in the body of this report), which is 
currently being addressed. 

Signed 

Mark Hackett
Chief Executive 

Date: 29 May 2013



Finance
Independent auditor’s report
Finance director’s review
Financial statements
Sustainability report 2012/13
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These accounts for the period to 31 
March 2013, have been prepared by 
University Hospital Southampton NHS 

Foundation Trust in accordance with 
paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 
7 to the National Health Services Act 

2006, in the form which Monitor 
(the Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts) has directed.

Foreword to the Accounts 

Mark Hackett
Chief Executive

Date: 29 May 2013
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We have audited the financial 
statements of University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust for the year ended 31 March 
2013 on pages 122 to 158. These 
financial statements have been 
prepared under applicable law and 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2012/13. 

This report is made solely to the 
Council of Governors of University 
Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with 
Schedule 10 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Council of Governors of 
the Trust, as a body, those matters 
we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Council of Governors 
of the Trust, as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report or for the 
opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the 
accounting officer and the auditor
As described more fully in the 
Statement of Accounting Officer’s 
Responsibilities on page 111 the 
accounting officer is responsible 
for the preparation of financial 
statements which give a true and 
fair view. Our responsibility is to 
audit, and express an opinion on, the 
financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us 
to comply with the Auditing Practice’s 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the 
financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes 
an assessment of whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate 
to the Trust’s circumstances and 
have been consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed, the 
reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by 
the accounting officer and the 
overall presentation of the financial 
statements. In addition we read 
all the financial and non-financial 
information in the annual report to 
identify material inconsistencies with 
the audited financial statements. 
If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial 
statements:

•  give a true and fair view of 
the state of University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2013 
and of its income and expenditure 
for the year then ended; and

•  have been prepared in 
accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2012/13. 

Opinion on other matters 
prescribed by the Audit Code for 
NHS Foundation Trusts
In our opinion the information 
given in the Directors’ Report for 
the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial 
statements.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception
We have nothing to report where 
under the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts we are required 
to report to you if, in our opinion, 
the Annual Governance Statement 
does not reflect the disclosure 
requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual, is misleading or is not 
consistent with our knowledge of 
the Trust and other information of 
which we are aware from our audit 
of the financial statements1.

We are not required to assess, nor 
have we assessed, whether all risks 
and controls have been addressed by 
the Annual Governance Statement 
or that risks are satisfactorily 
addressed by internal controls.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed 
the audit of the accounts of 
University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with 
the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 
2 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 and the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor.

Neil Thomas for and on behalf 
of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                
15 Canada Square
London, E14 5GL                                                                                                                                   

Date: 29 May 2013

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council of Governors 
of University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust

1. Where the AGS does not meet the disclosure 
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual or is misleading or inconsistent with 
other information forthcoming from the audit, the 
auditors must refer to this in the audit opinion, although 
this does not result in a qualification of the accounts 
(para 5.8 of the March 2011 FT Audit Code).
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Conditions were challenging for 
the Trust as emergency pressures 
impacted on the Trust’s ability to 
deliver elective activity, particularly 
in the second half of the year.

The Trust delivered a pre-
impairment surplus of £6.5m, 
which was £0.5m better than the 
level planned. The pre-impairment 
surplus is one of the primary factors 
on which the Trust’s financial 
performance is assessed.

Post impairments, the Trust 
delivered a surplus of £0.8m. 
Under NHS Trust asset valuation 
methodology, and similar to 
2011/12, the Trust experienced 
impairments in its carrying values 
for the year ended 31 March 2013.

The Trust received significantly more 
income from its Commissioners 
than planned as a result of high 
levels of unplanned clinical activity. 
Delivery of cost improvement 
programmes was challenging and 
although the Trust exceeded the 
annual target of over £23m of 
savings in the 12 months to 31 
March 2013, it did so by relying on 
a level of non recurrent schemes 
which was partially offset by the 
full year effect of recurrent schemes 
delivered part way through the year.

Total capital expenditure for the 
period was £22m across a variety of 
schemes. The programme sought 
to achieve a balance between 
maintaining and replenishing the 
asset infrastructure, reducing risk, 
improving the patient experience 
and facilitating new and improved 
services. The Trust also entered 
into a major Imaging Infrastructure 

Support Service contract effective 
from 1 October 2012 which will 
see significant improvements in 
quality and availability of radiology 
equipment over the term of the 
contract. The levels of capital 
expenditure will continue at similar 
levels in 2013/14 given the Trust’s 
constrained liquidity.

The Trust’s net assets employed at 
31 March 2013 were £245m. The 
Trust had net current liabilities at 
that date of £3.2m. Outstanding 
borrowings, relating to loans from 
the Department of Health, finance 
leases and the Trust’s privately 
financed energy scheme, totalled 
£36.7m. Cash balances were 
£28.5m at the period end and 
the Trust had a £43m committed 
working capital facility in place.

The Trust delivered a satisfactory 
financial risk rating (FRR) of 3 (out 
of 5, where 1 is very high risk and 
5 very low risk), was at all times 
compliant with its prudential 
borrowing limit, its private patient 
income was within the level 
specified in the statutory cap and 
the revised rules applying from 1 
October 2012.

The Trust is planning a pre-
impairment surplus of £2.3m for 
the next financial year. 

Liquidity (the amount of cash and 
working capital available to the 
Trust) continues to be a risk, not 
least as it is one of the key metrics 
by which Monitor, the foundation 
trust regulator, assesses the Trust’s 
financial risk rating. Monitor are 
consulting on revising the risk rating 
metrics with effect from quarter 

three of 2013/14. The proposal is 
that the liquidity ratio will remain 
and have tighter thresholds so this 
will continue to be a risk in year. 
The planned financial performance 
will require delivery of a challenging 
cost improvement programme of 
over £28m. Encouragingly, however, 
there is a relatively high level of 
identification of the 2013/14 cost 
improvement programme as the 
Trust enters the new financial year.
 
The NHS faces significant 
challenges as it seeks to deliver 
major efficiencies against a 
background of minimal real terms 
funding growth in order to meet 
ongoing increases in demand for 
its services. Furthermore, following 
the Department of Health’s review 
of education and training funding 
the Trust is facing significant loss 
of education funding over the 
next few years.  In addition to the 
regulatory changes in the provider 
sector under which the Trust was 
issued a new licence from 
1 April 2013 there are significant 
changes to all of the Trust’s key 
customers under the major NHS 
re-organisation that has come into 
effect from 1 April 2013. The key 
to financial sustainability and the 
Trust’s ability to continue to provide 
high quality services will continue 
to be successful delivery of savings 
plans. The Trust has a good track 
record of delivering these plans 
whilst maintaining and improving 
quality to meet the needs of 
patients, staff and the public.

The directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Trust has 
adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the 

Finance director’s review 
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foreseeable future. For this reason, 
they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the 
accounts.

Alastair Matthews
Finance Director and 
Deputy CEO
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 
the year ended 31 March 2013

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Six months 
ended 31 

March 2012

NOTE £000 £000

     Operating income from continuing operations 3.1 581,027 277,447

     Operating expenses of continuing operations 4 (572,361) (275,546)

OPERATING SURPLUS  8,666 1,901

FINANCE COSTS  

     Finance income 8 107 41

     Finance expense 9 (1,267) (630)

     PDC Dividends payable   (6,755) (3,319)

NET FINANCE COSTS  (7,915) (3,908)

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR  751 (2,007)

Impairments charged to Statement of Comprehensive Income 4 5,792 5,870

ADJUSTED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR* 6,543 3,863

   

Other comprehensive income   

Impairments 10 (7,516) (7,398)

Revaluations 26 1,544 354

Other reserve movements 0 (23)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ (EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR/ PERIOD 571 (3,204)

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations and the single segment of healthcare. 
     
* Note the adjusted surplus does not include impairments charged to operating expenses as this is not 
included in the Trust’s underlying position reported to Monitor.     
 
The notes on pages 126 to 158 form part of these accounts.    
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Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 March 2013

31 March 
2013

 31 March 
2012

NOTE £000 £000

Non-current assets    

Intangible assets 11 5,328 7,074

Property, plant and equipment 12 276,094 275,688

Trade and other receivables 17 2,572 2,244

Total non-current assets 283,994 285,006

Current assets

Inventories 16 11,282 12,306

Trade and other receivables 17 25,235 20,954

Other financial assets 15 257 0

Cash and cash equivalents 19 28,465 29,540

Total current assets 65,239 62,800

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 20 (52,783) (53,374) 

Borrowings 21 (7,151) (6,277) 

Provisions 24 (1,225) (537) 

Other liabilities 23 (7,214) (8,465) 

Total current liabilities (68,373) (68,653)

Total assets less current liabilities 280,860 279,153

Trade and other payables 20 - (210) 

Borrowings 21 (33,339) (31,986) 

Provisions 24 (2,606) (2,817) 

Other liabilities 23 - (166)

Total non-current liabilities (35,945) (35,179)

Total assets employed 244,915 243,974

 

Financed by taxpayers' equity   

   

Public Dividend Capital 185,721 185,351

Revaluation reserve 26 23,150 23,770

Income and expenditure reserve 36,044 34,853

Total taxpayers' equity 244,915 243,974

The financial statements on pages 122 to 158 were approved by the Board on 24 May 2013 and signed on its behalf by:  
   

Signed: …………………………………(Chief Executive)      
      
Date: 29 May 2013     
      
The notes on pages 126 to 158 form part of these accounts.      
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Consolidated statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity for the 
year ended 31 March 2013

Public 
Dividend 

Capital

Revaluation 
Reserve

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve

Total

£000 £000

Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2012 185,351 23,770 34,853 243,974

Surplus for the year 0 0 751 751

Transfers between reserves 0 (438) 438 0

Impairments 0 (1,724) 0 (1,724)

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment 0 1,544 0 1,544

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets 0 (2) 2 0

Public Dividend Capital received 370 0 0 370

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2013 185,721 23,150 36,044 244,915

Taxpayers' Equity at 1 October 2011 185,182 25,169 36,658 247,009

(Deficit) for the period 0 0 (2,007) (2,007)

Transfers between reserves 0 (225) 225 0

Impairments 0 (1,528) 0 (1,528)

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment 0 354 0 354

Public Dividend Capital received 169 0 0 169

Other reserve movements 0 0 (23) (23)

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2012 185,351 23,770 34,853 243,974

The notes on pages 126 to 158 form part of these accounts.    
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 
31 March 2013

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Six months 
ended 31 

March 2012

NOTE £000 £000

   Operating surplus from continuing operations  8,666 1,901

Operating surplus  8,666 1,901

   Depreciation and amortisation 11/12.1 20,849 10,133

   Impairments 4,10 5,792 5,870

   Losses on disposal 4 14 5

   Interest accrued and not paid 9 (2) (12) 

   Increase/(Decrease) in Dividends accrued and not paid or received (151) 556

   (Increase)/ Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables 17 (4,609) 6,065

   (Increase) in Other Assets 15 (257) 0

   (Increase)/ Decrease in Inventories 16 1,024 (409) 

   Increase/ (Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables 20 (810) 6,464

   Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities 23 (1,418) 1,690

   Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 24 407 (265) 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 29,505 31,998

   Interest received 8 107 41

   Purchase of intangible assets 11 (1,651) (1,055) 

   Sales of intangible assets 11 87 0

   Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment 12 (20,061) (9,295) 

Net cash (used in) investing activities (21,518) (10,309)

   Public dividend capital received 370 169

   Loans received from the Foundation Trust Financing Facility 5,000 10,000

   Loans repaid to the Foundation Trust Financing Facility (1,000) 0

   Loans repaid to the Department of Health 21 (2,369) (1,685) 

   Other loans repaid 21 (19) (8) 

   Capital element of finance lease rental payments (3,026) (1,358) 

   Capital element of Private Finance Initiative Obligations (219) (102) 

   Interest paid 9 (862) (435) 

   Interest element of finance lease 9 (197) (116) 

   Interest element of Private Finance Initiative obligations 9 (136) (66) 

   PDC Dividend paid (6,604) (3,875) 

Net cash (used in)/ generated from financing activities (9,062) 2,524

Increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,075) 24,213

Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April / 1 October 2011 29,540 5,327

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March (prior year 31 March 2012) 28,465 29,540

The notes on pages 126 to 158 form part of these accounts.   
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1 Accounting Policies
Monitor has directed that the financial 
statements of NHS foundation 
trusts shall meet the accounting 
requirements of the Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual (FT 
ARM) which shall be agreed with HM 
Treasury. Consequently, the following 
financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the FT 
ARM 2012/13 issued by Monitor. The 
accounting policies contained in that 
manual follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM 
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) to the extent that they are 
meaningful and appropriate to NHS 
foundation trusts. The accounting 
policies have been applied consistently 
in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts. 

Accounting convention
These accounts have been 
prepared under the historical cost 
convention modified to account for 
the revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets, 
inventories and certain financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 

Prior year comparator
The prior year comparator used in 
the accounts relates to the 6 months 
October 2011 to March 2012. The 
Trust was authorised as a Foundation 
Trust on 1st October 2011 and 
became a legal entity on that date.

1.1  Consolidation
The Trust has a wholly owned 
subsidiary, UHS Pharmacy limited. 
The company was formed in the 
year, it has not traded during 
the year but has incurred some 
set up costs. The set up costs 

of £58k are recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements.
Given the immaterial nature and 
non-trading of UHS Pharmacy Ltd 
in the year ended 31 March 2013 
separate parent company financial 
statements are not presented in the 
31 March 2013 accounts. Note 4 
(operating expenses) and note 20 
(trade and other payables) include 
items relating to UHS Pharmacy Ltd.

1.2  Income
Income in respect of services 
provided is recognised when, and to 
the extent that, performance occurs 
and is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration receivable. The 
main source of income for the trust 
is contracts with commissioners in 
respect of healthcare services. 

Revenue from patient care spells 
that are part completed at the year 
end are apportioned across financial 
years on the basis of the number 
of occupied bed days and average 
revenue per bed day.

Where income is received for a 
specific activity which is to be 
delivered in the following financial 
year, that income is deferred. 

Income from the sale of non-current 
assets is recognised only when all 
material conditions of sale have 
been met, and is measured as the 
sums due under the sale contract. 

The Trust receives income under the 
NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, 
designed to reclaim the cost of 
treating injured individuals to whom 
personal injury compensation has 
subsequently been paid e.g. by an 

insurer. The Trust recognises the 
income when it receives notification 
from the Department of Work and 
Pension’s Compensation Recovery 
Unit that the individual has lodged 
a compensation claim. The income 
is measured at the agreed tariff 
for the treatments provided to the 
injured individual, less a provision 
for unsuccessful compensation 
claims and doubtful debts.

The Trust sells some goods, such as 
drugs, to other NHS Trusts. Income 
is recognised on delivery of the 
goods to the customer. 

Grants and donations are recognised 
as income on receipt. Where the 
funder imposes a condition that the 
grant or donation must be used to 
acquire or construct an asset the 
income is deferred until that asset is 
brought into use.

1.3  Expenditure on 
employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits 
Salaries, wages and employment-
related payments are recognised in 
the period in which the service is 
received from employees. The cost 
of annual leave entitlement earned 
but not taken by employees at the 
end of the period is recognised 
in the financial statements to the 
extent that employees are permitted 
to carry-forward leave into the 
following period. 

Pension costs 
NHS Pension Scheme 
Past and present employees are 
covered by the provisions of the NHS 
Pension Scheme. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme 

Notes to the accounts
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that covers NHS employers, general 
practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of Secretary of 
State, in England and Wales. It is not 
possible for the NHS foundation trust 
to identify its share of the underlying 
scheme liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as a defined 
contribution scheme. 

Employers’ pension cost 
contributions are charged to 
operating expenses as and when 
they become due. Additional 
pension liabilities arising from 
early retirements are not funded 
by the scheme except where the 
retirement is due to ill-health. 
The full amount of the liability for 
the additional costs is charged 
to operating expenses at the 
time the trust commits itself to 
the retirement, regardless of the 
method of payment. 

1.4  Expenditure on other 
goods and services 
Expenditure on goods and services 
is recognised when, and to the 
extent that they have been received, 
and is measured at the fair value 
of those goods and services. 
Expenditure is recognised in 
operating expenses except where 
it results in the creation of a non-
current asset such as property, plant 
and equipment. 

1.5  Property, plant 
and equipment 
Recognition 
Property, plant and equipment is 
capitalised where: 
•  it is held for use in delivering 

services or for administrative 
purposes; 

•  it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to, or 
service potential be provided to, 
the Trust; 

•   it is expected to be used for 

more than one financial year; and 
•  the cost of the item can be 

measured reliably. 
•  the item has a cost of at least 

£5,000 or
•  collectively, a number of items 

have a cost of at least £5,000 
and individually have a cost 
of more than £250, where 
the assets are functionally 
interdependent, they had broadly 
simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous 
disposal dates and are under 
single managerial control. 

•  items form part of the initial 
equipping and setting-up cost 
of a new building, ward or unit, 
irrespective of their individual or 
collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example 
a building, includes a number of 
components with significantly 
different asset lives e.g. plant and 
equipment, then these components 
are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful 
economic lives.

Measurement 
Valuation 
All property, plant and equipment 
assets are measured initially 
at cost, representing the costs 
directly attributable to acquiring or 
constructing the asset and bringing 
it to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended 
by management. 

All assets are measured 
subsequently at fair value. 

Land and buildings used for the 
Trust’s services or for administrative 
purposes are stated in the 
statement of financial position at 
their revalued amounts, being the 
fair value at the date of revaluation 
less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  

Revaluations are performed with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that 
carrying amounts are not materially 
different from those that would 
be determined at the end of the 
reporting period. Fair values are 
determined as follows:
•  Land and non-specialised 

buildings – market value for 
existing use

•  Specialised buildings – 
depreciated replacement cost

HM Treasury currently adopts a 
standard approach to depreciated 
replacement cost valuations based 
on modern equivalent assets and, 
where it would meet the location 
requirements of the service being 
provided, an alternative site can 
be valued.

A full revaluation was carried out as 
at 31 March 2010; interim valuations 
must be carried out as required and 
a full valuation within 5 years. The 
Trust has undertaken an interim 
valuation of the estate at 31 March 
2013. An interim valuation will be 
carried out each year until the next 
full valuation in March 2015. 

Properties in the course of 
construction for service or 
administration purposes are carried 
at cost, less any impairment loss.  
Cost includes professional fees but 
not borrowing costs, which are 
recognised as expenses immediately, 
as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held 
at fair value. Assets are revalued and 
depreciation commences when they 
are brought into use.

Fixtures and equipment are carried 
at depreciated historic cost as this 
is considered to be not materially 
different from fair value. Fixtures 
and equipment acquired before 
1 April 2008 were indexed and the 
carrying value of those assets at 
that date is being written off over 
their useful lives.
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Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure relating 
to an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an 
increase in the carrying amount 
of the asset when it is probable 
that additional future economic 
benefits or service potential deriving 
from the cost incurred to replace a 
component of such item will flow 
to the enterprise and the cost of the 
item can be determined reliably. 

Where a component of an 
asset is replaced, the cost of the 
replacement is capitalised if it meets 
the criteria for recognition above. 
The carrying amount of the part 
replaced is de-recognised. Other 
expenditure that does not generate 
additional future economic benefits 
or service potential, such as repairs 
and maintenance, is charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
in the period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation 
Items of property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated over 
their remaining useful economic 
lives in a manner consistent with 
the consumption of economic or 
service delivery benefits. Freehold 
land is considered to have an 
infinite life and is not depreciated.
 
Property, plant and equipment 
which has been reclassified as ‘Held 
for Sale’ ceases to be depreciated 
upon the reclassification. Assets 
in the course of construction and 
residual interests in off-Statement of 
Financial Position PFI contract assets 
are not depreciated until the asset 
is brought into use or reverts to the 
trust, respectively. 

Revaluation gains and losses 
Revaluation gains are recognised 
in the revaluation reserve, except 
where, and to the extent that, they 
reverse a revaluation decrease that 
has previously been recognised in 

operating expenses, in which case 
they are recognised in operating 
income. 
Revaluation losses are charged to 
the revaluation reserve to the extent 
that there is an available balance for 
the asset concerned, and thereafter 
are charged to operating expenses. 

Gains and losses recognised in the 
revaluation reserve are reported in 
the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as an item of ‘other 
comprehensive income’. 

Impairments 
In accordance with the FT ARM, 
impairments that are due to a 
loss of economic benefits or 
service potential in the asset are 
charged to operating expenses. 
A compensating transfer is made 
from the revaluation reserve to the 
income and expenditure reserve 
of an amount equal to the lower 
of (i) the impairment charged to 
operating expenses; and (ii) the 
balance in the revaluation reserve 
attributable to that asset before the 
impairment. 

An impairment arising from a loss 
of economic benefit or service 
potential is reversed when, and to 
the extent that, the circumstances 
that gave rise to the loss is 
reversed. Reversals are recognised 
in operating income to the extent 
that the asset is restored to the 
carrying amount it would have had 
if the impairment had never been 
recognised. Any remaining reversal 
is recognised in the revaluation 
reserve. Where, at the time of the 
original impairment, a transfer was 
made from the revaluation reserve 
to the income and expenditure 
reserve, an amount is transferred 
back to the revaluation reserve 
when the impairment reversal is 
recognised. 

Other impairments are treated as 

revaluation losses. Reversals of 
‘other impairments’ are treated as 
revaluation gains. 

De-recognition 
Assets intended for disposal are 
reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once 
all of the following criteria are met: 
•  the asset is available for 

immediate sale in its present 
condition subject only to terms 
which are usual and customary 
for such sales; 

•  the sale must be highly probable 
i.e.: management are committed 
to a plan to sell the asset; 

•  an active programme has begun 
to find a buyer and complete the 
sale; 

•  the asset is being actively 
marketed at a reasonable price; 

•  the sale is expected to be 
completed within 12 months of 
the date of classification as ‘Held 
for Sale’; and 

•  the actions needed to complete 
the plan indicate it is unlikely 
that the plan will be dropped or 
significant  changes made to it. 

Following reclassification, the 
assets are measured at the lower of 
their existing carrying amount and 
their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. 
Depreciation ceases to be charged. 
Assets are de-recognised when all 
material sale contract conditions 
have been met. 

Property, plant and equipment which 
is to be scrapped or demolished does 
not qualify for recognition as ‘Held 
for Sale’ and instead is retained as 
an operational asset and the asset’s 
economic life is adjusted. The asset 
is de-recognised when scrapping or 
demolition occurs.

Donated, government grant and 
other grant funded assets 
Donated and grant funded 
property, plant and equipment 
assets are capitalised at their fair 
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value on receipt. The donation/
grant is credited to income at the 
same time, unless the donor has 
imposed a condition that the future 
economic benefits embodied in 
the grant are to be consumed in 
a manner specified by the donor, 
in which case the donation/grant 
is deferred within liabilities and is 
carried forward to future financial 
years to the extent that the 
condition has not yet been met. 

The donated and grant funded 
assets are subsequently accounted 
for in the same manner as other 
items of property, plant and 
equipment. 

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
transactions 
PFI transactions which meet the 
IFRIC 12 definition of a service 
concession, as interpreted in HM 
Treasury’s FReM, are accounted 
for as ‘on-Statement of Financial 
Position’ by the Trust. The 
underlying assets are recognised 
as property, plant and equipment 
at their fair value. An equivalent 
financial liability is recognised in 
accordance with IAS 17. 

The annual contract payments 
are apportioned between the 
repayment of the liability, a finance 
cost and the charges for services. 

The service charge is recognised in 
operating expenses and the finance 
cost is charged to Finance Costs in 
the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 
The annual unitary payment is 
separated into the following 
component parts, using appropriate 
estimation techniques where 
necessary:
a) Payment for the fair value of 

services received;
b) Payment for the PFI asset, 

including finance costs; and
c)  Payment for the replacement 

of components of the asset 
during the contract ‘lifecycle 
replacement’.

Services received
The fair value of services received 
in the year is recorded under the 
relevant expenditure headings 
within ‘operating expenses’.

PFI Asset
The PFI assets are recognised as 
property, plant and equipment, 
when they come into use. The 
assets are measured initially at 
fair value in accordance with the 
principles of IAS 17. Subsequently, 
the assets are measured at fair 
value, which is kept up to date 
in accordance with the Trust’s 
approach for each relevant class 
of asset in accordance with the 
principles of IAS 16.

PFI liability
A PFI liability is recognised at the 
same time as the PFI assets are 
recognised. It is measured initially at 
the same amount as the fair value 
of the PFI assets and is subsequently 
measured as a finance lease liability 
in accordance with IAS 17. 

An annual finance cost is 
calculated by applying the implicit 
interest rate in the lease to the 
opening lease liability for the 
period, and is charged to ‘Finance 
Costs’ within the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Lifecycle replacement
Components of the asset replaced 
by the operator during the 
contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) 
are capitalised where they meet 
the Trust’s criteria for capital 
expenditure. They are capitalised at 
the time they are provided by the 
operator and are measured initially 
at their fair value.

The element of the annual unitary 

payment allocated to lifecycle 
replacement is pre-determined for 
each year of the contract from the 
operator’s planned programme of 
lifecycle replacement. Where the 
lifecycle component is provided 
earlier or later than expected, a 
short-term finance lease liability 
or prepayment is recognised 
respectively. 

Where the fair value of the lifecycle 
component is less than the amount 
determined in the contract, the 
difference is recognised as an 
expense when the replacement is 
provided. If the fair value is greater 
than the amount determined in the 
contract, the difference is treated 
as a ‘free’ asset and a deferred 
income balance is recognised. The 
deferred income is released to the 
operating income over the shorter 
of the remaining contract period 
or the useful economic life of the 
replacement component.

Assets contributed by the 
Trust to the operator for use 
in the scheme
Assets contributed for use in the 
scheme continue to be recognised 
as items of property, plant and 
equipment in the Trust’s Statement 
of Financial Position.
 

1.6  Intangible assets
Recognition 
Intangible assets are non-monetary 
assets without physical substance 
which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the 
trust’s business or which arise from 
contractual or other legal rights. 
They are recognised only where it 
is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to, or service 
potential be provided to, the trust 
and where the cost of the asset can 
be measured reliably and the cost is 
at least £5,000.
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Internally generated 
intangible assets 
Internally generated goodwill, 
brands, mastheads, publishing titles, 
customer lists and similar items are 
not capitalised as intangible assets. 
 
Expenditure on research is not 
capitalised. 
 
Expenditure on development is 
capitalised only where all of the 
following can be demonstrated: 
•   the project is technically feasible 

to the point of completion and 
will result in an intangible asset 
for sale or use;

•  the trust intends to complete the 
asset and sell or use it; 

•  the trust has the ability to sell or 
use the asset; 

•  how the intangible asset will 
generate probable future 
economic or service delivery 
benefits e.g. the presence of a 
market for it or its output, or 
where it is to be used for internal 
use, the usefulness of the asset;

•  adequate financial, technical 
and other resources are available 
to the trust to complete the 
development and sell or use the 
asset; and 

•  the trust can measure reliably the 
expenses attributable to the asset 
during development. 

 
Software 
Software which is integral to the 
operation of hardware (e.g. an 
operating system) is capitalised 
as part of the relevant item of 
property, plant and equipment. 
Software which is not integral to 
the operation of hardware (e.g. 
application software) is capitalised 
as an intangible asset. 
 
Measurement 
Intangible assets are recognised 
initially at cost, comprising all 
directly attributable costs needed 
to create, produce and prepare 

the asset to the point that it is 
capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. 
 
Subsequently intangible assets are 
measured at fair value. Revaluations 
gains and losses and impairments 
are treated in the same manner as 
for Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
Intangible assets held for sale are 
measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount or ‘fair value less 
costs to sell’. 
 
Amortisation 
Intangible assets are amortised over 
their expected useful economic lives 
in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service 
delivery benefits.

1.7  Revenue government and 
other grants 
Government grants are grants from 
Government bodies other than 
income from primary care trusts 
or NHS trusts for the provision of 
services. Where a grant is used to 
fund revenue expenditure it is taken 
to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income to match that expenditure. 
 

1.8  Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. 
The cost of inventories is measured 
using the weighted average cost 
method.  

1.9  Financial instruments and 
financial liabilities 
Recognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities 
which arise from contracts for the 
purchase or sale of non-financial 
items (such as goods or services), 
which are entered into in accordance 
with the Trust’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements, are 

recognised when, and to the extent 
which, performance occurs i.e. when 
receipt or delivery of the goods or 
services is made. 
 
Financial assets or financial liabilities 
in respect of assets acquired or 
disposed of through finance leases 
are recognised and measured in 
accordance with the accounting 
policy for leases described below.
 
All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are recognised 
when the Trust becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 
 
De-recognition 
All financial assets are de-
recognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the assets 
have expired or the Trust has 
transferred substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Financial liabilities are de-recognised 
when the obligation is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 
 
Classification and measurement 
Financial assets are categorised as 
loans and receivables.
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments which 
are not quoted in an active market. 
They are included in current assets. 
 
The trust’s loans and receivables 
comprise: cash and cash 
equivalents, NHS debtors, accrued 
income and ’other receivables’.                  
 
Loans and receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value, net of 
transaction costs, and are measured 
subsequently at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest rate is the rate 
that discounts exactly estimated 
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future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period, 
to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset. 
 
Interest on loans and receivables 
is calculated using the effective 
interest method and credited 
to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
Trust receivables are current and 
therefore the transaction value is 
deemed to be the fair value and 
amortised cost.
 
Financial liabilities 
All financial liabilities are 
recognised initially at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred, 
and measured subsequently 
at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The 
effective interest rate is the rate 
that discounts exactly estimated 
future cash payments through the 
expected life of the financial liability 
or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount 
of the financial liability. 
 
They are included in current 
liabilities except for amounts 
payable more than 12 months after 
the Statement of Financial Position 
date, which are classified as long-
term liabilities. 

Interest on financial liabilities carried 
at amortised cost is calculated using 
the effective interest method and 
charged to Finance Costs. Interest 
on financial liabilities taken out 
to finance property, plant and 
equipment or intangible assets is 
not capitalised as part of the cost of 
those assets.

Impairment of financial assets 
At the Statement of Financial 
Position date, the trust assesses 
whether any financial assets are 

impaired. Financial assets are 
impaired and impairment losses are 
recognised if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events 
which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which 
has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the asset. 

For financial assets carried at 
amortised cost, the amount of the 
impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of the 
revised future cash flows discounted 
at the asset’s original effective interest 
rate. The loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account/bad debt provision.

Provision for the impairment of 
receivables is maintained based 
on the age of the receivable 
or if otherwise believed to be 
irrecoverable.    

1.10  Leases               
Trust as lessee
Finance leases 
Where substantially all risks 
and rewards of ownership of a 
leased asset are borne by the 
NHS foundation trust, the asset 
is recorded as property, plant and 
equipment and a corresponding 
liability is recorded. The value at 
which both are recognised is the 
lower of the fair value of the asset 
or the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, discounted using 
the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

The asset and liability are recognised 
at the commencement of the lease. 
Thereafter the asset is accounted 
for as an item of property plant 
and equipment.

The annual rental is split between 

the repayment of the liability and 
a finance cost so as to achieve a 
constant rate of finance over the 
life of the lease. The annual finance 
cost is charged to Finance Costs in 
the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The lease liability is de-
recognised when the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Imaging Infrastructure 
Support Service
During 2012/13 the Trust entered 
an agreement  for the provision of a 
comprehensive radiological imaging 
equipment service, the contract term is 
13 years with a fixed unitary payment  
which includes asset replacement 
and on-going maintenance .The asset 
replacements are treated as finance 
leases and accounted for as above. 
Where the element of the unitary 
payment relating to asset replacement 
is made in advance of the actual asset 
acquisition that payment is treated 
as a prepayment. The element of the 
unitary charge relating to maintenance 
and services is charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Operating leases 
Other leases are regarded as 
operating leases and the rentals are 
charged to operating expenses on a 
straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. Operating lease incentives 
received are added to the lease 
rentals and charged to operating 
expenses over the life of the lease. 

Leases of land and buildings 
Where a lease is for land and 
buildings, the land component 
is separated from the building 
component and the classification 
for each is assessed separately. 

The Trust as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under 
finance leases are recorded as 
receivables at the amount of the 
Trust’s net investment in the leases.  
Finance lease income is allocated 
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to accounting periods so as to 
reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the Trust’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating 
leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

1.11  Provisions 
The NHS foundation trust 
recognises a provision where it 
has a present legal or constructive 
obligation of uncertain timing or 
amount; for which it is probable 
that there will be a future outflow 
of cash or other resources; and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount. The amount recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Position 
is the best estimate of the resources 
required to settle the obligation. 
Where the effect of the time 
value of money is significant, the 
estimated risk-adjusted cash flows 
are discounted using the discount 
rates published and mandated by 
HM Treasury.

Clinical negligence costs 
The NHS Litigation Authority 
(NHSLA) operates a risk pooling 
scheme under which the Trust 
pays an annual contribution to the 
NHSLA, which, in return, settles all 
clinical negligence claims. Although 
the NHSLA is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence 
cases, the legal liability remains with 
the Trust. 

The total value of clinical negligence 
provisions carried by the NHSLA on 
behalf of the Trust is disclosed at 
note 24.3 but is not recognised in 
the Trust’s accounts. 

Non-clinical risk pooling 
The NHS foundation trust 
participates in the Property Expenses 
Scheme and the Liabilities to Third 
Parties Scheme. Both are risk 
pooling schemes under which the 
trust pays an annual contribution to 
the NHS Litigation Authority and in 
return receives assistance with the 
costs of claims arising. The annual 
membership contributions, and 
any ‘excesses’ payable in respect 
of particular claims are charged 
to operating expenses when the 
liability arises.   

1.12  Contingencies  
Contingent assets (that is, assets 
arising from past events whose 
existence will only be confirmed 
by one or more future events not 
wholly within the entity’s control) 
are not recognised as assets, but are 
disclosed in note 25 where an inflow 
of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not 
recognised, but are disclosed in 
note 25, unless the probability of 
a transfer of economic benefits is 
remote. Contingent liabilities are 
defined as: 
•  possible obligations arising from 

past events whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly 
within the entity’s control; or 

•  present obligations arising from 
past events but for which it is 
not probable that a transfer of 
economic benefits will arise or 
for which the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured 
with sufficient reliability. 

1.13  Public dividend capital 
Public dividend capital (PDC) is 
a type of public sector equity 
finance based on the excess of 
assets over liabilities at the time of 

establishment of the predecessor 
NHS trust. HM Treasury has 
determined that PDC is not a 
financial instrument within the 
meaning of IAS 32. 

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital 
utilised by the NHS foundation trust, 
is payable as public dividend capital 
dividend. The charge is calculated at 
the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 
3.5%) on the average relevant net 
assets of the NHS foundation trust 
during the financial year. Relevant 
net assets are calculated as the value 
of all assets less the value of all 
liabilities, except for (i) donated assets 
(including lottery funded assets), 
(ii) net cash balances held with 
the Government Banking Services 
(GBS), excluding cash balances held 
in GBS accounts that relate to a 
short-term working capital facility, 
and (iii) any PDC dividend balance 
receivable or payable. In accordance 
with the requirements laid down 
by the Department of Health (as 
the issuer of PDC), the dividend for 
the year is calculated on the actual 
average relevant net assets as set 
out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of 
the annual accounts. The dividend 
thus calculated is not revised should 
any adjustment to net assets occur 
as a result the audit of the annual 
accounts. 

1.14  Value Added Tax 
Most of the activities of the NHS 
foundation trust are outside the 
scope of VAT and, in general, output 
tax does not apply and input tax 
on purchases is not recoverable. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the 
relevant expenditure category or 
included in the capitalised purchase 
cost of fixed assets. Where output tax 
is charged or input VAT is recoverable, 
the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

1.15  Corporation Tax 
The Trust has no Corporation Tax 
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liability for the period. Foundation 
Trusts are exempt from Corporation 
Tax, and UHS Pharmacy Ltd did not 
trade in 2012/13.

1.16  Foreign exchange 
The functional and presentational 
currencies of the trust are sterling. 
A transaction which is denominated 
in a foreign currency is translated 
into the functional currency at the 
spot exchange rate on the date of 
the transaction.      
                
Where the trust has assets or 
liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency at the Statement of 
Financial Position date: 
•  monetary items are translated at 

the spot exchange rate on 
 31 March; 
•  non-monetary assets and 

liabilities measured at historical 
cost are translated using the spot 
exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction “

Exchange gains or losses on monetary 
items (arising on settlement of the 
transaction or on re-translation at the 
Statement of Financial Position date) 
are recognised in income or expense 
in the period in which they arise. 
Exchange gains or losses on non-
monetary assets and liabilities are 
recognised in the same manner as 
other gains and losses on these items. 

1.17  Third party assets 
Assets belonging to third parties 
(such as money held on behalf of 
patients) are not recognised in the 
accounts since the NHS foundation 
trust has no beneficial interest in 
them. However, they are disclosed 
in a separate note to the accounts in 
accordance with the requirements of 
HM Treasury’s FReM.

1.18  Losses and special 
payments 
Losses and special payments are 
items that Parliament would not 
have contemplated when it agreed 
funds for the health service or 
passed legislation. By their nature 
they are items that ideally should 
not arise. They are therefore subject 
to special control procedures 
compared with the generality 
of payments. They are divided 
into different categories, which 
govern the way that individual 
cases are handled. Losses and 
special payments are charged to 
the relevant functional headings in 
expenditure on an accruals basis, 
including losses which would 
have been made good through 
insurance cover had NHS trusts 
not been bearing their own risks 
(with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue 
expenditure). 

However the losses and special 
payments note is compiled directly 
from the losses and compensations 
register which reports on an 
accrual basis with the exception of 
provisions for future losses.

1.19  Critical accounting 
judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the Trust’s 
accounting policies, management 
is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from those 
estimates and the estimates and 
underlying assumptions are continually 
reviewed. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the 

revision affects only that period or in 
the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies
The following are the critical 
judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations (see below) 
that management has made in 
the process of applying the Trust’s 
accounting policies and that have 
the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

Classification of Leases
Under IAS 17 a finance lease is 
one that transfers to the lessee 
‘substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset’. 
This requires the consideration of a 
number of factors  for each lease. 
The Trust considers that where the 
net present value of lease payments 
amounts to more than 75% of 
the fair value of the asset and the 
lease term is more than 60% of the 
economic life of the asset there is 
a strong presumption that a lease 
is a finance lease unless there is 
other evidence to the contrary. The 
total outstanding committment for 
operating leases at 31 March 
is £4.5m and for finance leases 
is £7.1m.

Asset lives and residual values
Property, plant and equipment 
is depreciated over its useful life 
taking into account residual values, 
where appropriate. The actual lives 
of the assets and residual values 
are assessed annually and may vary 
depending on a number of factors. 
In reassessing asset lives, factors 
such as technological innovation 
and maintenance programmes are 
taken into account. Residual value 
assessments consider issues such as 
the remaining life of the asset and 
projected disposal values.
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Impairment of assets
At each balance sheet date, the 
Trust checks whether there is any 
indication that any of its tangible 
or intangible non-current assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. If 
there is indication of an impairment 
loss, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is estimated to determine 
whether there has been a loss 
and, if so, its amount.  Intangible 
assets not yet available for use are 
tested for impairment annually. The 
impairment value recognised in 
the year ending 31 March 2013 is 
disclosed at note 10.  
  
Recoverability of receivables 
Provision for non payment is made 
against all non-NHS receivables that 
are greater than 180 days old unless 

recoverability is certain. Provision 
is made against more recent 
receivables where there is some 
doubt concerning recoverability. The 
provision for impaired receivables at 
31 March 2013 was £6.458m (see 
note 18)
 
Provisions  
The Trust regularly monitors the 
position regarding provisions, including 
legal claims and restructuring, to 
ensure that it accurately reflects at 
each balance sheet date the current 
position in providing for potential 
future costs from past events, 
including board resolutions. The total 
provision for liabilities and charges at 
31 March 2013 was £3.831m (see 
note 24).
  

Key sources of estimation 
uncertainty   
There are no key assumptions 
concerning the future, or other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the balance sheet date, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial period.  
  

1.20  Accounting Standards 
that have been issued but not 
adopted.  
The following accounting standards, 
amendments and interpretations 
have been issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
but not yet required to be adopted. 

Asset lives and residual values.
The range of asset lives for intangible assets is as follows:

The ranges of asset lives for property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Min Life
Years

MAX Life

Years

Software 2 8

EU Emissions 1 1

Min Life
Years

MAX Life

Years

Buildings excluding dwellings 6 75

Dwellings 25 44

Plant & Machinery 1 15

Transport Equipment 5 10

Information Technology 5 15

Furniture & Fittings 8 15
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Change published Published by 
IASB 

Financial year for which the 
change first applies 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
Financial Assets: 
Financial Liabilities: 

November 2009
October 2010

Uncertain. Not likely to be adopted by the 
EU until the IASB has finished the rest of its 
financial instruments project. 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU. 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU. 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU. 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU. 

IAS 12 Income Taxes amendment December 2010 Effective date of 2012/13 but not yet adopted 
by the EU. 

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, on other 
comprehensive income (OCI) 

June 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU. 

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU. 

IAS 28 Associates and joint ventures May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU. 

IAS 19 (Revised 2011) Employee Benefits June 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - amendment 
Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

December 2011 Effective date of 2014/15 but not yet adopted 
by the EU. 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – amendment 
Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

December 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU. 

The adoption of these standards in future periods is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.
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2 Segmental Analysis

The Trust has considered the 
requirements in IFRS 8 for 
segmental analysis. Having reviewed 
the operating segments reported 
internally to the Board, the Trust 
is satisfied that it is appropriate to 
aggregate these as, in accordance 
with IFRS 8: Operating Segments, 

they are similar in each of the 
following respects:

•  The nature of the products 
 and services;   
•  The nature of the production 

process 
•  The type of class of customer for 

their products and services; 
•  The methods used to distribute 

their products or provide their 
services; and  

•  The nature of the regulatory 
environment.   

    
The Trust therefore has just one 
segment, “healthcare”. Analysis of 
income by different activity types 
and sources is provided in note 3. 

3.1 Operating Income by activity

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 2012

Total Total

£000 £000

Income from Activities 

Elective income 103,030 55,711

Non elective income 147,586 73,351

Outpatient income 56,831 30,237

A & E income 12,983 5,923

Other NHS clinical income 135,777 52,402

Private patient income 4,988 2,205

Other non-protected clinical income 3,014 1,402

Total income from activities 464,209 221,231

Other operating income  

Research and development 30,491 14,435

Education and training 41,528 20,384

Receipt of grants/donations for capital acquisitions 825 0

Other charitable and other contributions to expenditure 2,390 1,545

Non-patient care services to other bodies 13,923 6,736

Rental revenue from operating leases 119 62

Car parking 3,358 1,565

Staff accommodation rentals 53 30

Crèche services 1,389 591

Clinical excellence awards 3,820 1,898

Other 18,922 8,970

Total other operating income 116,818 56,216

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 581,027 277,447

Analysis of mandatory and non-mandatory income: £000 £000

Protected/mandatory clinical income 497,735 238,008

Non-protected/non-mandatory clinical income 8,002 3,607

Other income 75,290 35,832

Total 581,027 277,447
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3.2  Private patient income 
The statutory limitation on private 
patient income in section 44 of the 

2006 Act was repealed with effect 
from 1 October 2012 by the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012. 

The financial statements disclosures 
that were provided previously are 
no longer required.

3.3  Operating lease income

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 2012

Total Total

£000 £000

Rental revenue from operating leases - minimum lease receipts 119 62

Future minimum lease payments due on leases of buildings expiring - later than five years: 1,968 1,075

3.4  Analysis of income from activities by source

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 2012

£000 £000

Primary Care Trusts 445,936 213,021

Non NHS: Private patients 4,988 2,205

Non-NHS: Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 396 99

NHS injury scheme (was RTA) 2,618 1,304

Devolved administrations and Channel Islands 10,271 4,602

Total income from activities 464,209 221,231
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4  Group Operating expenses

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 2012

£000 £000

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts 2,734 884

Services from NHS Trusts 6,829 2,267

Services from PCTs 1,630 221

Services from other NHS Bodies 4,619 4,066

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 3,693 1,343

Employee Expenses - Executive directors 1,230 658

Employee Expenses - Non-executive directors 118 54

Employee Expenses - Staff 337,600 162,238

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 62,603 29,729

Supplies and services - general 14,963 7,460

Establishment 4,008 1,870

Research and development 15,362 7,620

Transport 1,081 561

Premises 17,300 9,200

Increase in provision for impairment of receivables 2,342 501

Inventories written down 51 27

Drug costs (non inventory drugs only) 1,397 707

Drugs Inventories consumed 46,914 19,408

Rentals under operating leases 896 464

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 17,764 9,087

Amortisation on intangible assets 3,085 1,046

Impairments of property, plant and equipment 5,630 5,651

Impairments of intangible assets 162 219

Audit fees:

Audit services - statutory audit 77 90

Other auditor remuneration   63 0

Clinical negligence 9,082 4,262

Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 14 5

Legal fees 1,258 790

Consultancy costs 543 580

Training, courses and conferences 1,659 913

Patient travel 751 1,076

Car parking & Security 490 250

Redundancy 195 126

Insurance 621 240

External financial services 1,275 949

Losses, ex gratia & special payments 179 87

Other 4,143 897

TOTAL 572,361 275,546

All operating expenses relate to continuing operations.
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Year ended 31 March 2013 Six months ended 31 March 2012
 £000 £000

Taxation compliance services 38 0

All other non-audit services 25 0

Total 63 0

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor is analysed as follows: 
 

Losses and special payments paid out in the year were as follows:

These amounts differ from those mentioned above as they contain items charged against the impairment of 
receivables and items accounted for in earlier years.     

Year ended 31 March 2013 Six months ended 31 March 2012

 Cases by number and value

Number £000's Number £000's

Losses 434 148 161 290

Special Payments 49 245 15 66

Total Losses and Special Payments 483 393 176 356

Of which, cases of £100,000 or more: 

Bad debts and claims abandoned 0 0 1 106
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5.1  Employee Expenses

Year ended 31 
March 2013

Six months ended 

31 March 2012

Total
£000

Total

£000

Salaries and wages 280,201 130,861

Social security costs 22,810 11,066

Pension cost - Employers contributions to NHS Pensions 17,689 14,557

Termination benefits 0 153

Agency/contract staff 18,601 6,626

Total Net Staff Costs 339,301 163,263

Employee Expenses - Staff 337,600 162,364

Employee Expenses - Executive directors 1,230 658

Total Employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 338,830 163,022

5.2  Average number of employees (WTE basis)

Year ended 31 
March 2013

Six months ended 

31 March 2012

Total
Number

Total

Number

Medical and dental 1,089 1,073

Administration and estates 1,427 1,410

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 1,340 1,306

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 2,549 2,529

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 966 930

Bank and agency staff 390 354

Other 101 97

Total 7,862 7,699

Number of Employees (WTE) engaged on capital projects 9 7

The difference between net staff costs and total employee benefits relates to capitalised staff costs.   
Directors’ emoluments totalled £1.22m for 2012/13 (Oct 2011-Mar 2013 £578k).   
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5.3  Early retirements due to ill health
From April 2012 to March 2013 
there were 8 (Oct 2011- Mar 
2012:6)  early retirements from the 
organisation agreed on grounds of 
ill-health. The estimated additional 
pension liabilities of these ill-health 
retirements is £569k (Oct 2011-
Mar 2012: £806k) . The cost of 

these ill-health retirements will be 
borne by the NHS Business Services 
Authority-Pensions Division.  
     
  
5.4  Analysis of Termination benefits 
There were 10 cases (Oct 2011- Mar 
2012:8) of termination benefits 
for leavers during the period, 

costing the Foundation Trust £194k 
(Oct 2011- Mar 2012:£126k) in 
redundancy costs, £42k (Oct 2011- 
Mar 2012:£23k) in other non pay 
benefits, and £11k (Oct 2011- Mar 
2012:£4k) in lieu of annual leave and 
notice. The latter figure is included 
in the figure for Employee expenses- 
Staff in Note 4 (Operating expenses). 

5.5  Cost of compulsory redundancies

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed

Total number 
of exit 

packages

Number of 
departures 

where special 
payments have 

been made

Number Number Number Number

Exit package cost band (including any special payment element)
Year ended 31 March 2013

<£10,000 2 0 2 0

£10,001 - £25,000 3 0 3 1

£25,001 - 50,000 2 0 2 1

£50,001 - £100,000 1 0 1 0

Total 8 0 8 2

 £000 £000 £000 £000

Total resource cost for year ended 31 March 

2013

204 0 2 0

Six months ended 31 March 2012

<£10,000 0 1 1 0

£10,001 - £25,000 1 3 4 1

£25,001 - 50,000 0 2 2 0

Total 1 6 7 1

 £000 £000 £000 £000

Total resource cost for period ended 31 

March 2012

16 113 129 23
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6 Pension Costs
Past and present employees are 
covered by the provisions of the 
NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of 
the benefits payable under these 
provisions can be found on the NHS 
Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.
nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme 
that covers NHS employers, GP 
practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary 
of State, in England and Wales. The 
scheme is not designed to be run 
in a way that would enable NHS 
bodies to identify their share of 
the underlying scheme assets and 
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is 
accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to 
the NHS Body of participating in 
the scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to the scheme 
for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit 
obligations recognised in the 
financial statements do not differ 
materially from those that would be 
determined at the reporting date 
by a formal actuarial valuation, the 
FReM requires that “the period 
between formal valuations shall 
be four years, with approximate 
assessments in intervening years”. 
An outline of these follows:

a) Full actuarial (funding) 
valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to 
assess the level of liability in respect 
of the benefits due under the scheme 
(taking into account its recent 
demographic experience), and to 
recommend the contribution rates.
 
The last formal actuarial valuation 
undertaken for the NHS Pension 
Scheme was completed for the 
year ending 31 March 2004. 
Consequently, a formal actuarial 
valuation would have been due for 
the year ending 31 March 2008. 

However, formal actuarial valuations 
for unfunded public service 
schemes have been suspended by 
HM Treasury on value for money 
grounds while consideration is given 
to recent changes to public service 
pensions, and while future scheme 
terms are developed as part of the 
reforms to public service pension 
provision due in 2015.

The scheme regulations were 
changed to allow contribution rates 
to be set by the Secretary of State 
for Health, with the consent of HM 
Treasury, and consideration of the 
advice of the Scheme Actuary and 
appropriate employee and employer 
representatives as 
deemed appropriate.

The next formal valuation to be 
used for funding purposes will be 
carried out at as at March 2012 
and will be used to inform the 
contribution rates to be used from 
1 April 2015.

b) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability 
is carried out annually by the 
scheme actuary as at the end of 
the reporting period. Actuarial 
assessments are undertaken 
in intervening years between 
formal valuations using updated 
membership data are accepted as 
providing suitably robust figures 
for financial reporting purposes. 
However, as the interval since 
the last formal valuation now 
exceeds four years, the valuation 
of the scheme liability as at 31 
March 2013, is based on detailed 
membership data as at 31 March 
2012 updated to 31 March 2013 
with summary global member and 
accounting data. In undertaking 
this actuarial assessment, the 
methodology prescribed in IAS 19, 
relevant FReM interpretations, and 
the discount rate prescribed by HM 
Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities 
of the scheme is contained in the 
scheme actuary report, which forms 
part of the annual NHS Pension 
Scheme (England and Wales) Pension 
Accounts, published annually. These 
accounts can be viewed on the NHS 
Pensions website. Copies can also be 
obtained from The Stationery Office.

c) Scheme provisions 
The NHS Pension Scheme provided 
defined benefits, which are 
summarised below. This list is an 
illustrative guide only, and is not 
intended to detail all the benefits 
provided by the Scheme or the 
specific conditions that must be 
met before these benefits can be 
obtained.

The Scheme is a “final salary” 
scheme. Annual pensions are 
normally based on 1/80th for the 
1995 section and of the best of the 
last three years pensionable pay for 
each year of service, and 1/60th for 
the 2008 section of reckonable pay 
per year of membership. Members 
who are practitioners as defined 
by the Scheme Regulations have 
their annual pensions based upon 
total pensionable earnings over the 
relevant pensionable service.

With effect from 1 April 2008 
members can choose to give up 
some of their annual pension for an 
additional tax free lump sum, up to a 
maximum amount permitted under 
HMRC rules. This new provision is 
known as “pension commutation”.

Annual increases are applied to 
pension payments at rates defined 
by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, 
and are based on changes in retail 
prices in the twelve months ending 
30 September in the previous 
calendar year. From 2011-12 the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) has 
replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).
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Early payment of a pension, with 
enhancement, is available to 
members of the scheme who are 
permanently incapable of fulfilling 
their duties effectively through 
illness or infirmity. A death gratuity 
of twice final year’s pensionable pay 
for death in service, and five times 

their annual pension for death after 
retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than 
those due to ill health the additional 
pension liabilities are not funded by 
the scheme. The full amount of the 
liability for the additional costs is 

charged to the employer.
Members can purchase additional 
service in the NHS Scheme and 
contribute to money purchase 
AVC’s run by the Scheme’s 
approved providers or by other 
Free Standing Additional Voluntary 
Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

7.1  Operating leases

Year ended 31 March 2013 Six months ended 31 March 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Buildings Plant & 
Machinery

Total Buildings Plant & 
Machinery

Total

Minimum lease payments 497 399 896 249 215 464

7.2  Arrangements containing an 
operating lease

Year ended 31 March 2013 Six months ended 31 March 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Buildings Plant & 
Machinery

Total Buildings Plant & 

Machinery 

(re-stated)

Total

Future minimum lease payments due:       

- not later than one year; 497 325 822 497 306 803

- later than one year and not later than

  five years;

1,461 216 1,677 1,705 381 2,086

- later than five years. 2,040 0 2,040 2,442 0 2,442

Total 3,998 541 4,539 4,644 687 5,331

7.3  Interest on late payments 
There was no interest on late payments in 2011/12 or 2012/13.

8  Finance income

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 

2012

£000 £000

Interest on bank accounts 107 41
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9  Finance expenses

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 

2012

£000 £000

Interest expense:   

Loans from the Foundation Trust Financing Facility 165 52

Loans from the Department of Health 699 396

Finance leases 197 116

Private Finance Initiative schemes 136 66

Total Finance costs 1,197 630

Unwinding of discount on provisions 70 0

Total Finance expenses 1,267 630

10  Impairments

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 

2012

£000 £000

Diminution from normal operations 7,516 7,398

Of the amount above, £5,792k (2012/13 £5,870k) was charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and £1,724k (2012/13 £1,528k) to the Revaluation reserve.

11  Intangible assets

Software licences

(purchased)

EU Emissions 

Allowances

Total Software licences

(purchased)

EU Emissions 

Allowances

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Movements for Year ended 31 March 2013 Movements for Six months ended 31 March 2012

Valuation/Gross cost at start of period 14,011 619 14,630 12,718 619 13,337

Additions - purchased 1,474 0 1,474 1,293 0 1,293

Additons - donated 8 0 8 0 0 0

Additions - government granted 0 106 106 0 0 0

Disposals (492) (87) (579) 0 0 0

Gross cost at 31 March 2013 15,001 638 15,639 14,011 619 14,630

Amortisation at start of period 7,337 219 7,556 6,291 0 6,291

Provided during the year 2,828 257 3,085 1,046 0 1,046

Impairments 0 162 162 0 219 219

Disposals (492) 0 (492) 0 0 0

Amortisation at 31 March 2013 9,673 638 10,311 7,337 219 7,556

NBV- Purchased 5,292 0 5,292 6,621 400 7,021

NBV - Donated  36 0 36 53 0 53

NBV Total at 31 March 2013 5,328 0 5,328 6,674 400 7,074
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12.1  Property, 
plant and 
equipment 
2012/13

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets Under 
Construction 

and 
Payments on 

Account

Plant &  
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation/Gross cost 
at 1 April 2012

31,355 213,410 1,138 3,897 106,494 672 7,777 657 365,400

Additions - purchased 0 9,238 170 757 4,936 33 979 0 16,113

Additions - leased 0 1,976 0 0 1,886 0 0 0 3,862

Additions - donated 0 1,239 0 2,526 148 107 0 0 4,020

Impairments (1,724) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,724) 

Reclassifications 0 3,103 0 (3,103) 84 (84) 0 0 0

Revaluations 0 1,513 31 0 0 0 0 0 1,544

Disposals 0 0 0 0 (25,433) (229) (2,127) (570) (28,359) 

Valuation/Gross cost 
at 31 March 2013

29,631 230,479 1,339 4,077 88,115 499 6,629 87 360,856

12.2  Property, 
plant and 
equipment 
2011/12

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets Under 
Construction 

and Payments 
on Account

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Opening Valuation/Gross 
cost at 1 October 2011

32,316 206,678 784 3,074 104,812 655 7,402 657 356,378

Additions - purchased 0 5,047 0 3,075 2,295 17 375 0 10,809

Impairments (961) (567) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,528) 

Reclassifications 0 2,252 0 (2,252) 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluations 0 0 354 0 0 0 0 0 354

Disposals 0 0 0 0 (613) 0 0 0 (613) 

Valuation/Gross cost at 
31 March 2012

31,355 213,410 1,138 3,897 106,494 672 7,777 657 365,400

Opening accumulated 
depreciation at 1 Octo-
ber 2011

0 0 0 0 69,016 539 5,392 634 75,581

Provided during the year 0 4,065 15 0 4,423 14 568 2 9,087

Impairments 0 5,404 247 0 0 0 0 0 5,651

Disposals 0 0 0 0 (607) 0 0 0 (607) 

Accumulated deprecia-
tion at 31 March 2012

0 9,469 262 0 72,832 553 5,960 636 89,712

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
1 April 2012

0 9,469 262 0 72,832 553 5,960 636 89,712

Provided during the 
year 

0 7,762 36 0 9,082 42 838 4 17,764

Impairments 0 5,630 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,630

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 84 (84) 0 0 0

Disposals 0 0 0 0 (25,418) (229) (2,127) (570) (28,344) 

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
31 March 2013

0 22,861 298 0 56,580 282 4,671 70 84,762
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12.3  Property, 
plant and 
equipment 
financing

Net book value at 31 
March 2013

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets Under 
Construction 

and 
Payments on 

Account

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Owned 29,631 184,271 1,041 2,456 23,056 90 1,954 17 242,516

Finance Lease 0 0 0 0 6,656 0 0 0 6,656

On-balance-sheet PFI 
contracts

0 3,603 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,603

Donated 0 19,744 0 1,621 1,823 127 4 0 23,319

NBV Total at 31 
March 2013

29,631 207,618 1,041 4,077 31,535 217 1,958 17 276,094

Net book value at 31 March 2012

Owned 31,355 183,971 876 3,147 23,174 80 1,798 21 244,422

Finance Lease 0 0 0 0 7,988 0 0 0 7,988

On-balance-sheet PFI 
contracts

0 1,024 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,024

Donated 0 18,946 0 750 2,500 39 19 0 22,254

NBV Total at 31 
March 2012

31,355 203,941 876 3,897 33,662 119 1,817 21 275,688

13  Intangible assets acquired by government grant
Total 

£000

Initial fair value 903

Carrying amount at 1 April 2012 400

Carrying amount at 31 March 2013 258
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14.1  Analysis of 
property, plant 
and equipment

At 31 March 2013
Net book value 

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets Under 
Construction 

and 
Payments on 

Account

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Protected assets 29,631 204,437 386 0 0 0 0 0 234,454

Unprotected assets 0 3,181 655 4,077 31,535 217 1,958 17 41,640

Total 29,631 207,618 1,041 4,077 31,535 217 1,958 17 276,094

14.2  NBV of 
property, plant 
and equipment in 
the Revaluation 
Reserve

Six months ended 
31 March 2012

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets Under 
Construction 

and 
Payments on 

Account

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation/Gross cost at 
1st October 2011

22,213 1,332 426 0 1,170 3 21 0 25,165

   Movement in period (960) (592) 346 0 (181) (1) (7) 0 (1,395)

As at 31 March 2012 21,253 740 772 0 989 2 14 0 23,770

At 31 March 2012
Net book value

Protected assets 31,355 200,751 241 0 0 0 0 0 232,347

Unprotected assets 0 3,190 635 3,897 33,662 119 1,817 21 43,341

Total 31,355 203,941 876 3,897 33,662 119 1,817 21 275,688

Year ended 31 March 2013

Valuation/Gross cost 
at 1 April 2012

21,253 740 772 0 989 2 14 0 23,770

Movement in year (1,631) 1,062 (238) 0 199 (1) (11) 0 (620)

As at 31 March 2013 19,622 1,802 534 0 1,188 1 3 0 23,150

15  Other financial assets

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 2012

£000 £000

Current

Loan and receivables 257 0

EU emissions allowances have been reclassified as a current intangible asset.
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16  Inventories

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 2012

£000 £000

Carrying Value at 1 April 2012 / 1 October 2011 12,306 11,897

Additions 104,298 48,725

Inventories recognised in expenses (105,271) (48,289)

Write-down of inventories recognised as an expense (51) (27)

Carrying Value at 31 March 11,282 12,306

18.1  Provision for impairment of receivables
31 March 

2013
31 March 

2012

£000 £000

At 1 April 2012 / October 2011 4,394 4,347

Increase in provision 2,774 651

Amounts utilised (278) (454) 

Unused amounts reversed (432) (150) 

At 31 March 2013 6,458 4,394

17  Trade and other receivables

Total
31 March 

2013

Total 

31 March 

2012

£000 £000

Current

NHS Receivables 12,250 8,919

Other receivables with related parties 2,022 1,221

Provision for impaired receivables (5,995) (4,063)

Prepayments (Non-PFI) 5,273 3,197

Accrued income 1,675 2,784

PDC Dividend receivable 195 346

VAT receivable 385 822

Other receivables 9,430 7,728

Total Current 25,235 20,954

Non-Current

Provision for impaired receivables (463) (331) 

Other receivables 3,035 2,575

Total Non-Current 2,572 2,244

Total Trade and other Receivables 27,807 23,198
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18.2  Analysis of impaired receivables
 

Trade Receivables
31 March 2013

Other Receivables
31 March 2013

Trade Receivables

31 March 2012

Other Receivables

31 March 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000

Ageing of impaired receivables 

0 - 30 days 3,756 45 2,752 51

30-60 Days 199 44 22 29

60-90 days 71 27 0 0

90- 180 days 747 103 77 106

over 180 days 745 721 858 499

Total 5,518 940 3,709 685

Ageing of non-impaired receivables past their due date

0 - 30 days 4,256 251 3,500 344

30-60 Days 2,132 245 305 200

60-90 days 211 150 180 244

90- 180 days 75 572 167 472

over 180 days 609 4,010 56 3,390

19.1  Cash and cash equivalents

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 2012

£000 £000

At 1 April / 1 October 2011 29,540 5,327

Net change in year (1,075) 24,213

At 31 March 28,465 29,540

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 34 70

Cash with the Government Banking Service 28,431 29,470

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 28,465 29,540

19.2  Third party assets held by the NHS Foundation Trust
The only third party assets held by the Trust relate to patients’ monies valued at £9,000.
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20  Group Trade and other payables

Total 
31 March 

2013

Total 

31 March 

2012

£000 £000

Current

NHS payables - revenue 3,842 4,350

Amounts due to other related parties - revenue 5,260 4,436

Other trade payables - capital 4,570 4,350

Other trade payables - revenue 16,413 17,312

Social Security costs 3,314 3,145

Other taxes payable 3,865 3,744

Other payables 3,650 3,168

Accruals 11,869 12,869

Total Current 52,783 53,374

Non-current

Other trade payables - capital 0 210

Total Non Current 0 210

Total Trade and other payables 52,783 53,584

An amount of £4.185m (2011/12 £3.682m) relating to outstanding 
pension contributions is included within amounts due to other related 
parties; this liability will be paid in April 2013.   
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21  Borrowings

31 March 
2013

31 March 

2012

£000 £000

Current

Loans from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 1,556 1,000

Loans from Department of Health 2,370 2,370

Other Loans 11 15

Obligations under finance leases 2,934 2,682

Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts 280 210

Total Current 7,151 6,277

Non-current

Loans from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 11,944 8,500

Loans from Department of Health 13,872 16,240

Other Loans 0 16

Obligations under finance leases 4,127 4,491

Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts 3,396 2,739

Total Non Current 33,339 31,986

Total Borrowings 40,490 38,263

Original Advance Date

Original Loan Current 

Balance 

outstanding

Interest Rate Date of final 

repayment

£000 £000 %

November 2007 3,000 1,427 4.85% March 2018

March 2008 7,500 3,750 4.19% March 2018

September 2008 8,000 4,400 4.85% Sept 2018

September 2010 8,000 6,665 2.74% Sept 2025

October 2011 10,000 8,500 1.57% Sept 2021

September 2012 5,000 5,000 0.76% March 2022

Total balance outstanding 29,742   

The FoundationTrust has the following loans with the Department of Health: 
 

Via Dept of Health Foundation Trust Financing Facility: 
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22  Prudential borrowing limit 

Year ended 
31 March 

2013

Six months 

ended 31 

March 2012 

(Restated)

£000 £000

Long term borrowing limit set by Monitor as at start of period 56,900 56,900

Net change in long term borrowing limit agreed by Monitor in year 900 0

Long term borrowing limit set by Monitor as at 31 Mar 57,800 56,900

Working Capital Facility limit set by Monitor as at start of period 39,000 39,000

Net change in working capital facility limit agreed by Monitor in year 4,000 0

Long term borrowing limit set by Monitor as at 31 Mar 43,000 39,000

Actual (contracted) working capital facility 43,000 39,000

Total Prudential Borrowing Limit 100,800 95,900

Borrowing (as defined in the Prudential Borrowing Code) at 1 April 38,263 0

Borrowing (as defined in the Prudential Borrowing Code) at start of period 0 31,346

Transfers by absorption 0 0

Net actual borrowing/(repayment) in year 2,227 6,917

Long term borrowing at 31 March 40,490 38,263

Working capital borrowing at 1 April 0 0

Net actual borrowing/(repayment) in year - working capital 0 0

Working Capital borrowing at 31 March 0 0

(per Schedule 5 of ToA)

(per Schedule 5 of ToA)

(per Schedule 5 of ToA)

Financial ratio 
Actual ratios 

2012/13
Approved 
PBL ratios 

Actual ratios 

2011/12

Approved PBL 

ratios 

Minimum dividend cover 5.0 >1 5.2 >1

Minimum interest cover 29.3 >3 28.4 >3

Minimum debt service cover 3.9 >2 4.7 >2

Maximum debt service to revenue 1.5% <2.5% 1.4% <2.5%

Information on the NHS Foundation Trusts Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework 
can be found on the website of Monitor, the independent Regulator of Foundation Trusts.

23  Other liabilities

31 March 
2013
Total

31 March 

2012

Total

£000 £000

Current

Deferred grants income 1,942 4,858

Deferred income - goods and services 5,272 3,607

Total Current 7,214 8,465

Non-current

Other Deferred  income 0 166

Total Non-current 0 166

Total Other liabilities 7,214 8,631
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24.1  Provisions for liabilities and charges

Current
31 March 

2013

Current

31 March 

2012

Non-current
31 March 

2013

Non-current

31 March 

2012

£'000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Pensions relating to staff 201 188 2,606 2,481

Other legal claims 265 312 0 0

Restructurings 0 29 0 0

Equal pay 0 8 0 0

Other 759 0 0 336

Total 1,225 537 2,606 2,817

24.2  Provisions for liabilities 
and charges analysis

Pensions - 
other staff

Other legal 
claims

Restructuring Equal pay Other Total 

£'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2012 2,669 312 29 8 336 3,354

Change in the discount rate 110 0 0 0 0 110

Arising during the year 186 168 195 0 500 1,049

Utilised during the year - cash (201) (145) (224) (8) 0 (578) 

Reversed unused (27) (70) 0 0 (77) (174) 

Unwinding of discount 70 0 0 0 0 70

At 31 March 2013 2,807 265 0 0 759 3,831

Expected timing of cashflows: 

- not later than one year; 201 265 0 0 759 1,225

- later than one year and not later 

than five years;

804 0 0 0 0 804

- later than five years. 1,802 0 0 0 0 1,802

Total 2,807 265 0 0 759 3,831

24.3  Clinical Negligence liabilities

31 March 
2013

31 March 

2012

£000 £000

Amount included in provisions of the NHSLA in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the 

Foundation Trust

64,678 54,474

Pensions relating to staff relates to future costs of early retirements where the Trust agreed in earlier years to fund 
the employee for full pension benefits, the ‘other’ provision relates to ongoing commercial arrangements.
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26  Revaluation Reserve

Revaluation 
Reserve - 

property, plant 
and equipment

Year ended 31 
March 2013

Revaluation 

Reserve - 

property, plant 

and equipment

Six months ended 

31 March 2012

£000 £000

Revaluation reserve at 1 April 2012 23,770 0

Opening FT balance at 1 October 2011 0 25,169

Impairments (1,724) (1,528) 

Revaluations 1,544 354

Transfers to other reserves (438) (225) 

Asset disposals (2) 0

Revaluation reserve at 31 March 23,150 23,770

27.1  Related Party transactions

Year ended 31 March 2013 Six months ended 31 March 2012 

(restated)

Income Expenditure Income Expenditure 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Department of Health 21,974 0 12,508 784

Southampton City PCT 132,115 602 69,518 313

Hampshire PCT 251,735 410 103,024 234

South Central SHA 41,796 19 21,131 20

Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust 762 2,468 213 4,049

NHS Litigation Authority 0 9,354 0 4,393

Other NHS Bodies 89,329 21,051 39,062 10,358

NHS Pension Scheme 0 30,299 0 14,951

National Insurance Fund 0 23,322 0 11,366

University of Southampton 3,942 6,039 1,517 4,192

Other   1,073 2,516 461 1,025

NHS Shared Business Services 0 888 0 455

Total value of transactions with related parties 542,726 96,968 247,434 52,140

25  Contingent liabilities

31 March 
2013

31 March 

2012

£000 £000

Value of contingent liabilities 

    Equal pay 0 (5) 

    Other (32) (88) 

Total value of contingent liabilities (32) (93) 
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27.2  Related Party balances

At 31 March 2013 At 31 March 2012

Receivables Payables Receivables Payables  

£000 £000 £000 £000

Department of Health 837 0 409 160

Other NHS Bodies 11,607 3,842 8,805 4,190

Other   2,408 12,439 2,043 11,325

Total balances with related parties at 31 March 14,852 16,281 11,257 15,675

28  Capital Commitments

Total 31 
March 2013

Total 31 

March 2012

£000 £000

Property, Plant and Equipment 6,930 6,732

Intangible assets 50 48

Imaging Infrastructure Support Service 64,907 0

Total 71,887 6,780

29  Finance Lease obligations
Total 31 

March 2013
Total 31 

March 2012

£000 £000

Gross lease liabilities 7,346 7,472

of which liabilities are due

- not later than one year; 3,069 2,839

- later than one year and not later than five years; 3,997 4,614

- later than five years. 280 19

less Finance charges allocated to future periods (285) (299) 

Net lease liabilities 7,061 7,173

- not later than one year; 2,934 2,682

- later than one year and not later than five years; 3,853 4,472

- later than five years. 274 19

The Imaging Infrastructure Support Service commitment relates to the commitment for purchasing replacement 
capital assets for existing Radiology kit over the 13 years of the contract (see also note 31).    
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30.1  On-SOFP PFI obligations

Total 31 
March 2013

Total 31 

March 2012

£000 £000

Gross PFI liabilities 4,656 3,658

of which liabilities are due

- not later than one year; 466 333

- later than one year and not later than five years; 1,862 1,330

- later than five years. 2,328 1,995

Finance charges allocated to future periods (980) (709) 

Net PFI obligation 3,676 2,949

- not later than one year; 280 211

- later than one year and not later than five years; 1,315 955

- later than five years. 2,081 1,783

Total 31 March 2013

Service and 
maintenance

Finance 
lease 

interest and 
repayments

Total

£000 £000 £000

Within one year 3,709 5,141 8,850

2nd to 5th years (inclusive) 14,837 20,564 35,401

Later than five years 27,819 38,557 66,376

Total 46,365 64,262 110,627

The Trust’s only on-statement of Financial Position PFI scheme is its 
Energy Supply Agreement with Dalkia PLC (principally for steam heat and 
management of emergency generators). This agreement runs to 2023.  
 

30.2 On-SOFP PFI commitments 
The Trust’s PFI Commitment relates to the Energy Supply Agreement with Dalkia PLC. This agreement consists of 
a fixed unitary element of £1.44m per annum, with the remainder variable due to fluctuations in energy prices. 
This agreement runs to 2023.     

31 Imaging Infrastructure Support Service commitments     
The total commitment with regard to the Imaging Infrastructure Support Service entered into in 2012/13 is as follows: 
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33.1  Financial assets by category

Total 31 
March 2013

Loans & 
Receivables

Total 31 

March 2012

Loans & 

Receivables

£000 £000

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 12,249 8,919

Non-NHS Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 10,198 9,317

Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand 28,465 29,540

Total 50,912 47,776

32 Post balance sheet events 
There have been no significant 
post balance sheet events 
requiring disclosure.

33 Financial Risk Management 
Financial reporting standard IFRS 
7 requires disclosure of the role 
that financial instruments have had 
during the period in creating or 
changing the risks a body faces in 
undertaking its activities.  Because 
of the continuing service provider 
relationship that the Trust has 
with primary care trusts and the 
way those primary care trusts are 
financed, the Trust is not exposed 
to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities. Also financial 
instruments play a much more 
limited role in creating or changing 
risk than would be typical of listed 
companies, to which the financial 
reporting standards mainly apply.  
The Trust has limited powers to 
borrow or invest surplus funds and 
financial assets and liabilities are 
generated by day-to-day operational 
activities rather than being held to 
change the risks facing the Trust in 
undertaking its activities.   
  

The Trust’s treasury management 
operations are carried out by 
the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally 
within the trust’s standing financial 
instructions and policies agreed by the 
board of directors. Foundation Trust 
treasury activity is subject to review by 
the trust’s internal auditors.

Currency risk    
The Trust is principally a domestic 
organisation with the great majority 
of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based.  
It has no overseas operations. The 
Trust therefore has low exposure to 
currency rate fluctuations. 
    
Interest rate risk  
The Trust borrows from government 
for capital expenditure, subject 
to affordability. The borrowings 
are for 5-12 years, in line with the 
life of the associated assets, and 
interest is charged at the National 
Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life 
of the loan. Interest charged on 
finance leased assets is at fixed 
rates of interest. The Trust therefore 
has low exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations.    
 

Credit risk   
Because the majority of the Trust’s 
income comes from contracts 
with other public sector bodies, 
the Trust has relatively low 
inherent exposure to credit risk. 
The maximum exposures as at 
31 March 2013 are in receivables 
from customers, as disclosed in the 
Trade and other receivables note. 
The Trust recognises that the public 
sector funding environment, and in 
particular the restructuring of the 
NHS, with the continued pressure 
of demand and its consequences 
for  allocations for the new Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, leads to an 
increase in credit risk for the Trust.     
    
Liquidity risk   
The Trust’s operating costs are 
incurred under contracts with 
primary care trusts, which are 
financed from resources voted 
annually by Parliament. The Trust 
funds its capital expenditure from 
internally generated funds together 
with funds obtained within its 
prudential borrowing limit.  The 
Trust has a Working Capital Facility 
to cover any short-term working 
capital deficiencies.   
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33.3  Fair values of financial assets at 31 March 2013
Book Value Fair Value

£000 £000

Other 50,912 50,912

33.4  Fair values of financial liabilities at 31 March 2013
Book Value Fair Value

£000 £000

Loans 29,753 29,753

Other 56,342 56,342

Total 86,095 86,095

 33.5  Maturity of Financial liabilities

31 March 
2013

31 March 

2012

£000 £000

In one year or less 52,756 52,971

In more than one year but not more than two years 5,951 5,990

In more than two years but not more than five years 14,918 12,931

In more than five years 12,470 13,066

Total 86,095 84,958

34  Limitation on auditor’s liability
The limitation on the Trust’s auditor’s liability is £1m.

33.2  Financial liabilities by category

Total 31 
March 2013

Other 
Financial 

Liabilities

Total 31 

March 2012

Other 

Financial 

Liabilities

Borrowings excluding Finance lease and PFI liabilities 29,753 28,141

Obligations under finance leases 7,061 7,173

Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts 3,677 2,949

Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets 3,842 4,350

Non-NHS Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets 41,762 42,345

Total 86,095 84,958
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The NHS aims to reduce its carbon footprint by 10% 
between 2009 and 2015. Reducing the amount of 
energy used in our organisation contributes to this goal. 

There is also a financial benefit which comes from 
reducing our energy bill.      
  
By reducing our energy costs by 10% in 2012/13, we 
have saved £547,108, the equivalent of 97 hip operations. 
 

   
We have put plans in place to reduce carbon emissions 
and improve our environmental sustainability. Over the 
next 10 years we expect to save £1,920,000 as a result 
of these measures.     
 
 
   

We recover or recycle 217 tonnes of waste, which is 
13% of the total waste we produce.

Our total energy consumption has risen during the year, 
from 84,199 to 110,585 MWh.

Our relative energy consumption has changed during 
the year, from 0.51 to 0.67 MWh/square metre.

Renewable energy represents 0.0% of our total energy 
use. In addition, we generate 48% of our energy on 
site. We have not made arrangements to purchase 
electricity generated from renewable sources.  
   
      
      
      

Sustainability report
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Our measured greenhouse gas emissions have 
increased by 0,002 tonnes this year.  
 
We do not currently collect data on our annual 
Scope 3 emissions.

Our water consumption has increased by 4,922 cubic 
meters in the recent financial year.

In 2012/13 we spent £597,398 on water.
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During 2012/13 our gross 
expenditure on the CRC Energy 
Efficiency Scheme was £242,160  
  
The CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme 
is a mandatory scheme aimed at 
improving energy efficiency and 
cutting emissions in large public and 
private sector organisations.  
 
During 2012/13 our total 
expenditure on business travel 
was £193,341.    
  
Our organisation has an up to 
date Sustainable Development 
Management Plan.   
   
Having an up to date Sustainable 
Development Management plan is 
a good way to ensure that an NHS 
organisation fulfils its commitment 
to conducting all aspects of its 
activities with due consideration 
to sustainability, whilst providing 
high quality patient care.  The NHS 
Carbon Reduction Strategy asks for 
the boards of all NHS organisations 
to approve such a plan.   
   
We consider neither the potential 
need to adapt the organisation’s 
activities nor its buildings and 
estates as a result of climate change 
    

Adaptation to climate change will 
pose a challenge to both service 
delivery and infrastructure in the 
future. It is therefore appropriate 
that we consider it when planning 
how we will best serve patients in 
the future.    
  
Sustainability issues are not included 
in our analysis of risks facing our 
organisation.    
  
NHS organisations have a statutory 
duty to assess the risks posed by 
climate change. Risk assessment, 
including the quantification and 
prioritisation of risk, is an important 
part of managing complex 
organisations.    
 
In addition to our focus on carbon, 
we are also committed to reducing 
wider environmental and social 
impacts associated with the 
procurement of goods and services. 
This will be set out within our 
policies on sustainable procurement. 
 
We plan to start work on calculating 
the carbon emissions associated 
goods and services we procure.  
    
Mike Murphy is the Board Level 
Lead for Sustainability.   
    

A Board Level lead for Sustainability 
ensures that sustainability issues 
have visibility and ownership at the 
highest level of the organisation.  
     
Sustainability issues, such as carbon 
reduction, are not currently included 
in the job descriptions of all staff.  
 
Our staff energy awareness 
campaign is ongoing.   
   
“A sustainable NHS can only be 
delivered through the efforts of all 
staff.“     
    
Staff awareness campaigns have 
been shown to deliver cost savings 
and associated reductions in carbon 
emissions.      
 
Our organisation has a Sustainable 
Transport Plan.    
 
The NHS places a substantial burden 
on the transport infrastructure, 
whether through patient, clinician 
or other business activity. This 
generates an impact on air quality 
and greenhouse gas emissions. 
It is therefore important that we 
consider what steps are appropriate 
to reduce or change travel patterns.  
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www.uhs.nhs.uk
Published June 2013.            

If you need a translation of this document, 
an interpreter or a version in large print, 
Braille or on audio tape, please telephone 
023 8079 4688 for help.

For more information contact:

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust
Southampton General Hospital
Tremona Road
Southampton 
Hampshire
SO16 6YD

Telephone 023 8077 7222     


